SARJA - SER. D OSA - TOM. 992

MEDICA - ODONTOLOGICA

# CHARACTERIZATION OF NOVEL GENES PREDOMINANTLY EXPRESSED IN THE EPIDIDYMIS – FROM GENOME ANALYSES TO GENETICALLY MODIFIED MICE

by

Heikki Turunen

TURUN YLIOPISTO UNIVERSITY OF TURKU Turku 2011 From the Department of Physiology, Institute of Biomedicine, Faculty of Medicine, University of Turku, and Turku Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences, Turku, Finland

#### Supervised by

Professor Matti Poutanen, PhD Department of Physiology, Institute of Biomedicine Faculty of Medicine University of Turku Turku, Finland

and

Professor Ilpo Huhtaniemi, MD, PhD Institute of Reproductive and Developmental Biology Imperial College London, Hammersmith Campus London, UK

#### Reviewed by

Docent Raija Soininen, PhD Department of Medical Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Institute of Biomedicine University of Oulu Oulu, Finland

#### and

Docent Maria Halmekytö, PhD Department of Biosciences, Faculty of Science and Forestry University of Eastern Finland Kuopio, Finland

#### Opponent

Dr. Kenneth S. Korach, PhD Laboratory of Reproductive and Developmental Toxicology National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences National Institutes of Health Research Triangle Park NC, USA

ISBN 978-951-29-4798-0 (PRINT) ISBN 978-951-29-4799-7 (PDF) ISSN 0035-9483 Painosalama Oy – Turku, Finland 2011

to my friends

### ABSTRACT

#### Heikki Turunen

# Characterization of novel genes predominantly expressed in the epididymis – from genome analyses to genetically modified mice

Department of Physiology, Institute of Biomedicine, Faculty of Medicine, University of Turku, and Turku Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences, Turku, Finland

Annales Universitatis Turkuensis, Medica – Odontologica, 2011

In mammals, post-testicular sperm maturation taking place in the epididymis is required for the spermatozoa to acquire the abilities required to fertilize the egg in vivo. The epididymal epithelial cells secrete proteins and other small molecules into the lumen, where they interact with the spermatozoa and enable necessary maturational changes. In this study different in silico, in vitro and in vivo approaches were utilized in order to find novel genes responsible for the function of the epididymis and post-testicular sperm maturation in the mouse. Available online genomic databases were analyzed to identify genes potentially expressed in the epididymis, gene expression profiling was performed by studying their expression in different mouse tissues, and significance of certain genes to fertility was assessed by generating genetically modified mouse models. A recently discovered Pate (prostate and testis expression) gene family was found to be predominantly expressed in the epididymis. It represents one of the largest known gene families expressed in the epididymis, and the members code for proteins potentially involved in defense against microorganisms. Through genetically modified mouse models CRISP4 (cysteine-rich secretory protein 4) was identified to regulate sperm acrosome reaction, and BMYC to inhibit the expression of the Myc proto-oncogene in the developing testis. A mouse line expressing iCre recombinase specifically in the epididymis was also generated. This model can be used to generate conditional, epididymis-specific knock-out models, and will be a valuable tool in fertility studies.

Keywords: Epididymis, fertility, gene knockout, Pate, Bmyc, Crisp4

### TIIVISTELMÄ

#### Heikki Turunen

Uusien vallitsevasti lisäkiveksessä ilmenevien geenien karakterisointi – genomianalyyseistä geenimuunneltuihin hiiriin

Fysiologian osasto, Biolääketieteen laitos, Lääketieteellinen tiedekunta, Turun yliopisto, ja Turun Biolääketieteellinen Tutkijakoulu, Turku

Annales Universitatis Turkuensis, Medica - Odontologica, 2011

Nisäkkäillä siittiöiden kypsyminen ja hedelmöityksessä tarvittavien ominaisuuksien kehittyminen tapahtuu pääosin lisäkiveksessä sen epiteelisolujen pienmolekyylien erittämien proteiinien ja muiden välityksellä. Tässä väitöskirjatyössä tutkittiin uusia lisäkiveksen toimintaan ja siittiöiden kypsymiseen vaikuttavia geenejä hiirellä erilaisia in silico, in vitro ja in vivo menetelmiä käyttäen. Lisäkiveksessä mahdollisesti ilmeneviä geenejä etsittiin julkisista hiiren genomitietopankeista, geenien ilmenemistä kartoitettiin useissa hiiren kudoksissa, ja tiettyjen geenien vaikutusta hedelmällisyyteen arvioitiin tutkimusta varten kehitettyjä geenimuunneltuja hiirimalleja tutkimalla. Tutkimus osoitti, että hiljattain löydetyn Pate (prostate and testis expression; eturauhasessa ja kiveksessä ilmenevä) geeniperheen jäsenet ilmenevät voimakkaasti lisäkiveksessä. Kyseessä suurimmista tunnetuista yksi pääasiassa lisäkiveksessä ilmenevistä on geeniperheistä, ja sen jäsenet ohjaavat mahdollisesti mikro-organismien vastaiseen puolustukseen osallistuvien proteiinien tuottamista. Geenimuunneltuja hiirimalleja tutkimalla havaittiin, että CRISP4 (cysteine-rich secretory protein 4; kysteiinirikas eritettävä proteiini 4) osallistuu siittiöiden akrosomireaktion säätelyyn, ja että BMYC heikentää Myc esisyöpägeenin ilmenemistä kiveksen kehittymisen aikana. Väitöskirjatyön osana kehitettiin myös iCre rekombinaasia lisäkiveksessä ilmentävä hiirimalli, jota voidaan käyttää geenien sammuttamiseen yksinomaan lisäkiveksen soluissa. Kehitetty malli on hyödyllinen tutkittaessa lisäkiveksessä ilmenevien geenien vaikutusta hedelmällisyyteen hiirillä.

Avainsanat: Lisäkives, hedelmällisyys, poistogeeniset hiirimallit, Pate, Bmyc, Crisp4

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ABSTRACT	4
TIIVISTELMÄ	5
TABLE OF CONTENTS	6
ABBREVIATIONS	8
LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	
1. INTRODUCTION	11
2.1 The epididymis	13
2.1.1 Development of the epididymis	14
2.1.2 Morphology, histology and cell types of the epididymis	15
2.1.3 Epididymal luminal fluid	18
2.1.4 Gene expression and function of the epididymis	20
2.1.5 Diseases of the epididymis	27
2.2 Sperm-egg interactions and fertilization	27
2.2.1 Sperm capacitation	
2.2.2 Extracellular matrix of the egg and the acrosome reaction	30
2.2.3 Sperm–egg membrane fusion	31
2.3 Male contraception	32
2.4 Genetically modified mouse models	34
2.4.1 Generation of knock-out models	35
2.5 Genes expressed in the epididymis	40
2.5.1 Bmyc	40
2.5.2 Crisp gene family	41
3. AIMS OF THE PRESENT STUDY	44
4. MATERIALS AND METHODS	45
4.1 In silico analyses (I–III)	45
4.2 Generation of the genetically modified mouse models (I, III)	45
4.2.1 Bmyc knock-out mouse model (III)	46
4.2.2 Crisp4 iCre knock-in mouse model (I)	47
4.3 Animal handling and sample collection (I-III)	47
4.3.1 Collection of oocytes (I)	48
4.3.2 Serum hormone measurements (I, III)	48
4.3.3 Gonadectomies (II)	48
4.4 Gene expression analyses	49
4.4.1 RT-PCR and quantitative (q) RT-PCR (I–III)	49
4.4.2 Microarray analyses (III)	49
4.4.3 Northern hybridization (II)	49
4.5 Protein studies	50
4.5.1 Western hybridization (I)	50

4.5.2 Immunohistochemistry (III)	50
4.6 Functional sperm analyses	51
4.6.1 Sperm acrosome reaction (I)	51
4.6.2 Sperm capacitation (I)	52
4.6.3 Sperm-egg binding assay (I)	52
4.6.4 In vitro fertilization (IVF) (I)	52
4.7 Assessment of Cre-mediated recombination	53
4.7.1 Determination in vitro by PCR (I)	53
4.7.2 Determination in vivo (I)	53
5. RESULTS	54
5.1 Characterization of the <i>Pate</i> gene family (II)	54
5.1.1 Expression of the Pate family genes (II)	55
5.1.2 Regulation of the Pate family genes by the testis (II)	58
5.2 Generation of the genetically modified mouse models	59
5.2.1 Bmyc KO mouse model (III)	59
5.2.2 Crisp4 iCre knock-in mouse model (I)	62
6. DISCUSSION	65
6.1 The <i>Pate</i> gene family	65
6.2 Generation of genetically modified mouse models	67
6.3 <i>Bmyc</i> in reproductive organs	69
6.4 <i>Crisp4</i> in reproduction	71
6.5 <i>iCre</i> expression and recombinase activity in <i>Crisp4 iCre</i> KI mice	73
6.6 Future prospects	74
7. CONCLUSIONS	76
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	77
REFERENCES	79
ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	97

\_\_\_\_\_

# ABBREVIATIONS

ADAMa disintegrin and a metalloproteaseARandrogen receptorBACbacterial artificial chromosome
AR androgen receptor BAC bacterial artificial chromosome
BAC bacterial artificial chromosome
CAP cysteine-rich proteins, antigen-5, and pathogenesis
related 1
CDK4 cyclin dependent kinase 4
CRISP cysteine-rich secretory protein
DEFB $\beta$ (beta)-defensin
DHT 5a-dihydrotestosterone
E# embryonic day #
ECM extracellular matrix
ED efferent duct
ES embryonic stem
EST expressed sequence tag
FSH follicle-stimulating hormone
GOI gene of interest
GPX glutathione peroxidase
HA homology arm
HE heterozygous
ICM inner cell mass
iCre improved cre-recombinase
IS initial segment
IVF <i>in vitro</i> fertilization
KI knock-in
KO knock-out
LH luteinizing hormone
NHEJ non-homologous end joining
PATE prostate and testis expression
PCR polymerase chain reaction
qRT-PCR quantitative reverse-transriptase polymerase chain
reaction
RAR retinoic acid receptor
RNAi RNA interference
ROS reactive oxygen species
RT-PCR reverse-transcriptase polymerase chain reaction
SHBG sex hormone-binding globulin
T testosterone
TF transcription factor
TG transgenic

TRE	tetracycline response elements
TUNEL	terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end
WT ZP	labeling wild type zona pellucida

# LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following original publications, to which the text refers by their respective Roman numerals (I–III).

- I Heikki T. Turunen, Petra Sipilä, Anton Krutskikh, Jussi Toivanen, Harri Mankonen, Veera Hämäläinen, Ida Björkgren, Ilpo Huhtaniemi, Matti Poutanen (2011). Loss of Cysteine-Rich Secretory Protein 4 (*Crisp4*) Leads to Deficiency in Sperm–Zona Pellucida Interaction in Mice. *Biol Reprod, in press*. DOI: 10.1095/biolreprod.111.092403.
- II Heikki T Turunen, Petra Sipilä, Dwi Ari Pujianto, Anastasios E Damdimopoulos, Ida Björkgren, Ilpo Huhtaniemi, Matti Poutanen (2011). Members of the murine *Pate* family are predominantly expressed in the epididymis in a segment-specific fashion and regulated by androgens and other testicular factors. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol* 2011, **9**:128
- **III Heikki T. Turunen**, Petra Sipilä, Leena Strauss, Ilpo Huhtaniemi, Matti Poutanen. Loss of *Bmyc* Results in Smaller Male Reproductive Organs and Increase in *Myc* Expression in Juvenile Murine Testis. Submitted.

The original communications have been reproduced with the permission of the copyright owners.

# **1. INTRODUCTION**

The epididymis is a highly coiled tubular organ situated adjacent to the mammalian testis, which provides a location for both maturation and storage of developing spermatozoa to leave the testis. Proteins and other small molecules secreted by the epididymal epithelial cells participate in sperm maturation both directly by interaction with the spermatozoa, and indirectly by modification of the conditions of the luminal fluid. Epididymal sperm maturation enables the spermatozoa to undergo capacitation and acrosome reaction in the female reproductive tract, to enable them to reach the egg, penetration of the layer of cumulus cells and zona pellucida which surround it, and to also provide proteins that are required to bind to and fuse with the egg membrane, thereby to ultimately lead to fertilization. In addition to its role in sperm maturation, the epididymis also functions as a storage for the spermatozoa prior to ejaculation, protecting them from damage caused by reactive oxygen species and/or harmful micro-organisms. Although the epididymis is comprised of a single, highly convoluted duct, specific segments can be distinguished by morphology, histology, function, and thereby by gene expression, too. The proximal part, the caput, is active in both secretion and absorption of components of the luminal fluid derived from the testis. The caput can also be divided into several sub-segments, of which the initial segment in rodents is the most prominent. The distal epididymis is named the cauda, with the corpus a thin connecting segment between the caput and cauda. No specific functions for the corpus have been identified, although the cauda acts mainly as a storage for mature sperm.

As testicular spermatozoa are incapable of fertilization of an egg *in vivo*, maturational changes which take place in the epididymis are required, to allow abilities required for fertilization to develop. With the DNA in their nuclei highly condensed, the spermatozoa are transcriptionally mostly inactive; thus, factors to facilitate sperm maturation must originate from outside, namely from epididymal epithelial cells. Study of the proteins produced in the epididymis together with their interactions with the spermatozoa, the details in respect of sperm maturation can be unraveled.

Although unknown proteins are challenging objects to study, the genes which encode them are not. In addition to the fully sequenced genomes of several species, corresponding databases on gene expression profiles are readily available. Thus, genes predominantly expressed in the epididymis can be identified by database analyses. Furthermore, the characteristics of the proteins encoded by these genes can be predicted by comparison of their amino acid sequences to those of proteins with known functions. Following initial identification and prediction of function, results are confirmed by extensive *in vitro* studies. However, the staggeringly complex interactions between millions of different molecules in a living organism are impossible to simulate in detail. Thus, an efficient, if laborious, approach to study the significance of a single gene *in vivo* is with a loss of function, or gene knock-out, animal model.

The technique to generate knock-out mice is based on the abilities of 1) isolation and culture of mouse embryonic stem cells, 2) accurate manipulation of their genomes, and 3) incorporation of the manipulated stem cells into a mouse embryo, in order to produce mice able to pass the mutation onto their offspring. The genetic manipulation which leads to gene knock-out is made possible by sequence homologies between two DNA molecules, and cellular DNA repair mechanisms. The embryonic stem cells are transfected with a gene knock-out construct designed to replace the endogenous gene with a non-functional version of the gene. Mice which carry the mutated gene are bred with each other to obtain homozygous knock-out mice, and the effect of the gene's loss is evaluated by analysis of phenotypic changes in the mice. However, if the gene's loss requires study in a specific organ, a conditional knock-out model is required. The conditional knockout approach relies on two separate mutations: first, a transgenic model which provides expression of a recombinase enzyme under a promoter to drive its expression into the desired organ(s), and secondly, the gene of interest flanked by the recombinase target sequences. Thereby, the gene of interest is rendered nonfunctional only in cells which express the recombinase.

The aim of this research was to study novel genes expressed in the epididymis through different *in silico*, *in vitro* and *in vivo* approaches. Specifically, the expression profiles and regulation of the *Pate* family genes were characterized in male reproductive organs, and the effects of *Bmyc* and *Crisp4* on male fertility were studied through knock-out mouse models. We also generated a mouse model expressing the *iCre* recombinase under an epididymis-specific promoter, to allow generation of conditional, epididymis-specific knock-outs.

# 2. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

### 2.1 The epididymis

The epididymis is an organ responsible for post-testicular sperm maturation in amniotic vertebrates. Essentially, it is a single, highly coiled duct which connects the efferent ducts (ED) to the vas deferens (Figure 1A). Although most anamniotic vertebrates also have a similar system of ducts, among vertebrates the terminology for the ducts is not consistent; it is unresolved as to which species this structure can be labelled as the epididymis (Jones, 1998). Testicular spermatozoa, still immotile and unable to bind to and pass through the zona pellucida (ZP) of the egg, enter the epididymal lumen via the ED and undergo their final maturation during their transit through the epididymis (Jones, 1999). The minimal requirement for epididymal sperm maturation is the passage of sperm through the proximal caput epididymidis, which is the most active segment in secretion of proteins and other small molecules to the epididymal lumen, wherein they interact with the developing sperm and modify the protein and lipid components of their cell membranes (Jones, 1999). In addition, the epithelial cells regulate the composition of the luminal fluid by secretion and absorption to enable the conditions required for the sperm maturation to take place (Turner, 2002). The luminal microenvironment also protects the developing sperm from pathogens, through the presence of antimicrobial proteins (Hall et al., 2002; Li et al., 2001), and acts as storage for the mature sperm until ejaculation (Jones, 1999; Glover et al., 1971; Hinton et al., 1996).



Figure 1. (A) The epididymis is situated adjacent to the testis and connects the ED to the vas deferens. (B) The epididymis is divided into caput, corpus and cauda. Further divisions can be made based on connective tissue septae separating the segments (1-10). (Modified from (Johnston *et al.*, 2005).) (C) Cross-section of the caput epididymal duct, to illustrate different epididymal cell types. (Modified from (Robaire *et al.*, 2006).)

#### 2.1.1 Development of the epididymis

The epididymis develops from the cells of intermediate mesoderm along with the kidney, the primordial gonad, and other accessory reproductive organs. Development of the whole male urogenital system starts with the expression of the Y-chromosomal *Sry* gene in the somatic cells of the bipotential primordial gonad (Gubbay *et al.*, 1990; Sinclair *et al.*, 1990; Koopman *et al.*, 1991; Piprek, 2009). This initiates a cascade which leads to male-specific developmental pathway. Initially, SRY causes differentiation of the Sertoli cells in the gonad (Burgoyne *et al.*, 1988; Palmer *et al.*, 1991; Patek *et al.*, 1991) which commence production of anti-Müllerian duct hormone (AMH) which induces the regression of the Müllerian duct in the male embryo (reviewed in (Rey *et al.*, 2003)). Soon after Sertoli-cell differentiation, Leydig cells also commence differentiation and production of testosterone (T). T prevents cell death in the Wolffian duct and, through the conversion into a more potent androgen,  $5\alpha$ -dihydrotestosterone (DHT), leads to the generation of male genitalia and accessory sex organs, inclusive of the epididymis (reviewed in (Griswold *et al.*, 2009)).

The mammalian kidney develops through three different phases: pronephros, mesonephros, and metanephros, the latter of which becomes the permanent kidney. During the second phase, around embryonic day (E) 11 in mice, the nephric duct, or Wolffian duct as it is known in males, forms after degradation of the pronephros. At E15 the T secretion of the Leydig cells initiates the differentiation of the Wolffian duct into the epididymis, vas deferens and the seminal vesicles. It has also been hypothesised that the initial segment (IS) is partially derived from some of the mesonephric tubules (Hinton *et al.*, 2000). However, T alone is insufficient to generate a functional epididymis directly, since the initial segment fails to form in certain genetically modified mouse models, even in the presence of normal amounts of T (LeBarr *et al.*, 1986; Sonnenberg-Riethmacher *et al.*, 1996). There is also evidence that suggests that DHT may be required for proper coiling and cell proliferation in the epididymis (Tsuji *et al.*, 1991).

Post-natal development of the epididymis is divided into three periods: the undifferentiated period, the period of differentiation, and the period of expansion (Sun *et al.*, 1979; Hermo *et al.*, 1992a). The most extensive studies have been done with rats, and in general, development seems similar in other species, too (reviewed in (Rodriguez *et al.*, 2002)). All the following time points refer to rat postnatal development. At birth the epithelial cells throughout the epididymis remain undifferentiated low columnar cells. However, coiling of the duct has initiated during embryonal development, and considerable coiling can be detected in the caput and corpus epididymidis already at birth (Bomgardner and Hinton, unpublished observations: in (Robaire *et al.*, 2006)). During the undifferentiated

period, days 1–15, the duct continues to grow in length and reaches the length of almost 2 m by day 15 (Hermo *et al.*, 1992a; Jiang *et al.*, 1994). The first differentiated cell types, the halo cells, can be detected by day 14, and narrow cells by day 15 (Rodriguez *et al.*, 2002). The remainder of the cell types appears during the period of differentiation, days 16–44. Further, the columnar cells change in appearance; by day 35 growth to tall columnar cells, the gain of a distinct brush border, together with a prominent Golgi apparatus, and numerous vesicles and coated pits indicative of active endocytosis. The period of expansion starts at day 44 which will last until adulthood, and by day 49 all epithelial cell types are differentiated (reviewed in (Rodriguez *et al.*, 2002)). Although circulating androgens are known to have a critical role in the development of the epididymis, there is also evidence that testicular factors associated with the luminal fluid on the fluid flow commencement affect cellular differentiation as well (Alexander, 1972; Abe *et al.*, 1984). However, no such factors have been identified, to date.

#### 2.1.2 Morphology, histology and cell types of the epididymis

The epididymis is a part of the ductal system through which testicular sperm are able to exit the male body. Seminiferous tubules in the testis converge and form the rete testis, which give rise to the ED. The amount of tubules in the ED is species specific, ranging from 4 to 20 (Hemeida et al., 1978; Nistal et al., 1984). ED join and form a single duct, the epididymis. The mammalian epididymis is commonly divided into four segments, based on morphology and histology. From proximal to distal there is the IS, caput (head), corpus (body) and cauda (tail) (Jones, 1998; Benoit, 1926). Other distinct sub-segments, such as the intermediate zone between the IS and the caput, can also be identified in several mammalian species, although these divisions are not so consistently established (Figure 1A-B and reviewed in (Jones, 1998)). Gross anatomy of the epididymis in most species resembles two globular ends, caput and cauda, connected to one another by the thin corpus. The proximal end is easily distinguished from the distal by the characteristic reddish hue of the IS caused by ample vascularization. The epididymal segments are divided by connective tissue septae, which also forms a capsule to cover the whole organ. After the cauda epididymidis the duct continues as vas deferens, a straight tube connected to the urethra, to finally lead to externalization from the body. Accessory sex glands which contribute to the ejaculate, such as the prostate and seminal vesicles, also connect to the vas deferens.

Histologically, the epididymal segments are readily identifiable by separation borders created by connective tissue. Small capillaries can be seen amidst the connective tissue. The appearance of the epithelium also changes characteristically to each segment. The epithelium is comprised of essentially only a single layer of cells, situated between the basal lamina and the lumen of the duct. The structure of the epithelium also differs clearly between the segments. The IS has thick epithelium and small luminal volume with no visible spermatozoa in the lumen. The epithelium thins in the caput and numerous spermatozoa can be observed in the lumen. The same development continues in the cauda, and the diameter of the whole duct increases dramatically. With an accompanying increase in luminal volume, the cauda is thus able to better fulfill its role as a storage for mature sperm.

Several different types of cells can be identified in the epididymal epithelium, including multiple layers of peritubular myoid cells surrounding the epithelium. Although the exact regional localization of the cell types differs between species, (in part due to the inconsistency of identification of the different regions) in general, all the cell types appear to be present in all mammalian species, inclusive of the human (Figure 1C and reviewed in (Robaire *et al.*, 2006)).

The most abundant cell type, comprising approximately 65–80% of the total epithelial cell population, depending on the segment, is the principal cell (Robaire *et al.*, 2006; Trasler *et al.*, 1988). These are active in the secretion of proteins to, and also the endocytosis of proteins from, the epididymal lumen (reviewed in (Hermo *et al.*, 2002)). Although found in each epididymal region, each differs in structure and function between the different segments (Hermo *et al.*, 1994). The segment specific changes in structure reflect the alternating activities in secretion and endocytosis. Thus, the most notable changes are detected in the appearance and organization of the secretory organelles, including the endoplasmic reticulum (ER), the Golgi apparatus and secretory granules, and in the endocytic organelles, including coated pits, endosomes, multivesicular bodies (MVB's) and lysosomes (reviewed in (Hermo *et al.*, 2002). Furthermore, the abundance of lipid droplets marks the principal cells of the corpus epididymidis, although their significance is not known (Robaire *et al.*, 2006; Byers *et al.*, 1985).

Apical and narrow cells are primarily present in the IS and intermediate zone of adult epididymis, and share certain similarities (Hermo *et al.*, 2002; Sun *et al.*, 1980; Adamali *et al.*, 1996). Both are spherical and are located near the apical border of the epithelium. However, narrow cells are also connected to the basement membrane by a thin process of cytoplasm, whereas apical cells have no such contacts. Although similar, narrow and apical cells differ in morphological appearance, relative distribution and expression of proteins. The most prominent morphological differences are the abundance of apical vesicles and coated pits in narrow cells, as compared to apical cells. The narrow cells are involved in endocytosis and secretion of H<sup>+</sup> ions into the lumen (Hermo *et al.*, 2000). The apical cells are also active in endocytosis, and additionally contain many proteolytic enzymes (Adamali *et al.*, 1996; Adamali *et al.*, 1999).

Clear cells are characterized by their lack of microvilli, as well as the presence of numerous coated pits, vesicles, endosomes, MVB's and lysosomes, all of which indicate their active role in endocytosis (Robaire *et al.*, 2006; Abou-Haila *et al.*, 1984; Hermo *et al.*, 1988), and they are found in the caput, corpus and cauda epididymidis in several species, including the human (Robaire *et al.*, 2006; Hamilton, 1975; Cooper, 1986). These are thought to be the most actively endocytosing cells in the epididymis, and normally absorb the contents of cytoplasmic droplets released by the spermatozoa (Hermo *et al.*, 1988; Moore *et al.*, 1979). The clear cells endocytose several different proteins in a region-specific manner (Lea *et al.*, 1978; Flickinger *et al.*, 1988; Hermo *et al.*, 1992b; Vierula *et al.*, 1995), and also participate in the regulation of luminal fluid acidification (Jensen *et al.*, 1999; Pastor-Soler *et al.*, 2003; Isnard-Bagnis *et al.*, 2003).

Basal cells, as their name suggests, are situated on the basal side of the epithelium, and only rarely extend cytoplasmic processes reaching the luminal surface (Veri *et al.*, 1993). They are present in all epididymal segments, inclusive of the vas deferens (Robaire *et al.*, 2006), and in all species studied (reviewed in (Hermo *et al.*, 2002)). Basal cells present morphological structures typical to endocytotic cells, and they have been suggested to endocytose material derived from the blood or principal cells (Hermo *et al.*, 2002). It has been proposed that basal cells may further have a role in the regulation of electrolyte and water transportation by principal cells (reviewed in (Leung *et al.*, 2004)) or as immune cells (Seiler *et al.*, 2002). Thereby, basal cells may be of extratubular origin (Holschbach *et al.*, 2002).

Halo cells are easily recognized in several histological stainings by their narrow rim of clear cytoplasm, and are present in all epididymal segments (Robaire *et al.*, 2006). In young adult animals, halo cells consist of helper T lymphocytes, cytotoxic T lymphocytes and monocytes, and their quantity increases with age (Flickinger *et al.*, 1997; Serre *et al.*, 1998; Serre *et al.*, 1999). In older animals, eosinophils are also occasionally observed (Serre *et al.*, 1998). Thereby, halo cells are responsible for immune defense in the epididymis.

#### 2.1.2.1 Blood-epididymis barrier

Since certain cell surface proteins on spermatozoa identify them as foreign bodies in the view of the immune system, a barrier to prevent the immune cells entering the epididymal lumen is required. This blood–epididymis barrier can be seen as an extension of the blood–testis barrier, and is also necessary to maintain the correct composition of the luminal fluid and keeping it separated from blood plasma. The structure of the barrier is created by apically located gap, tight and adherens junctions between the epithelial cells. In addition to this isolation role, the barrier also enables communication between the epithelial cells, necessary for coordination of luminal changes required for sperm maturation and storage (reviewed in (Cyr *et al.*, 2002) and (Robaire *et al.*, 2006)).

#### 2.1.3 Epididymal luminal fluid

The epididymal luminal fluid is a complex mixture of water, inorganic ions, small organic molecules and proteins, which accompanies the spermatozoa as they travel from the testis to the epididymis through the ED, and is mostly composed of secretions of the Sertoli cells (reviewed in (Rato *et al.*, 2010)). Its constitution, however, starts to change immediately upon entering the ED and continues to do so whilst traversing through the epididymis. These changes are caused by secretory and absorptive functions of the epithelial cells which line the lumen, and are very characteristic to different epididymal regions. Thereby, the luminal fluid composition is a balance between secretion and absorption, and reflects the primary function of the region in question related to maturation or storage of the spermatozoa.

Although the epididymis is known as a highly secretory organ, the absorption of molecules from the luminal fluid is also important to its proper function. Approximately 99 % of testicular fluid that accompanies the spermatozoa is absorbed in the ED and proximal epididymis (Mann et al., 1981). Water absorption and secretion are secondary effects resulting from ion transportation mediated by various Na<sup>+</sup>/H<sup>+</sup> exchangers on the apical surface of epithelial cells (Wong et al., 1978; Au et al., 1980; Wong, 1988; Chew et al., 2000; Bagnis et al., 2001). However, the absorption of water leads to exceptionally dehydrated luminal conditions. It is required for the concentration of the spermatozoa and certain luminal components (Mann et al., 1981), but it also generates additional demands for luminal proteins to maintain their correct folding and functionality and to prevent unwanted aggregation (Minton, 2005; Rialdi et al., 2007; Cornwall et al., 2007). Notably, several epididymal proteins have a highly conserved distribution of cysteine-residues, between which structure stabilizing disulfide bridges are formed. Being common structures in various toxin proteins of reptiles, they also are thought to help maintain correct protein folding in the hostile environment of the target prey's bloodstream (Bastolla et al., 2005; Kaplan et al., 2007). Similarly, structural stability is needed in the dehydrated epididymal luminal fluid, which possibly explains the abundance of secreted cysteine-rich epididymal proteins (Cornwall et al., 2007).

In addition to fluid transportation, ions, specifically bicarbonate (HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>) and Na<sup>+</sup>, affect the pH of the luminal fluid, which decreases from 7.2 in the IS to 6.8 in the cauda, with the lowest point being 6.6 in the caput, while HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> concentration decreases in a corresponding pattern. This marginally acidic environment is

necessary to render the spermatozoa in an immotile state during maturation and storage in the epididymis (reviewed in (Turner, 2002; Shum *et al.*, 2009)). Of other luminal ions, zinc  $(Zn^{2+})$  has been shown to function as an antioxidant (reviewed in (Aitken *et al.*, 2008)).

Essential small organic molecules in the epididymal lumen include, for example, steroid hormones, carbohydrates, amino acids, phospholipids and vitamins (reviewed in (Turner, 2002)). Of these, steroid hormones are the most abundant group in the epididymal lumen, and the epididymis is widely accepted to be regulated by androgens. However, although androgens mostly diffuse through vasculature, the concentrations of T and its derivative DHT in luminal fluid can be up to 100-fold higher than in the serum (reviewed in (Turner, 2002)). Irrespective of their high concentrations, the physiological significance of luminal androgens remains obscure. Evidence of androgen receptor (AR) presence in spermatozoa is controversial; while some studies show AR in spermatozoa of several species by immunolocalization, others claim its absence (reviewed in (Wang et al., 2009)). Furthermore, the germ cell specific KO of AR revealed no deficiencies in spermatogenesis, function of the testis or fertility of the mice (Tsai et al., 2006). Although such results have raised controversy (Wang et al., 2009), they imply that luminal androgens do not affect epididymal spermatozoa. As such, the other logical targets for luminal androgens are the epithelial cells. However, these also receive androgens through circulation, although the luminal concentrations are markedly higher. These luminal androgens are likely bound to androgen binding protein (ABP), an abundant component of the epididymal fluid, and intraluminal delivery of SHBG (sex hormone-binding globulin, a human homologue of ABP) has been shown to stimulate protein synthesis and secretion of the epithelial cells (Turner et al., 1995). Interestingly, co-delivery of DHT and SHBG showed less increase in protein production than SHBG alone, which indicates that DHT might inhibit SHBG functions (Turner et al., 1995). Thus, the roles of intraluminal androgens on the function of the epididymis, remain unknown. In addition to androgens, estrogens (surprisingly) are also essential in male fertility. Estradiol is synthesized by the germ cells and also converted from T by cytochrome P450 aromatase in the epididymis. Although the luminal fluid concentration of estrogens is less than 0.01% of and rogens, loss of estrogen function leads to defects in the luminal microenvironment and causes infertility, as a result of decrease in both sperm concentration and motility of spermatozoa (reviewed in (Joseph et al., 2011)).

Hundreds of different proteins have been identified in the epididymal lumen, but they will not be comprehensively listed here (Figure 2) (Dacheux *et al.*, 2009; Belleannee *et al.*, 2011b; Li *et al.*, 2011). Also, most epididymal proteins are expressed in a region specific fashion, which adds to the complexity of the epididymal proteome. The proteins secreted into the lumen are mainly derived from epididymal epithelial cells. Those which originate from the testis are mostly absorbed by the epithelial cells in the ED and the proximal epididymis (Dacheux *et al.*, 2009; Clulow *et al.*, 1994). Epididymal proteins can be bound on spermatozoa, encased in small vesicles secreted by the epithelial cells known as epididymosomes (Sullivan *et al.*, 2007), or unassociated in the luminal fluid. Major classes of secreted proteins are reviewed by Dacheux and Dacheux (Dacheux *et al.*, 2002), and include glycosidases, antioxidants, proteases, protease inhibitors, clusterin, cysteine-rich secretory proteins, and proteins that bind small hydrophobic molecules, lipids and iron. The known roles of secreted epididymal proteins in sperm maturation and storage are discussed in more detail in chapter 2.1.4.



**Figure 2.** An illustration to demonstrate the multiplicity of secreted proteins detected in the boar epididymis by one- and two-dimensional PAGE analyses. Each spot represents a separate protein (Syntin *et al.*, 1996).

#### 2.1.4 Gene expression and function of the epididymis

Gene expression and, thereby function and anatomy of the epididymis, are mainly regulated by androgens which originate from the testes (Orgebin-Crist, 1996). The two main effectors are T and its more potent metabolite, DHT, which is reduced from T by the enzyme  $5\alpha$ -reductase (Russell *et al.*, 1994). However, there is

evidence of genes that are regulated by other hormones, testicular factors, mesenchyme/epithelium interactions, and even factors which originate from the epididymis itself (reviewed in (Cornwall *et al.*, 2002)). Interestingly, large scale gene and protein expression analyses have revealed that nearly all molecules studied have distinct and highly segment specific expression profiles (reviewed in (Robaire *et al.*, 2006)). Given the different roles of epididymal segments in sperm maturation, transport and storage, this is hardly surprising. However, the strictness of the expression boundaries implies exceptional control of gene expression, making the epididymis an interesting model organ for transcription regulation studies.

Perhaps owing to the different embryonic origins of the IS and the rest of the epididymis, gene expression in the IS and proximal caput epididymidis seems to be mainly controlled by luminal testicular factors rather than circulating androgens (Hinton et al., 2000). This regulation by factors secreted through luminal or ductal system has been termed as lumicrine regulation (Hinton et al., 2000). The evidence for lumicrine regulation in the epididymis originates from experiments with ED ligations and gonadectomies. This results in changes in gene expression which lead to morphological changes and apoptosis of the epididymal epithelial cells. These effects can be countered by the administration of T, except in the IS, indicating that testicular factors other than androgens are required for its proper function (reviewed in (Cornwall et al., 2002) and (Robaire et al., 2006)). Several different lumicrine regulators, including ions, organic solutes, proteins and even the spermatozoa, have been suggested to regulate the IS (reviewed in (Hinton et al., 2000)), although the role of no such factor has been ascertained. The most likely candidates are luminal androgens and estrogens, but also nonsteroidal factors, such as the ABP (Scheer et al., 1980; Robaire et al., 1981), fibroblast growth factors (FGFs) (Lan et al., 1998; Kirby et al., 2003) and neurotrophins (S. Crenshaw and B.T. Hinton, unpublished observation in: (Robaire et al., 2006)), have been suggested to participate in the regulation of epididymal function. It is also possible that the effect of luminal factors extends to more distal parts of the epididymis, too and that lumicrine regulation takes place between different regions of the epididymis (Robaire et al., 2006; Abe et al., 1984)). This has been indicated for example by *c-ros* KO mice, which lack a properly differentiated IS and demonstrate altered gene and protein expression in the caput epididymidis (Cooper et al., 2003a).

Although studying the role of androgens in the function of the epididymis is, in principle, simple by orchidectomy, or removal of the testes, the loss of other testicular factors and spermatozoa from the luminal fluid makes the correct determination of cause and effect more difficult. Hypophysectomy, or the removal of the pituitary, is an alternative approach to achieve the loss of androgens;

however, the Leydig cells are able to produce small amounts of T in the absence of luteinizing hormone (LH), leaving this method lacking, too (Zhang et al., 2001; O'Donnell et al., 2006). Nevertheless, the significance of androgens to the epididymis, starting from its embryonic development, has been well established and documented since their discovery nearly a century ago (Benoit, 1926; Orgebin-Crist, 1996; Butenandt, 1931). The most notable change in the epididymis after orchidectomy is a marked reduction in weight, most of which is attributable to the loss of spermatozoa and luminal fluid (Robaire et al., 1977; Brooks, 1979). Of epithelial cells, the principal cells appear to be the most sensitive to androgen depletion, and changes in their morphology suggest serious compromise in their protein secretion capabilities (Moore et al., 1979; Orgebin-Crist et al., 1974). Epithelial cells begin to undergo apoptotic cell death, which starts from the proximal and advances towards distal epididymidis, over several days (Fan et al., 1998; Turner et al., 1999). Sperm left in the lumen lose their motility, fertilizing capability, and eventually die (Benoit, 1926; Dyson et al., 1973; White, 1932). Total epididymal protein, RNA and DNA contents are reduced (Brooks, 1977), and and rogen receptors and  $5\alpha$ -reductase activities are also both decreased, reflecting the loss of androgens (Robaire et al., 1977; de Larminat et al., 1978; Pujol et al., 1979; Zhu et al., 2000). However, most adverse effects can be reversed by the restoration of the levels of circulating testosterone in the caput, corpus and cauda, but not in the IS, which is controlled by other luminal factors (Robaire et al., 1977; Fawcett et al., 1979; Moniem et al., 1978; Ruiz-Bravo, 1988; Holland et al., 1992; Schwaab et al., 1998; Palladino et al., 1994).

#### 2.1.4.1 Sperm maturation

Post-testicular sperm maturation is a chain of events to lead to spermatozoa to attain abilities required for fertilization, which includes gain of motility and the abilities to recognize, bind to and penetrate the ZP, and subsequently to bind to and fuse with the egg cell membrane. Morphologically, the most prominent feature of sperm maturation is the migration of the cytoplasmic droplet from head to flagellum (reviewed in (Cooper et al., 2003b)). Owing to the condensation of the nucleus during spermiogenesis, the spermatozoa are biosynthetically mostly inactive. Thereby, factors to enable the events which lead to sperm maturation must come from outside, *i.e.* the luminal fluid, as secretions by the testes and epididymal epithelial cells. Epididymal secretions affect sperm maturation both indirectly by modification of the luminal microenvironment, and directly by proteins that interact with the spermatozoa. The secreted proteins can either modify existing proteins and other macromolecules on sperm membranes, or be incorporated into the spermatozoa (Figure 3). Hundreds of genes (Johnston et al., 2005; Jelinsky et al., 2007; Guyonnet et al., 2009) and proteins (Dacheux et al., 2009; Belleannee et al., 2011b; Li et al., 2011) have been identified in the epididymis in different

species, but the key factors which affect sperm maturation events have still yet to be identified. Although data on several epididymal transcriptomes and proteomes are readily available in online databanks, functional studies are carried out painstakingly slowly, a gene or a protein at a time. Such task is not made any easier by redundancy in gene families and proteins subject to post-translational and post-secretorial modifications. However, despite the numerous amounts of different proteins present in the epididymal lumen, 60–80% of luminal protein concentration is estimated to be comprised of only 15–20 proteins (Dacheux *et al.*, 2009). Further, recent improvements in methodology have enabled the identification of sperm surface proteins and dynamics in their expression (Belleannee *et al.*, 2011a), which reveal possible candidates for maturation mediating factors. As a result of the lack of *in vitro* methods to study proteins potentially involved in sperm maturation, an effective approach is the use of genetically modified animal models (Lye *et al.*, 2004).

While meiosis and testicular spermatogenesis have been widely studied, the interest towards post-testicular sperm maturation has been considerably lesser in scale. Of late, however, the increased availability and reduced cost of techniques required for the generation of genetically modified animal models has added KO mice to the research methods available to epididymologists. To date, several KO mouse models which unveil details in sperm maturation and the function of the epididymis have been published. The models listed in Table 1 represent confirmed epididymal origin of fertility defects; phenotypic changes caused by loss of genes expressed in the testes or by spermatozoa have not been included. These epididymal KO models include genes coding for secreted proteins that directly interact with spermatozoa, secreted proteins that affect the luminal microenvironment, and transcription factors and receptors that affect the function of epididymal cells in general. Surprisingly, the loss of some of the most abundant epididymal proteins, such as CRISP1 (Da Ros et al., 2008) and GPX5 (Chabory et al., 2009), have led to remarkably minor defects in fertility, which indicates functional redundancy in genes expressed in the epididymis and the plasticity of the sperm maturation process, to ensure stable fertility, which is evolutionarily of paramount importance.

The genetically modified animal models listed in Table 1 mostly represent genes expressed only in the epididymis. However, many important genes potentially involved in sperm maturation are expressed in several male reproductive organs. Thereby, it cannot always be unambiguously stated that a protein is necessary for epididymal sperm maturation, if it is also produced in the testes. In such cases the use of conditional, or tissue specific, KO's may be needed. The first epididymis-specific KO model has recently been published (Krutskikh *et al.*, 2011), and once the necessary tools become more generally available, the details of sperm maturation will be further revealed.

Table 1	l. Genetically mo	dified animal models	concernir	ig genes expressed in the epididymis.	
gene	protein category	gene modification	tertility	altered phenotype in	reference
Id3	TF	KO	fertile	luminal fluid composition, sperm motility	Carroll et al., 2011
Cres	enzyme	KO	fertile	acrosome reaction, capacitation	Chau <i>et al.</i> , 2011
Defb15	β-defensin	rat RNAi TG	subfertile	sperm motility	Zhao <i>et al.</i> , 2011
Pla2g3	phospholipase	KO	subfertile	sperm motility, ZP penetration, sperm	Sato <i>et al.</i> , 2010
				morphology, capacitation	
Esrl	receptor	KO	infertile	lumen pH, sperm pH, sperm motility, acrosome reaction, epid. morphology	Joseph <i>et al.</i> , 2010a; Joseph <i>et al.</i> , 2010b
SedI	sperm surface	KO	subfertile	ZP binding, lumen pH, epid. morphology	Ensslin et al., 2003; Raymond
					<i>et al.</i> , 2009; Raymond <i>et al.</i> , 2010
Cd52	sperm surface	KO	fertile	no change in phenotype	Yamaguchi et al., 2008
FoxiI	TF	KO	infertile	sperm morphology, lumen pH	Blomqvist et al., 2006
BinIb	β-defensin	rat RNAi TG	fertile	sperm motility	Zhou et al., 2004
Inpp5b	phosphatase	KO	infertile	sperm motility, ZP penetration, fusion with	Hellsten et al., 2001
				egg membrane; maybe Sertoli cell related	
C-ros	receptor	KO	infertile	epid. morphology, sperm morphology	Sonnenberg-Riethmacher et al., 1996; Yeung et al., 1999
Rar	receptor	dominant negative TG	subfertile	epid. morphology; low expression in testes	Costa <i>et al.</i> , 1997
Ar	receptor	KO	infertile	azoospermia, epid. morphology	Krutskikh et al., 2011
Dusp 6	phosphatase	KO	fertile	epid. morphology	Xu <i>et al.</i> , 2010
Pltp	phospholipid transfer protein	KO	subfertile	sperm motility, ZP penetration	Drouineaud et al., 2006
He6	receptor	KO	subfertile	sperm motility, ED morphology	Davies et al., 2004
Apoer2	receptor	KO	infertile	sperm morphology, sperm motility, sperm volume regulation	Andersen et al., 2003
Gpx5	enzyme	KO	subfertile	sperm oxidative stress in older mice	Chabory et al., 2009
Crisp1	sperm surface	KO	fertile	ZP penetration, fusion with egg membrane,	Da Ros et al., 2008
				sperm capacitation	
Crisp4	sperm surface	KO	fertile	acrosome reaction	Gibbs et al., 2011
RNAi, R	NA interference; epic	1., epididymis; TG, transge	nic; ED, effe	rent duct; TF, transcription factor.	

24

# Review of the Literature

#### 2.1.4.2 Sperm storage

Species which practise internal fertilization concentrate and store their maturing spermatozoa in the epididymis prior to ejaculation, which results in the quantity of spermatozoa in the ejaculate more controllable and less dependent on testicular production, which can then be maintained normally while spermatozoa are transported to the epididymis. This also sets demands for storage conditions, *i.e.* the spermatozoa need to be both protected from damage caused by oxidative stress and micro-organisms, and their motility suppressed until required, to conserve energy and maintain structural integrity. Thus, in addition to the importance of the epididymis in sperm maturation, it is also necessary for the safekeeping of spermatozoa. It has even been speculated as to whether the primary role of the human epididymis is either maturation or storage of the spermatozoa (reviewed in (Jones, 1999)).

As a result of the blood–epididymis barrier, the contents of the epididymal lumen are isolated from the rest of the body, which is important as certain proteins on spermatozoa are recognized as foreign objects by the immune system. However, since immune cells are isolated from to the epididymal lumen, alternative methods to protect the spermatozoa against harmful micro-organisms are required. With the high incidence of sexually transmitted infections and effect on fertility in humans, increased interest towards such factors has resulted (Hall et al., 2002). Genes expressed in the epididymis encoding cysteine-rich secreted proteins with antimicrobial properties have been described, inclusive of members of the  $\beta$ defensin family (Zhao et al., 2011; Hall et al., 2007; Diao et al., 2011). Betadefensins BIN1b (Li et al., 2001; Zhou et al., 2004) and DEFB15 (Zhao et al., 2011) have been shown to be involved in both sperm maturation and defence against micro-organisms. Further, antimicrobial DEFB22 (Diao et al., 2011; Yudin et al., 2008) and DEFB118 (Yenugu et al., 2004) are also bound to the sperm surface. Similar epididymal protein families, such as CRISPs (cysteine-rich secretory proteins; discussed in chapter 2.5.2) (Gibbs et al., 2007) and ADAMs (a disintegrin and a metalloprotease) (Edwards et al., 2008) have also been identified, but their antimicrobial properties remain to be characterized. However, the detected dual roles of said  $\beta$ -defensins, indicate that antimicrobial epididymal proteins are not necessarily always solely responsible for antimicrobial activities. The epididymal CRISP1 has also been suggested to confer separate functions through different protein domains (Cohen et al., 2011). Thereby, it is reasonable to suppose that  $\beta$ -defensions, CRISPs and ADAMs do not only involve participation in defence against microbes, but have other functions in either addition or instead.

In addition to micro-organisms, spermatozoa also need to be protected from reactive oxygen species (ROS) during their stay in the epididymis, which lasts for

several days. The relationship between spermatozoa and ROS is somewhat paradoxical; ROS cause DNA fragmentation which increases the risk of cancer in offspring, and peroxidation of unsaturated fatty acids on sperm membrane which leads to loss of function, yet the spermatozoa themselves generate ROS and are needed for motility, capacitation and acrosome reaction (reviewed in (Aitken, 2002)). Thus, to maintain a delicate balance in ROS production and recycling is essential to the proper functionality of the spermatozoa. The major antioxidant proteins in the epididymis are indoleamine dioxygenase (IDO) (Hirata et al., 1975; Yoshida et al., 1980), superoxide dismutase (SOD) (Perry et al., 1993) and glutathione peroxidases (GPXs) (Drevet, 2006), and are present in sperm cytoplasm, bound onto sperm membranes, and free in the luminal fluid. It has been estimated that oxidative stress is a contributor in 30-80% of cases of male infertility (Tremellen, 2008), thereby making it an important area of research. However, due to the variability of different ROS and their effects, and changes in their localization patterns within the epididymis, the details of their function in sperm maturation and storage remain to be clarified.



Figure 3. An illustration of epididymal proteins secreted into the lumen with examples of the mechanisms through which sperm maturation and storage are affected. 1) Antioxidants, 2) proteins adsorbed to the sperm membrane through glycosyl-phosphatidyl-inositol (GPI) links, 3) proteins which regulate sperm membrane ion channels, 4) proteins which modify the sperm glycocalyx, 5) proteins absorbed into the sperm, 6) proteins which modify the membrane lipid constitution, 7) proteolytic proteins which modify existing sperm membrane proteins, 8) antimicrobial proteins. n = nucleus, a = acrosome.

#### 2.1.5 Diseases of the epididymis

Evolutionarily, the proper maintenance of reproductive capability *i.e.* the passing of genes to the next generation, is of paramount importance. In addition to developmental and structural defects, external factors also pose a threat to fertility. Inflammations of the male reproductive organs are estimated to account for 15% of cases of male infertility, a major target of which appears to be the epididymis (reviewed in (Haidl et al., 2008) and (Trojian et al., 2009)). The most common agents for epididymal inflammation, or epididymitis, are Neisseria gonorrhoeae and Chlamydia trachomatis, which also cause sexually transmitted diseases gonorrhoea and chlamydia, respectively (reviewed in (Pellati et al., 2008)). Further, several species of enterobacteria, such as *Escherichia coli*, and certain grampositive cocci have been implicated in epididymitis. Although other bacteria, yeasts, parasites and viruses have been associated with cases of infertility or affecting functional sperm parameters, no definite connections to the function of the epididymis have been made (reviewed by (Pellati *et al.*, 2008)). In addition to micro-organisms, epididymitis can also be caused by certain drugs or other chemicals, trauma or physical stress, alongside with epididymal neoplasms (Chan et al., 2002). Notably, however, epididymal neoplasms and tumours are exceedingly rare, with only a few dozen reported cases of primary adenocarcinomas (Ganem et al., 1998). The epididymal epithelial cells also seem highly resistant to induced tumorigenesis in transgenic mouse models, and high expressions of *Pea3* or *Bmyc*, potential tumour suppressor genes, have been suggested to provide protection against malignant transformations (Sipila et al., 2004). However, the details behind such protection remain unknown.

## 2.2 Sperm-egg interactions and fertilization

After ejaculation but before fertilization, spermatozoa must 1) reach an egg, 2) penetrate the extracellular matrix of the egg, and 3) bind and fuse with the egg cell membrane (Figure 4A–C). However, testicular spermatozoa lack the abilities required for these tasks (Yanagimachi, 1994; Lacham *et al.*, 1991). Although the final changes in spermatozoa which permit fertilization, occur in the female reproductive tract and upon encounter with the egg (Florman *et al.*, 2006), the processes that enable the enecessary changes, occur in the epididymis during sperm maturation. While in epididymal transit, spermatozoa acquire motility, the potential for capacitation, and modifications to the plasma membrane to facilitate interaction with the egg.



**Figure 4.** An illustration of events which occur prior to fertilization. (A) Sperm capacitation which grants motility and the ability to undergo the acrosome reaction. Capacitation is initiated by the uptake of calcium and bicarbonate ions, along with proteins which act as capacitation factors (1-3), modifications to the plasma membrane (4), loss of decapacitation factors (5), and alterations in intracellular pH and protein tyrosine phosphorylation (6). (B) Sperm acrosome reaction (indicated by the explosion symbol) is induced by contact with ZP, which results in an influx of intracellular calcium ions to lead to release of proteolytic enzymes from the acrosome, granting the ability to pass through the ZP. (C) Recognition of gametes, which leads to binding and fusion of the membranes. Both recognition and binding are mediated by receptor proteins on egg and sperm cell membranes (box) n = nucleus, a = acrosome, ZP = zona pellucida.

#### 2.2.1 Sperm capacitation

Sperm capacitation refers to the acquisition of fertilization potential, but more exact definitions are controversial (Jaiswal et al., 2002). It has been generally accepted that capacitation confers on spermatozoa the ability to undergo acrosome reaction, although it has been linked to sperm chemotaxis and hyperactivation of motility, too. Since the definition of capacitation is ambiguous, it becomes also difficult to state conclusively whether an individual spermatozoa is capacitated or not. Thus, in the ejaculate, capacitation is not a simple all-or-nothing instance; at any given moment, only a proportion of the sperm will be capacitated, and capacitated spermatozoa can later become decapacitated (Cohen-Dayag et al., 1994). The ratio between capacitated and decapacitated states needs to be controlled both temporally and spatially, and such balance is maintained by different capacitating and decapacitating factors. Due to increased energy consumption of capacitated spermatozoa, premature or over extended state of capacitation would deplete the energy reserves of the spermatozoon before fertilization became possible, to make inhibition of capacitation an important aspect in fertility, too. Although the existence of these inhibitors, or decapacitation factors, has been known for decades, to date their identities still remain elusive, until a few candidates have just recently been suggested. The first decapacitating agents originate from the spermatozoa themselves. Phosphatidylethanolamine binding protein 1 [PBP; also known as Raf kinase inhibitor protein-1 (RKIP-1)] is a sperm membrane protein that has been shown to be

an inhibitor of capacitation (Nixon *et al.*, 2006; Moffit *et al.*, 2007). The epididymis also secretes factors that are adsorbed by the spermatozoa, or that modify existing spermatozoa membrane proteins. HongrES1 (Ni *et al.*, 2009) and SERPINE2 (Lu *et al.*, 2011) are potential epididymal decapacitation factors, of which the latter is also a component of the seminal vesicle fluid. Incidentally, the seminal vesicles are thought to be the main source of decapacitation factors (Jaiswal *et al.*, 2002). In addition to SERPINE2, seminal vesicle protein secretion 2 (SVS2) (Kawano *et al.*, 2007) and secreted serine protease inhibitor Kazal-type-like protein (SPINKL) (Lin *et al.*, 2008) have been suggested as decapacitation factors secreted by the seminal vesicles. However, the abundance of uncharacterized proteins in the seminal fluid and the complexity of the regulation of capacitation, imply that numerous other decapacitation factors have yet to be found.

Although the physiological and functional changes in spermatozoa upon capacitation are well characterized and some key inducers have been identified, the relevant components of the cellular pathways are less well known. Requirements for capacitation vary between species, but commonly include changes in ionic concentrations and pH, a source of energy, and removal of de-capacitation factors (reviewed in (Jaiswal *et al.*, 2002) and (Florman *et al.*, 2006)). The most important ions in capacitation are bicarbonate and calcium, of which the former is considered to be a key regulator of capacitation. Bicarbonate is abundant in the female reproductive tract fluid, and has been linked to changes in sperm membrane, protein phosphorylation, and activation of cyclic adenosine monophosphate signalling pathways (reviewed in (Bailey, 2010)). Although calcium is also considered as a major capacitation factor, its role is more prominent in the acrosome reaction, and will be reviewed in the next section. In addition to ions, progesterone has been shown to stimulate sperm motility and capacitation (reviewed in (Jaiswal *et al.*, 2002)).

During capacitation, spermatozoa undergo a major reorganization of their cell membrane's lipid and protein constitution. The role of cholesterol especially has been widely studied, and as capacitation advances, the quantity of cholesterol decreases, which has resulted in cholesterol being regarded as one of the major decapacitation factors (reviewed in (Cross, 1998)). Its decrease increases fluidity of the membrane, which enables further movements of membrane phospholipids and proteins. Subsequently, this grants the spermatozoa the abilities required in interaction with the egg and its extracellular matrix, and enables the fusion of the plasma and outer acrosomal membranes during acrosome reaction (reviewed in (Cross, 1998) and (Jaiswal *et al.*, 2002)).

Intracellular changes have also been associated with capacitation. In addition to changes in ionic concentrations, extensive protein phosphorylation has been

observed. However, although several phosphorylated proteins have been detected, only a few have been identified, but even these roles in fertility are not known (reviewed in (Urner *et al.*, 2003)).

#### 2.2.2 Extracellular matrix of the egg and the acrosome reaction

Upon reaching the egg, spermatozoa have two major obstacles to overcome before contact with the egg cell membrane: the cumulus oophorus and ZP. The cumulus oophorus is a complex surrounding the egg and consists of cumulus cells and extracellular matrix (ECM) abundant with self secreted hyaluronic acid (reviewed in (Cardullo et al., 2002)). It has many important roles during maturation of the egg and meiosis, in fertilization, and in early embryo development, too: but here, only its functions related to spermatozoa and fertilization are discussed. In respect of its interactions with the spermatozoa, the cumulus oophorus has a dual significance. First, to act as a physical and chemical barrier through which the spermatozoa must pass. Thus, it serves as a screen to prevent abnormal spermatozoa to fertilize the egg, which might result in formation of non-viable embryos (Carrell et al., 1993). Prematurely acrosome reacted and non-capacitated spermatozoa will also be unable to penetrate the oophorus (Cummins et al., 1986). Secondly, however, the oophorus also assists the spermatozoa to reach the egg. The cumulus cells secrete progesterone, which may be the most important chemoattractant that guides the spermatozoa (Oren-Benaroya et al., 2008). Soluble and matrix-associated factors of the oophorus also seem to alter motility patterns of the spermatozoa, to enhance penetration (reviewed in (Cardullo et al., 2002)). To work their way through the oophorus, spermatozoa require hyaluronidases to penetrate the hyaluronic acid-rich ECM (reviewed in (Kim et al., 2008)). To date, three hyaluronidases produced in the testis and/or the epididymis, HYALP1, HYAL5 and PH-20 (SPAM1), have been associated with spermatozoa, which seem to have overlapping functions in degrading the oophorus, as indicated by normal fertility of PH-20 deficient mice (Kim et al., 2008; Baba et al., 2002; Miller et al., 2007).

Although the oophorus has also been indicated in the induction of the acrosome reaction, the traditional model is that the acrosome reaction is initiated as spermatozoa contact ZP (reviewed in (Sun *et al.*, 2011)). ZP is the ECM of the egg, and although relatively simple in structure, yet represents a formidable barrier to spermatozoa. The spermatozoon, however, is well equipped to deal with such an obstacle; within its head is a single large secretory vesicle, known as the acrosome, which contains proteolytic enzymes required for the sperm to penetrate the ZP. Spermatozoa recognize the ZP3 glycoprotein on the egg ZP with  $\beta$ 1,4-galactosyltransferase (GaIT) (Lu *et al.*, 1997). A flux of Ca<sup>2+</sup> in the spermatozoa follows and initiates a signalling cascade to result in controlled fusion of the sperm plasma membrane with the outer acrosome membrane, leading to release of

acrosomal contents and the unveiling of a new sperm surface domain (Florman et al., 2006). Since the acrossme reaction is a prerequisite for sperm-egg membrane fusion (Yanagimachi, 1994), it is likely that previously hidden sperm surface proteins responsible for fusion are simultaneously uncovered. The importance of  $Ca^{2+}$  in the onset of the acrossome reaction indicates that sperm membrane ion channels and their regulators play a pivotal role. Correspondingly, a host of calcium conducting channels on spermatozoa has been identified (reviewed in (Florman et al., 2006)), and recently CRISP4, a secreted epididymal protein discovered by our group (Jalkanen et al., 2005a), has been shown to regulate ion channel signalling and initiation of acrosome reaction in sperm, although it is not indispensable for fertility (Gibbs et al., 2011). Other potentially important sperm membrane proteins involved in sperm–ZP binding and acrosome reaction, such as acrosin, SED1, fertilin, CD46 and zonadhesin, have also been studied with KO mouse models, but none of the aforementioned, including GalT, are necessary for fertility (reviewed by (Muro et al., 2011)). Interestingly, however, KO models of Clgn, Calr3, Adam1a, Adam2, Adam3 and Ace share similar fertility defects, which have been traced to a lack of ADAM3 from the sperm membrane (Muro et al., 2011). Therefore, ADAM3 has been suggested to be one of the key sperm membrane proteins that mediates sperm-ZP interactions, although the specific molecular mechanisms behind its functionality remain to be clarified (Muro et al., 2011). Altogether, numerous studies have revealed the complexities in the regulation of fertility at the level of penetration of the outermost layers of the egg, but such complexity the complexity also generates redundancy, which often guarantees successful reproduction and thereby continuation of the species, even if a cog in the wheel, so to speak, is absent.

#### 2.2.3 Sperm-egg membrane fusion

After breach of the two outer layers of the egg, the spermatozoon finally makes contact with the egg cell membrane. Compatibility of the sperm to the egg is once again confirmed by membrane proteins and their corresponding receptors. The membrane interactions occur in two major phases: first, an initial recognition and binding, and second, fusion of the two membranes (Primakoff *et al.*, 2002). Although a critical protein for fusion on the egg membrane, CD9, has been identified (Kaji *et al.*, 2000), sperm related fusion factors remain more obscure. Candidate receptors and ligands have been suggested, but often subsequently rejected from being indispensable. However, one of the most important sperm-related membrane fusion mediators, is IZUMO1; its loss prevents fusion of the membranes, although the sperm undergo the acrosome reaction and are able to bind to the egg membrane (Inoue *et al.*, 2005). Similarly as with ADAM3 and ZP binding, fusion problems also arise when proteins responsible for correct localization of IZUMO1 on sperm membrane are missing (reviewed in (Inoue *et al.*, 2011)).

In addition to IZUMO1, certain members of the ADAM family, such as fertilin and cyritestin, have received considerable attention due to their ability to bind egg membrane integrins, but have later been found to mainly act in the earlier stages of fertilization (reviewed by (Sutovsky, 2009) and (Muro et al., 2011)). However, there are several unknown or poorly characterized ADAMs produced by the male reproductive organs, and to date studies indicate that many may be either synthesized or modified in the epididymis (Kim et al., 2006; Primakoff et al., 2007). Notably, CRISP1, one of the most abundant epididymal proteins, shares structural characteristics with the ADAM proteins, and has been implicated in participation in several processes during fertilization (reviewed in (Cohen et al., 2011)), and will be discussed in more detail in a later section. However, its role in sperm–egg fusion has recently raised particular interest (Sutovsky, 2009). Although the loss of CRISP1 does not prevent fertilization, its absence may be complemented by CRISP2 (Busso et al., 2007). Thereby, although the role of the epididymis in the acquisition of the spermatozoa of a fertilization function is well established, some light is finally being shed on the molecular mechanisms of epididymal sperm modifications as relevant to fertility.

## 2.3 Male contraception

From either a global or individual perspective, effective contraceptive methods are needed; the world population continues to rise, causing considerable ecological and socio-economical problems, and a planned parenthood approach is often a preferred strategy for those who desire a family. Compared to the several different female contraceptives available, male contraceptive methods are limited to either condoms, vasectomy, or *coitus interruptus*, but all of which have their respective shortcomings. Thereby, novel male contraceptive methods have been pursued for decades.

As male fertility is heavily reliant on hormones, disruption of the hypothalamicpituitary-testicular axis to inhibit spermatogenesis has been extensively studied. To date, clinical tests have proved promising; male hormonal contraceptives confer a risk of pregnancy of 1% per year – thus comparable to the efficiency of female hormonal contraceptives –, and fertility is restored after termination of treatment, with adverse side effects relatively minor, yet certain drawbacks still remain. The objective for a male hormonal contraceptive is to reduce sperm concentration to less than  $10^6$  / ml of ejaculate, which is considered as severe oligozoospermia. However, for such a reduction to occur, will take 2–3 months, and a return to normal sperm concentrations can thereafter take up to a year, and adequate suppression of spermatogenesis is not always achieved. Further, transdermal and oral administration of the treatment are inefficient, which compells reliance on the more impractical injection. Finally, clinical trials groups have been rather small (only up to ~1000 men), and long-term side effects of altered hormone levels are as yet unknown. In addition to changes in mood and libido, potential risks include, for example, increased susceptibility to thromboembolism and cardiovascular disease. Conversely, however, beneficial effects on muscle, bone and fat mass have also been reported. Altogether, considerable advances have been made in developing male hormonal contraceptives, and further studies may lead to commercially available treatments in the future. (The current status of male hormonal contraceptives is reviewed in (Roth *et al.*, 2011) and in (Ilani *et al.*, 2011).)

Alternatives to the systemic inhibition of spermatogenesis by disruption of the endocrine pathway have also been suggested. These novel approaches include the transportation, contraceptive vaccines. prevention of sperm and the pharmacological inhibition of sperm proteins (Cooper, 2002; Cheng et al., 2010). A method termed RISUG (reversible inhibition of sperm under guidance) involves a compound injected into the vas deferens which acts as a spermicide (reviewed in (Sharma et al., 2007)), and is currently undergoing extended phase III clinical trial. However, despite its efficiency and apparent non-toxicity, its invasive method of application is hardly ideal. Thereby, to directly target the spermatozoa, either pharmacologically or by vaccine, would seem a more promising approach. By choice of a suitable target protein (or proteins), an effective contraceptive with no adverse side effects could theoretically be developed. A good candidate protein for inhibition would be specifically associated with spermatozoa, critical for sperm function, and easily druggable. Different approaches to identify such proteins have been utilized, e.g. microarrays, proteomics, mass spectrometry, and expressed sequence tag (EST) libraries have proven effective to discover novel putatively specifically sperm-associated proteins (reviewed in (Sipila et al., 2009)). Although immunization against certain sperm-specific proteins has resulted in effective and reversible contraception in animal models, many obstacles still remain. Individual variation in long-term infertility is considerable, possibly due to differences in host immune responses, and suitable antigens for the generation of efficient antibodies have been difficult to identify. As such, no clinical trials with use of immunocontraceptives are currently undergoing, and interest towards vaccination for fertility control appears to have somewhat waned recently (reviewed in (Cheng et al., 2010)). However, pharmacological inhibition of sperm-associated proteins critical for sperm function remains an intriguing option, and is mentioned in practically all publications that describe proteins involved in fertilization. Studies with animal models, including non-human primates, and with human spermatozoa have been promising, and revealed several proteins which render spermatozoa incapable of fertilization when pharmacologically inhibited. Amongst the most notable are, for example, EPPIN (O'Rand et al., 2011), CatSper family proteins (Carlson et al., 2009) and retinoid acid receptor (RAR) (Chung et al., 2011). EPPIN is a sperm-associated protein produced and secreted in the testis, ED and epididymis, and the immunological inhibition of its function results in loss of motility in spermatozoa. Currently, pharmacological compounds suitable as EPPIN inhibitors are being evaluated for efficiency and safety, and clinical trials will likely follow (reviewed in (O'Rand et al., 2011)). The CatSper members are ion channel proteins which are exclusively expressed in spermatogenic cells, and regulate progesterone mediated  $Ca^{2+}$  entry into the cells (Carlson *et al.*, 2009; Lishko et al., 2011; Strunker et al., 2011). A loss of any CatSper protein leads to male infertility in mice due to the inability of the spermatozoa to hyperactivate, and the pharmacological blocking of CatSper channels causes the same effect in mouse spermatozoa (Carlson et al., 2009). However, to date no data from human studies are available. Loss of RAR causes infertility due to vitamin A deficiency (reviewed in (Wolgemuth et al., 2007)). Although pharmacological compounds blocking RAR function cause effective and reversible infertility in mice (Chung et al., 2011), drugs which prevent retinoic acid biosynthesis and thereby cause reversible infertility in humans are unsuitable as contraceptives because of unwanted side effects (Amory et al., 2011). Nevertheless, studies to date have demonstrated that spermatogenesis is very sensitive to changes in retinoic signaling, and thereby its specific disruption may lead to effective male contraceptives.

In conclusion, hormonal male contraception can be achieved, but its poor effectiveness, impracticality of use, and adverse side effects have prevented such from becoming commercially available. Blocking of spermatozoa transportation requires invasive application methods, making it an inconvenient approach, too. Pharmacological inhibition of sperm associated proteins holds the most promise. However, although several interesting target molecules are known, few clinical studies with regard to effectiveness, safety and long term side effects have been made. As such, any new revolution in contraceptive methods seems uncertain for the near future.

### 2.4 Genetically modified mouse models

To characterize novel proteins, the ultimate test for *in vivo* significance is analysis by alteration of the protein's expression or function in a mammalian animal model through the use of gene manipulation techniques. In transgenic animal models, a protein can be expressed in a non-endogenous temporal or spatial pattern, in excessive quantity, with function altering modifications, in a different species, or in any combination of these. Transgenic animals are produced by introduction of the DNA coding for the desired protein under a promoter of choice, into a zygote or a blastocyst of the animal, with subsequent implantion into the uterus of a surrogate mother. However, the exogenous DNA molecule integrates into a random location in the host's genome, and the transgene's copy number also varies. As such, even careful experimental design may yield unanticipated and irreproducible results. The first transgenic animal model was generated almost four decades ago (Jaenisch *et* 

*al.*, 1974), and since, genetically modified organisms have been widely used in biomedical research (reviewed in (Houdebine, 2007)).

Although the introduction of exogenous DNA into an organism has proven a useful method in studying protein function, the significance of a protein is often better revealed by its loss. Despite similarities, generation of loss of function (knock-out) models has required certain key innovations, not needed in traditional gain of function (transgenic) techniques. To lose a protein, an organism's endogenous gene encoding it must be rendered non-functional. Thus, targeted manipulation of the locus with the gene to be knocked out is required, as opposed to the random integration of a transgenic construct into the genome. Due to low efficiency of targeted manipulation of the genome, introduction of the targeting construct into a zygote, as in generation of transgenic models, is not a practical approach. However, targeted mutations can be performed and confirmed in the embryonic stem (ES) cells, which can subsequently be injected into a blastocyst, where they will contribute to the development of the organism. The technique to isolate and culture mouse ES cells became available in 1981 (Evans et al., 1981; Martin, 1981), and the first knock-out mouse model was created in 1989 (Koller et al., 1989). Recently, the novel zinc-finger nuclease based technique has led to the generation of knock-out rats (Geurts et al., 2009), and theoretically allows genomic modifications of any species, including the human (Urnov et al., 2010).

#### 2.4.1 Generation of knock-out models

The process of the generation of knock-out mouse models is summarized in Figure 5. Since gene targeting relies on extensive sequence homology, such targeting constructs mostly consist of a sequence identical to the targeted genomic locus. Usually, several kilobases (kb) of sequence homology is required, and suitable molecules can easily be obtained for example in the form of bacterial artificial chromosomes (BACs). BACs are essentially plasmids of 50–350 kb in size, and often used in the generation of genomic libraries. Several mouse BAC libraries are commercially available, and information on the genomic area encompassed by each individual clone can be accessed from online databases, such as the Ensembl (Hubbard *et al.*, 2009). Thereby, the specific BAC clone which contains the gene of interest can be obtained and subsequently manipulated to generate the desired targeting construct. A typical gene targeting construct consists of two homology arms which surround the disrupted gene of interest. A corresponding segment can be excised from the BAC and subcloned to an appropriate plasmid backbone vector. Finally, the gene of interest is rendered non-functional. Usually this is evoked by insertion of a so-called knock-out cassette in the 5'-end of the gene. The cassette contains a gene conferring resistance to an antibiotic driven by a eukaryotic promoter to facilitate selection after the targeting of the ES cells, and

transcription termination signals to prevent inadvertent transcription of the gene downstream of the cassette. The insertion of the knock-out cassette can be achieved while simultaneously deleting a part of the targeted gene, which is also commonly undertaken to further guarantee the loss of the endogenous gene product.

The complete knock-out construct is linearized by digestion with a restriction endonuclease specific to the plasmid backbone sequence, and electroporated into ES cells. The ES cells are then cultured in selective conditions, to facilitate the survival and proliferation of only the cells which have incorporated the construct into their genomes. However, two separate DNA repair pathways are responsible for such genomic incorporations: non-homologous end joining (NHEJ), which confers random integrations, and homologous recombination repair (HRR) (Huertas, 2010). NHEJ occurs approximately 1000-fold more often than HRR (Vasquez et al., 2001). Thus, subsequent steps in identification of the correct recombinants from the random integrants must be taken. However, certain measures to reduce the number of random integrants can also be considered when designing the construct. One approach is the use of a promoterless antibiotic resistance gene in the knock-out cassette (reviewed in (Friedel et al., 2005)), by which antibiotic resistance is conferred only if the construct is integrated near to a genomic promoter. By placing the knock-out cassette at the 5'-end of the targeted gene, correct recombination will cause the antibiotic resistance gene to be driven by the endogenous promoter of the targeted gene. However, no endogenous promoter elements should be present in the 5'-homology arm of the construct, and the targeted gene should be sufficiently highly expressed in ES cells to provide antibiotic resistance. Another approach is to include a negative selection cassette to the plasmid backbone of the targeting construct. For this, a diphtheria toxin A-chain coding gene is commonly used (McCarrick et al., 1993; Araki et al., 2006). When the construct is correctly targeted, the non-homologous parts (i.e. the plasmid backbone) are left out, whereas in random integration the whole construct is incorporated into the genome. Thus, the toxin coding gene should be present only in cells in which random integration of the construct has occurred, and, if correctly expressed, the toxin will kill the cell, to leave only correctly targeted cells behind. A third option to reduce the number of random integrants is to use single-stranded DNA targeting constructs. Double-stranded DNA can be randomly integrated into the genome through NHEJ, whereas single-stranded constructs only participate in homologous recombination. In fact, after electroporation of a doublestranded DNA targeting construct, its digestion into a single-stranded molecule is a prerequisite to homologous recombination (Krogh et al., 2004). However, despite their potential advantages, single-stranded gene targeting constructs are not widely used (Jensen et al., 2011).

Once an ES cell clone in which the correct recombination has occurred has been identified, the targeted cells are used to generate a live animal that carries the
mutation. As ES cells are pluripotent, they can differentiate into any cell type of an adult. This can be accomplished by the incorporation of the targeted ES cells into an early stage embryo. Two approaches are commonly used: microinjection of ES cells into the blastocyst cavity, or aggregation of ES cells with morula stage embryos (Tam et al., 2003). The manipulated embryos are then transferred to the oviducts of a pseudopregnant mouse, and chimeric mice, which consist of cells from the host blastocyst/morula and the ES cells, are born. If the ES cell line is chosen to carry alleles coding for a different fur color than the cells of the host blastocyst/morula, as is usually the case, the chimeric mice can be identified by their coloring. In blastocyst injection chimeras, the injected ES cells incorporate into the inner cell mass of the blastocyst, whereas aggregation chimeras are practically completely derived from the ES cells. Thus, aggregation chimeras are more likely to carry the intended mutation rather than blastocyst injection chimeras. Regardless, the chimeric mice are bred, and once the mutation is passed on to the offspring, a stable mutant mouse line is formed. Since the homologous recombination taking place in the ES cells occurs only in one of two homologous chromosomes, the mutated mice are initially heterozygous for the targeted gene, carrying one wild type (WT) and one targeted allele. By breeding two heterozygotes, mice with two targeted alleles will be born, if viable. Thus, mice which completely lack the targeted gene are finally produced, and the effect of the gene's loss can be characterized.



**Figure 5.** An illustration which summarizes the generation of knock-out mouse models. (A) The targeting construct is electroporated into ES cells. (B) Within the ES cells the construct locates the gene of interest (GOI) through sequence homology between the homology arms (HA) of the construct and the targeted locus. Crossing over occurs between the two DNA molecules, and repairs made by the DNA repair machinery result in the GOI to be replaced by the KO construct. (C) The ES cells which carry the targeted mutation are injected into the blastocyst cavity, whereby incorporated into the inner cell mass (ICM) of the blastocyst. (D) The manipulated embryos are transferred to the oviducts of pseudopregnant mice, and chimeric mice which carry the targeted mutation are born.

### 2.4.1.1 Knock-in models

Homologous recombination enables the targeted insertion of exogenous DNA into the host genome. Although it has mainly been used to disrupt gene function to generate knock-out models, gain of function applications are also possible (Hacking, 2008). As opposed to traditional transgenic models, knock-in models offer certain advantages. First, homologous recombination allows the targeting of the gene construct to a chromosomal area in which the transgene is stably expressed, and does not impede on the function of endogenous genes, whereas random insertion may cause unwanted effects which complicate the interpretation of results. A popular area for targeted transgenics is the ROSA26 locus, which is efficiently targeted and no adverse effects as a result from its disruption have been reported (Casola, 2010). Second, a transgene can be targeted to be expressed under the promoter of a gene of interest. Thereby, the transgene closely mimics the expression pattern of the gene of interest, which can be applied to gene expression studies or in the generation of models with tissue or cell type specific transgene expression. Third, the generation of humanized mouse models is possible by the complete replacement of the endogenous gene with its human orthologue. Further, genes can also be modified only partially to introduce specific mutations. Such models are valuable in biomedical research concerning human biological systems and diseases (Shultz et al., 2007). Fourth, specific recombinase enzyme target sequences can be inserted into the genome to serve as docking sites for recombinase mediated cloning (Sakurai et al., 2010). Thus, after a single round of targeting, a desired cassette can be integrated to (and subsequently removed from) the docking site by using recombinases, a technique which is easier and more effective than repeated homologous recombination.

#### 2.4.1.2 Conditional knock-out models

It is often advantageous, or even necessary, to study the loss of gene function only in a certain tissue or cell type, or at a specific time. Such a case can arise, for example, when a gene is vital during development, and its absence will result in lethality. To study its function in the adult, the embryonic expression must be maintained, while the recombination event which leads to loss of function needs to be induced at a later stage. Dependant on the specifics of the model system, they can be called conditional or inducible knock-outs. Both rely on the same molecular mechanisms.

Conditional knock-outs can be achieved with site-specific DNA recombinase (SSR) technology. In these cases two separate genetic modifications are required. First, the genomic area to be knocked out needs to be flanked with the recombinase recognition sequences, usually 30–50 bp in length, and secondly, the recombinase

coding gene needs to be expressed in a controlled fashion. The recombinase enzyme recognizes two copies of its target sequence and mediates recombination between them. Several SSR systems are available. The most widely used is the Cre-loxP (Kuhn *et al.*, 1995) followed by the FLP-FRT (Dymecki, 1996). More novel systems, not yet used in *in vivo* models, include  $\varphi$ C31-attB/attP (Belteki *et al.*, 2003), Dre-rox (Anastassiadis *et al.*, 2009), VCre/VloxP and SCre/SloxP (Suzuki *et al.*, 2011). With the use of mutated recombinase target sites, elaborate constructs for integration, excision and inversion of genomic sequences can be generated (Adams *et al.*, 2008).

A basic strategy to generate conditional knock-outs, involves targeting two loxP sites to flank an exon of the gene of interest in a way that its expression is not disrupted, and then introduction by mating of *Cre* recombinase expression under a tissue-specific promoter. Thereby, recombination between the two loxP sites occurs only in cells that express the recombinase, which is determined by the choice of the promoter. As floxed (flanked by loxP) alleles of many genes are readily available, the limiting factor in the generation off tissue-specific knock-outs, is often the availability of *Cre* expressing lines.

In addition to spatial, temporal control of gene expression can also be achieved (reviewed in (Saunders, 2011)). In a 4-hydroxytamoxifen (4HT) regulated model, a fusion protein of Cre and human estrogen receptor is used. Briefly, treatment of the transgenic mouse with 4HT will cause the Cre-fusion protein to be transported into the cell nucleus, where it will facilitate recombination with its target loxP sequences. This can be used to knock out gene expression with a floxed allele as described above, or to induce expression of a transgene with a floxed stop cassette to prevent its expression. Another method of chemically to either suppress or induce transgene expression, utilizes a fusion protein tTA with a transactivator domain and a tetracycline repression domain, and a second transgene with tetracycline response elements (TRE) in its promoter. In the absence of a ligand (tetracycline or its analog doxycycline) the fusion promoter binds to the TRE and induces gene expression. Treatment with tetracycline causes the protein to dissociate from the promoter, terminating the expression. A mutant version of tTA called rtTA functions the other way around: the fusion protein is able to bind the TRE and initiate transcription only in the presence of tetracycline. Thereby, dependant on the use of either tTA or rtTA, treatment with tetracycline can be used to induce or repress gene expression. However, so far their efficiency *in vivo* has been limited (Saunders, 2011).

Altogether, several ways to generate genetically modified animal models are within grasp, and new opportunities continue to emerge. By the innovative combination and modification of the methods, elaborate experimental setups can be created, and

answers to vexatious biological problems found. Although the expanding array of cloning techniques has often been referred to as a tool box for researchers, for an open-minded scientist, a playground might be the more appropriate metaphor.

## 2.5 Genes expressed in the epididymis

Recent technological advances have led to an increase in data regarding gene expression profiles. EST databases and microarray studies have suggested epididymal expression of several genes, and these have subsequently been confirmed with *in vitro* methods. However, mere gene expression profile is rarely enough to reveal the *in vivo* significance of a gene. Therefore, experiments to study individual genes and proteins in a living organism are needed. In this thesis, the *in vivo* significance for the function of the epididymis and epididymal sperm maturation of two genes, *Bmyc* and *Crisp4*, were studied.

### 2.5.1 Bmyc

*Bmyc* is a relatively poorly studied member of the *Myc* family of transcriptional regulators (Ingvarsson et al., 1988; Asker et al., 1995). The family is best known due to Myc (formerly known as c-myc), Nmyc and Lmyc, and their roles as protooncogenes; an increase in their expression is linked to many forms of tumorigenesis (Eilers et al., 2008; Nesbit et al., 1999; Albihn et al., 2010). Interestingly, in contradiction to its well established role in proliferation and tumorigenesis, MYC is also a regulator of apoptosis (Nieminen et al., 2007; Hoffman et al., 2008). In fact, MYC has been linked to most key biochemical pathways of the cell in respect of growth, proliferation, differentiation and death (Eilers et al., 2008). It has been estimated that MYC participates in regulation of up to 15% of genes in genomes of different species, although its effect on the expression of an individual gene is usually modest (Dang et al., 2006). All Myc family members are expressed during development with varying intensities in different cell types and developmental stages, and studies with knock-out mice indicate that Myc and Nmyc are indispensable, whereas Lmyc is not (Domashenko et al., 1997; Downs et al., 1989; Davis et al., 1993; Hatton et al., 1996; Hurlin, 2005). Expression levels are generally diminished in the adults, although Myc is expressed at low levels in most proliferating tissues (Marcu et al., 1992). As such, the *Myc* family members are considered as housekeeping genes in different cells. However, *Bmvc* is an interesting exception. Although its expression pattern mostly mimics that of Myc, an exceptionally high expression in the epididymis sets it apart from the rest of the family (Gregory et al., 2000). The BMYC protein has been demonstrated to inhibit MYC and especially its transcriptional activity and ability to induce neoplastic transformations (Resar et al., 1993). As the two proteins share significant sequence similarities but BMYC lacks a DNA binding domain, its effect

in regulating MYC is believed to occur through the competition of shared binding partners (Resar *et al.*, 1993).

BMYC is localized in the epithelial cells predominantly in the proximal epididymis, and its expression is regulated by androgens and other testicular factors (Cornwall et al., 2001). Despite in vitro data which indicates it to be a transcriptional regulator and an inhibitor of MYC, no *in vivo* role for BMYC in the epididymis, or in any other tissues, has yet been discovered. However, almost complete loss of *Bmyc* expression in the epididymis was detected in a mouse model for epididymal tumorigenesis, which expressed the oncogenic simian virus 40 T antigen under Gpx5 promoter (Sipila et al., 2004). As epididymal tumors are practically non-existent (Ganem et al., 1998) and BMYC has been shown to inhibit MYC mediated neoplastic transformation, it has been hypothesized that BMYC may act as a tumor suppressor in the epididymis (Sipila et al., 2004). However, no further evidence in support of this is available. Although MYC is expressed in the testis and is an important cell cycle regulator, its role during meiosis, if any, has not been studied (Koji et al., 1988; Uetani et al., 1994). Overall, very little is known of the possible roles of Myc family genes in gamete development or the events that lead to their maturation.

### 2.5.2 Crisp gene family

Members of several gene families that code for cysteine-rich proteins, including CRISPs,  $\beta$ -defensing and ADAMs, are highly expressed in the epididymis. Common features for these proteins include signal peptide sequences, which indicate secretion into the lumen, and conserved distribution of cysteine-residues. Intramolecular disulfide bonds form between the cysteine-residues, to confer structural integrity to the proteins. Notably, orthologous proteins have been identified in venoms of various reptiles and insects. For toxin proteins the hostile environment of a target prey's bloodstream is a challenge to protein stability and thereby its functionality, which provides an explanation for the conservation of distribution of cysteine-residues (Bastolla et al., 2005; Kaplan et al., 2007). Similarly, the severely dehydrated epididymal luminal fluid may pose a threat to epididymal proteins, which possibly explains the abundance of cysteine-rich proteins in the epididymis (Cornwall et al., 2007). However, members of some protein superfamilies, such as the CAP (cysteine-rich proteins, antigen-5, and pathogenesis-related 1) superfamily, to which certain epididymal and toxin proteins belong to, can be found in species that range from archaea and bacteria to eukaryotes (Gibbs et al., 2008). Thereby, these types of cysteine-rich proteins are likely of early evolutionary origin, and have specialized to perform diverse tasks in different, even distantly related, species.

Members of the *Crisp* gene family are amongst the best known epididymal genes. The family's first member was discovered over three decades ago in the rat as one of the most abundant epididymal luminal fluid proteins, and initially named protein D/E (Cameo *et al.*, 1976), and subsequently CRISP1; to date, four members of the family are known (Gibbs *et al.*, 2008). However, the relationship of the family members in different species is ambiguous, and to avoid further confusion, only the mouse and rat CRISPs are discussed here, unless otherwise noted. With the exception of *Crisp3*, the *Crisp* genes are mainly expressed in the male reproductive organs, and although non-reproductive expression has also been reported (Reddy *et al.*, 2008), the main research focus has been in their reproductive functions.

*Crisp1* is predominantly expressed in the proximal epididymis, and codes for a secreted protein which interacts with maturing spermatozoa (Kohane *et al.*, 1980a; Kohane et al., 1980b). Two separate forms of CRISP1 have been detected; the majority of the protein is loosely attached to the spermatozoa membrane, whereas a minor fraction is more strongly associated (Cohen et al., 2000). Several studies have indicated that these proteins have separate functions during fertilization. The loosely attached fraction is released from the membrane during capacitation, to indicate that it acts as a decapacitation factor (Kohane *et al.*, 1980b). Furthermore, incubation of the spermatozoa with exogenous CRISP1 has been demonstrated to inhibit capacitation and the acrosome reaction (Roberts et al., 2003). Upon capacitation, the fraction remaining bound to the membrane migrates from the dorsal to the equatorial region of the spermatozoa (Rochwerger et al., 1992b). As the equatorial region is responsible for interaction with the egg during binding and fusion of the gametes, a role for CRISP1 in these events has been suggested. Complementary CRISP1 binding sites on the oocyte were soon detected, and CRISP1 was revealed to mediate the fusion event, as incubation of eggs with exogenous CRISP1 during IVF prevented membrane fusion, yet not the binding of the gametes (Rochwerger et al., 1992a). Despite these clear observations to indicate the importance of CRISP1 during fertilization, the Crisp1 knock-out mice proved to be fertile with only minor impairment detected in IVF (Da Ros et al., 2008), although it has been suggested that another member of the family may compensate for the loss of CRISP1.

The best candidate as the functional homologue of CRISP1, is CRISP2. Although primarily expressed in the haploid testicular germ cells (Kasahara *et al.*, 1989b; Mizuki *et al.*, 1992) and demonstrated to be partly responsible for the adhesion of the spermatogenic and Sertoli cells (Maeda *et al.*, 1998), the protein has also been shown to localize into the acrosomal region of the spermatozoa and be involved in gamete fusion events (Busso *et al.*, 2007; O'Bryan *et al.*, 2001; Busso *et al.*, 2005). However, since to date the *Crisp2* knock-out mice have not yet been published, the *in vivo* role of CRISP2 remains to be elucidated, and the interplay between both

CRISP1 and CRISP2 will surely be studied with a double knock-out model. Another possible CRISP1 functional homologue is CRISP4.

CRISP4 is predominantly expressed in the epididymis, and is present in the luminal fluid as a soluble form, as associated with the epididymosomes, and bound to the spermatozoa (Jalkanen *et al.*, 2005a; Reddy *et al.*, 2008; Nolan *et al.*, 2006). It has been suggested that *Crisp4* is the true orthologue of human *CRISP1*, and that both mCRISP1 and mCRISP4 may be functional homologues of human CRISP1 (Jalkanen *et al.*, 2005a; Nolan *et al.*, 2006). As human CRISP1 has also been demonstrated to have a role during fertilization (Cohen *et al.*, 2001), the study of CRISP4 function in the mouse should not be overlooked. A *Crisp4* knock-out model was recently published, and although the mice were fertile, a defect in the induction of the acrosome reaction was observed (Gibbs *et al.*, 2011). Thus, CRISP1, CRISP2 and CRISP4 all would seem to be involved in processes both before and during fertilization. As both CRISP1 and CRISP4 are proteins produced by the epididymis, they may also represent the factors responsible for the importance of epididymal sperm maturation.

The final member of the family, *Crisp3*, is expressed in several tissues with highest levels in the salivary gland (Haendler *et al.*, 1993; Haendler *et al.*, 1999). Although the protein has also been detected in the human in seminal plasma, endometrium during pregnancy, and at low levels in the epididymis, its possible role in fertility remains unknown (Kratzschmar *et al.*, 1996; Udby *et al.*, 2005; Horne *et al.*, 2009).

The molecular mechanisms with which CRISPs function are not completely understood. They have two identifiable functional domains: the N-terminal PR-1 (plant pathogenesis-related domain 1) and the C-terminal CRD (cysteine-rich domain) with the CRISP-defining, absolutely conserved distribution of 10 cysteine residues (Jalkanen et al., 2005a; Haendler et al., 1993; Brooks et al., 1986; Kasahara et al., 1989a; Guo et al., 2005). Further, within the PR-1 domain, they have conserved CRISP-specific Signature 1 (S1) and Signature 2 (S2) motifs, of which S2 is responsible for interaction with the egg (Ellerman *et al.*, 2006). Notably, proteins with the CRD domain, which are often also considered as CRISPs, are common in venoms of various reptiles (Gibbs et al., 2007) and have been demonstrated to exert their function by regulation of different types of ion channels (Guo et al., 2005). A similar mechanism has been observed for CRISP2 (Gibbs et al., 2006) and CRISP4 (Gibbs et al., 2011). As changes in intracellular ion concentrations are crucial for the proper function of spermatozoa during fertilization, it is possible that CRISPs affect fertility by regulation of cellular homeostasis through certain ion channels.

# **3. AIMS OF THE PRESENT STUDY**

Epididymal sperm maturation is essential for spermatozoa to gain the abilities required for fertilization of the egg *in vivo*. These abilities develop through complex interactions between the spermatozoa and organic and inorganic factors secreted into the epididymal lumen by the epithelial cells. Although continuous advances in molecular genetics and bioinformatics have led to an explosive increase of available data regarding gene expression and, subsequently, to identification of novel epididymal genes, the data concerning their significance accumulates significantly slower. The work undertaken in this study concentrates on different aspects of the study of the function of the epididymis, from gene identification *in silico*, through expression profiling *in vitro*, to functional characterization *in vivo* with genetically modified mouse models.

The specific aims of the study were:

- 1. To characterize members of the novel *Pate* gene family *in silico* and to study their expression in the male mouse reproductive organs.
- 2. To generate a *Bmyc* knock-out mouse model and elucidate its role in male reproduction by analysis of the changes in phenotype caused by the genetic manipulation.
- 3. To generate a *Crisp4 iCre* knock-in mouse model to study the role of CRISP4 in epididymal sperm maturation and events involved in fertilization.
- 4. To study the *in vivo* functionality of the Cre-recombinase in the *Crisp4 iCre* knock-in mice, to assess the usability of the model for generation of epididymis-specific conditional knock-out models.

## 4. MATERIALS AND METHODS

### 4.1 In silico analyses (I-III)

Mouse genome databases in Ensembl (Hubbard *et al.*, 2009) and NCBI (Wheeler *et al.*, 2003) were used to obtain sequences of the genes and proteins studied. Gene expression patterns based on UniGene EST libraries (Pontius *et al.*, 2003) were browsed to find genes expressed in the epididymis. Gene and protein sequence comparisons were made with BLAST (Altschul *et al.*, 1990), and ClustalW (Chenna *et al.*, 2003) and MEGA4 (Kumar *et al.*, 2008) programs were used to build phylogenetic trees. Protein signal peptide cleavage sites were predicted with SignalP 3.0 (Bendtsen *et al.*, 2004), and gene transcript polyadenylation sites with the Poly(A) Signal Miner program (Liu *et al.*, 2003). All statistical analyses were performed with the SigmaPlot 9.0 program (Systat Software Inc., Point Richmond, CA), unless otherwise noted. All pair wise comparisons between different samples or treatment groups were undertaken with Student's t-test, and standard deviations of sample variability are presented, unless otherwise noted. Levels of statistically significant changes are indicated with P values P > 0.05 (N.S.), P < 0.05 (\*), P < 0.01 (\*\*) and P < 0.001 (\*\*\*).

### 4.2 Generation of the genetically modified mouse models (I, III)

All cloning reactions to generate the targeting constructs were performed with Red/ET recombination technology (Zhang et al., 1998; Muyrers et al., 1999; Zhang et al., 2000) (GeneBridges, Dresden, Germany). Red/ET cloning is based on homologous recombination and *Escherichia coli* bacteria expressing the RecE or Red $\alpha$  5'  $\rightarrow$  3' exonucleases and RecT or Red $\beta$  single strand binding proteins. Bacteria that contain three separate DNA molecules are required for each round of cloning: 1) the BAC or a plasmid containing the genomic locus of the gene to be targeted, 2) a plasmid to confer inducible expression of the RecE/Red $\alpha$  and RecT/Red $\beta$  proteins, and 3) a PCR product with a selectable marker gene and 5' and 3' homology arms to direct sequence specific targeting. The bacteria are induced to express the RecE/Reda and RecT/Redß proteins, and bacteria in which recombination has occurred are selected based on antibiotic resistance as conferred by the PCR product used. The correct recombination is confirmed with sequencing. Normally, two rounds of cloning are required: first, the gene of interest is interrupted by the knock-out cassette, and secondly, the BAC is "shaved", or the desired targeting construct is subcloned into a minimal plasmid backbone (pACYC177). The resulting construct is then linearized with a restriction enzyme specific to the plasmid backbone, and electroporated into the ES cells, in which the homologous recombination takes place.

#### 4.2.1 Bmyc knock-out mouse model (III)

A BAC clone (RP22-380G15) which contains the *Bmyc* genomic locus was purchased from the Children's Hospital Oakland Research Institute (Oakland, CA). The protein coding sequence of *Bmyc* was interrupted by insertion of the *neo*<sup>*r*</sup> (neomycin phosphotransferase) gene under eukaryotic PGK and prokaryotic TN5 promoters into exon 1 of the gene. The cloning was designed to simultaneously cause a deletion of 7 nucleotides of *Bmyc* exon 1. Next, the BAC was shaved for the targeting construct to result in 15.3 kb and 10.4 kb long 5' and 3' homology arms, respectively. The construct was linearized and electroporated (230 V, 500  $\mu$ F: Gene Pulser, Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA) into AB2.2 ES cells as derived from 129/Sv/Ev mice (Lexicon Genetics, Houston, TX). The cells were subsequently cultured in a selective medium containing 350  $\mu$ g / ml geneticin (G-418, Gibco, Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA), to result in death of cells which did not contain the targeting construct. After 8 days of culture, 288 cell colonies were manually picked, expanded and stored until screening of correct recombinants.

Screening was undertaken with negative backbone PCR (McDermott *et al.*, 2004) by use of a native DyNAzyme I DNA Polymerase (Finnzymes Diagnostics, Espoo, Finland). When the targeting construct is correctly targeted to the genome by homologous recombination, the plasmid backbone is left out, whereas with random integration, the backbone is also incorporated. Thus, by performance of a PCR reaction with primers specific for the plasmid sequence, random integrants can be identified and excluded. A lack of signal can also result from poor quality of the DNA sample. Thereby, in order to confirm the integrity of the sample, a control PCR was also performed. To summarize the PCR screening process, ES cell clones negative for backbone PCR and positive for control PCR, were potentially correctly targeted. Targeting was further confirmed with Southern hybridization.

Five–15 µg of genomic DNA from the potentially correctly targeted ES cell clones were digested with Spe I restriction enzyme (Promega, Madison, WI), separated on a 0.7% SeaKem Gold Agarose (Cambrex, East Rutherford, NJ) gel, and transferred to Hybond XL (Amersham Biosciences, Buckinghamshire, UK) membranes. The hybridizing DNA probe to recognize both targeted and WT alleles, was generated by PCR and labelled radioactive with  $[\alpha-^{32}P]$  dCTP by use of the Prime-a-Gene Labelling System (Promega). The hybridization reaction was undertaken in ULTRAhyb buffer (Ambion, Austin, TX) at 42 °C overnight. The following day the membranes were extensively washed to remove non-specifically bound probe molecules, and the radioactive signal was detected by exposure of the membranes on Fuji Super RX film (Fujifilm, Tokyo, Japan). The correctly targeted ES cell clone was expanded, and cells injected into blastocoeles of C57BL/6N mouse blastocysts. The mice born were chimeric, partly derived from the C57BL/6N cells, and partly from the AB2.2 cells. Chimerism was identified by fur coat color; the AB2.2 cells provide agouti color, whereas the C57BL/6N mice are otherwise black. Chimeric males were bred with black C57BL/6N females, and agouti pups derived from the targeted cells were genotyped to detect whether they carried the targeted *Bmyc* allele. The heterozygous mice were subsequently bred with one another to produce homozygous, *Bmyc* knock-out mice.

#### 4.2.2 Crisp4 iCre knock-in mouse model (I)

A BAC clone (REG\_B124E06368Q2) containing the *Crisp4* genomic locus was purchased from RZPD German Resource Center for Genome Research (ImaGenes GmbH, Berlin, Germany). The protein coding sequence of *Crisp4* was interrupted by insertion of an *iCre-neo<sup>r</sup>* knock-in cassette into the third exon. The targeting resulted in deletion of 7 nucleotides, inclusive of the translation initiating ATG codon, and placement of the *iCre* recombinase coding sequence directly downstream of the *Crisp4* promoter. The BAC was shaved to produce 1.7 kb and 8.3 kb long 5' and 3' homology arms, respectively. The targeting construct was linearized and electroporated (230 V, 500  $\mu$ F) into AB2.2 ES cells. Subsequently, the cells were cultured in a medium containing 350  $\mu$ g / ml geneticin, and after 8 days, 384 antibiotic resistant cell clones were manually picked, expanded and stored until screening for correct recombinats.

Screening was undertaken by positive PCR over the 1.7 kb 5' homology arm. The 5' primer was situated outside the targeting construct, and the 3' primer in the *iCre* (improved Cre-recombinase; GeneBank Accession AY056050) coding sequence of the construct. Thereby, a PCR signal is produced only from samples with correctly targeted *Crisp4* locus. The targeting was further confirmed with long range PCR over the 8.3 kb 3' homology arm. The principle is the same as in the 5' PCR, but to produce an almost 10 kb PCR product from genomic DNA template poses certain technological challenges. Thus, the Expand Long Template PCR System (Roche Applied Science, Basel, Switzerland) was used. Those clones producing a positive PCR signal from both 5' and 3' PCR were deemed correctly targeted. The chimeric and *Crisp4 iCre* knock-in mice were produced as described previously (4.2.1).

## 4.3 Animal handling and sample collection (I-III)

All animal handling was conducted in accordance with the Finnish Animal Ethics Committee and the Institutional animal care policies of the University of Turku (Turku, Finland), which fully meet the requirements as defined in the NIH Guide on animal experimentation. Mice were housed under controlled environmental conditions (12 h light / 12 h darkness, temperature  $21 \pm 1$  °C) and fed with standard pelleted chow and tap water *ad libitum*. The mice were genotyped by PCR from DNA extracted from tissue samples obtained in earmarking.

The mice were euthanized by anesthetizing with ip injection of 400–600  $\mu$ l 2.5% Avertin (2-2-2 tribromoethanol) and cardiac puncture to collect blood, or by cervical dislocation. The mice and tissues collected were weighed, and the tissues were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde, or Bouin's solution (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) for histological studies, or snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen for subsequent DNA, RNA or protein extraction. Blood samples were centrifuged to isolate the serum, which was stored at –20 °C until use. Samples for histological analyses were dehydrated after fixing, embedded in paraffin, and sectioned at 3–5  $\mu$ m thickness. RNA was extracted from frozen tissue samples by use of TRIzol or TRIsure reagents (Invitrogen). Spermatozoa were collected by incubation of a dissected cauda epididymidis in PBS at 37 °C, 5 % CO<sub>2</sub> to allow the spermatozoa to swim out. Proteins from spermatozoa were extracted by boiling in Laemmli sample buffer (Laemmli, 1970).

### 4.3.1 Collection of oocytes (I)

Oocytes were collected for IVF and sperm–egg binding assays from 3–4 week-old superovulated C57BL/6N or FVB/N female mice. Superovulation was induced by stimulation of the follicles to mature by administration to the mice of an ip injection of 5 IU of pregnant mare serum gonadotrophin (PMSG) in PBS, and after 47–48 h a further ip injection of 5 IU of human chorionic gonadotrophin (hCG) in PBS, to cause to follicles to rupture. After 12–13 h the mice were euthanized by cervical dislocation and the oviducts dissected out. The ampullae were cut open and the oocytes surrounded by the cumulus oophorus collected. The cumulus cells were removed by a short incubation in FHM (Specialty Media, Phillipsburg, NJ), which contained 0.6 mg/ml hyaluronidase.

### 4.3.2 Serum hormone measurements (I, III)

Serum hormone levels were compared between adult male WT and *Bmyc* KO or *Crisp4 iCre* KI mice. Testosterone was measured from diethyl ether extracts using RIA (Huhtaniemi *et al.*, 1985), and follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH) and LH were measured by immunofluorimetric assays as previously described (van Casteren *et al.*, 2000; Haavisto *et al.*, 1993).

### 4.3.3 Gonadectomies (II)

To study gene expression and regulation in the epididymis by androgens and other testicular factors, samples from gonadectomized mice were obtained. The mice were

anesthetized by isoflurane, and both testes removed through an incision to the scrotum or abdomen, after which mice were sutured and left to recover. Simultaneously, a 1 cm long silicon tube (Dow Corning, Inc., Midland, MI; inner diameter 1.98 mm, outer diameter 3.18 mm) filled with testosterone powder (Sigma-Aldrich) was subcutaneously inserted into a group of mice, to provide serum testosterone levels above the normal levels of WT male mice (Pakarainen *et al.*, 2005). The gonadectomized mice were sacrificed after 8 h or 1 d following gonadectomy, and the testosterone treated gonadectomized mice 7 d following gonadectomy. The epididymal segments were dissected and stored for subsequent RNA extraction.

## 4.4 Gene expression analyses

### 4.4.1 RT-PCR and quantitative (q) RT-PCR (I–III)

To determine whether a gene is expressed in a biological sample, the presence of its mRNA was studied non-quantitatively (RT-PCR) or quantitatively (qRT-PCR). Total RNA extracted from the sample was reverse transcribed into DNA, of which a PCR reaction was performed with primers specific to the gene of interest: for RT-PCR 1  $\mu$ g of total RNA was DNase treated with Amplification Grade DNase I (Invitrogen) and reverse transcribed with DyNAmo cDNA Synthesis Kit (FinnZymes), or with AMV reverse transcriptase (Promega). PCR was performed with Biotools DNA polymerase (Biotools, Madrid, Spain) or with DyNAzyme II DNA polymerase (FinnZymes). For qRT-PCR DNase treatment and cDNA synthesis were undertaken as described above, and DyNAmo Flash SYBR Green (FinnZymes) was used for qPCR. All qRT-PCR analyses were carried out in triplicates. The relative standard curve method was used to calculate the gene expression levels, and qRT-PCR results from *L19* were used for normalization.

### 4.4.2 Microarray analyses (III)

Microarray studies were performed with Illumina Sentrix BeadArrays at the Finnish DNA Microarray Center, Turku Center for Biotechnology (University of Turku, Finland) to study changes in gene expression patterns in the epididymides of WT and *Bmyc* KO mice. Three WT and three KO samples were analyzed. One µg of purified RNA from each sample was hybridized to Sentrix Mouse WG-6 v2.0 Expression BeadChip following the protocols provided by the manufacturer (Illumina Inc., San Diego, CA). The results were analyzed at the Microarray Center, and by use of DAVID Bioinformatic Resources (Dennis *et al.*, 2003; Huang da *et al.*, 2009).

### 4.4.3 Northern hybridization (II)

Northern hybridization was performed to identify expressed transcripts of the *Pate*-C gene, and to compare their expression levels in different epididymal segments.

Twenty  $\mu$ g of total RNA or 4  $\mu$ g of poly-A mRNA extracted from IS, caput, corpus and cauda epididymidis were denatured, separated on a 1% denaturing agarose gel, and transferred onto a nylon membrane (Hybond-XL, Amersham Biosciences). The labeled probe was produced by RT-PCR with *Pate-C* specific primers from epididymal RNA, and labeled radioactive with [<sup>32</sup>P] $\alpha$ CTP by application of the Prime-a-Gene labeling system (Promega). The hybridization signals were detected by autoradiography by use of X-ray film (Fuji Photo Film Co. Ltd., Tokyo, Japan) or a phosphor imager (Fuji Photo Film Co. Ltd.).

## 4.5 Protein studies

### 4.5.1 Western hybridization (I)

Western hybridization analyses were performed to assess the protein tyrosine phosphorylation of spermatozoa, to indicate the level of capacitation. Spermatozoa from WT and Crisp4 iCre KI mice were incubated in capacitating conditions, and protein samples were collected at different time points. The proteins were sizefractioned on 10% polyacrylamide gel with 0.1% SDS, and transferred to PolyVinyliDine Fluoride (PVDF) membranes (GE Healthcare, Little Chalfont, UK). The unspecific antigens were blocked by incubation of the membrane in tris-buffered saline with 0.1% Tween20 (TBS-T) with 5% bovine serum albumin (BSA) for 1 h at room temperature (RT). Tyrosine phosphorylated proteins were recognized with a monoclonal anti-phosphotyrosine antibody (Millipore, Billerica, MA; 1:5,000) in blocking solution for overnight at +4 °C. Subsequently, the membranes were washed with TBS-T to remove unspecifically bound primary antibody, and incubated with a peroxidase-conjugated anti-mouse secondary antibody (GE Healthcare; 1:5,000) in TBS-T for 1 h at RT. The membranes were again washed with TBS-T, and the horseradish peroxidase was detected with a chemiluminescence substrate (ECL plus Western blot detection system, GE Healthcare) and visualized with a LAS-4000 imaging system (FUJIFILM Holdings Corporation, Tokyo, Japan). To ensure equal loading of the samples, the membranes were stripped in a buffer containing 62.5 mM Tris-Cl, 2% SDS and 100 mM 2-β-mercaptoethanol, pH 6.7 for 30 min at 50 °C, blocked with 5% BSA in TBS-T, re-probed with tubulin-alpha ab-2 antibody (Lab Vision, Fremont, CA; 1:5,000), and detected as above.

### 4.5.2 Immunohistochemistry (III)

The numbers of apoptotic and proliferating cells in the testis and in the epididymis were compared between WT and *Bmyc* KO mice by immunohistochemical stainings. The organs were collected from 3 week-old and 2 month-old mice, fixed in PFA, dehydrated, and sectioned at  $3-5 \mu m$  thickness. The tissue sections were de-paraffinated and re-hydrated in xylene and in a series of lowering concentrations

of ethanol. Antigen retrieval was performed by boiling in a pressure cooker in 10 mM sodium-citrate buffer. Apoptotic cells were detected with terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end labeling (TUNEL) assay, which is based on detection of fragmented DNA present in apoptotic cells. Autofluorescence was blocked by incubation of the slides in 100 mM NH<sub>4</sub>CL for 5 min. The terminal transferase enzyme (1 U/ $\mu$ l; Roche) was used to attach biotin-labeled dUTP nucleotides (30 nM; Roche) to fragmented DNA ends, which were subsequently detected with TexasRed conjugated avidin (1:50 dilution in TBS with 1% BSA; Invitrogen) and visualized under fluorescence microscope. The proliferating cells were identified with a goat polyclonal anti-Ki-67 antibody (1:1,000; Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc., Santa Cruz, CA), detected with a horseradish peroxidase (HRP) linked anti-goat antibody (1:2,000; GE Healthcare) and visualized with a HRP detection kit (Dako, Glostrup, Denmark).

### 4.6 Functional sperm analyses

#### 4.6.1 Sperm acrosome reaction (I)

To compare the percentages of acrosome reacted and acrosome intact spermatozoa of WT and *Crisp4 iCre* KI mice, the spermatozoa were stained to reveal the structure of the acrosomes. Uninduced WT and KI spermatozoa incubated in capacitating conditions were used as controls, and induction of capacitation was assessed from spermatozoa induced to undergo the acrosome reaction with progesterone or calcium ionophore A23187. Cauda epididymides of adult WT and KI mice were dissected and incubated in a non-capacitating medium at 37 °C, 5%  $CO_2$  for 1 h to allow the spermatozoa to swim out. The spermatozoa were transferred to a capacitating medium, and the incubation was continued for 1 h under the same conditions for capacitation to occur. At this point the control samples were collected. To induce the acrosome reaction, 15  $\mu$ M progesterone (Fluka Chemicals, Sigma-Aldrich) or 10  $\mu$ M calcium ionophore A23187 (Sigma-Aldrich) was added to the medium. Incubation was continued for further 15 min, following which the spermatozoa were collected.

Following incubation, the control and induced spermatozoa were fixed in 4% PFA at 4 °C for 1 h. The sperm were then washed by centrifugation for 5 min at 1,000 g in 0.1 M ammonium acetate, pH 9.0, spread on microscope slides, and allowed to air-dry. The slides were subsequently washed in water, methanol and water, for 5 min each, and the spermatozoa stained with 0.22% Coomassie brilliant blue (Sigma-Aldrich) in 50% methanol and 10% acetic acid for 2 min. The slides were then washed in distilled water, mounted with Pertex Mounting Solution (Histolab, Göteborg, Sweden) and observed under microscope. The spermatozoa were classified as acrosome intact when bright blue staining in the dorsal region of the

head was observed, and as acrosome reacted when staining was patchy or absent. One hundred–300 spermatozoa from each mouse were counted, and the ratios of acrosome reacted and acrosome intact spermatozoa compared.

### 4.6.2 Sperm capacitation (I)

Sperm capacitation was assessed by analysis of the amounts of tyrosine phosphorylated proteins by Western hybridization. Cauda epididymides of adult WT and *Crisp4 iCre* KI mice were dissected, and incubated in non-capacitating conditions at 37 °C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub> for 1 h, to allow the spermatozoa to swim out. Uncapacitated control samples were collected after incubation. The spermatozoa were then transferred into capacitating medium, and samples collected at 30 min intervals until 120 min. The spermatozoa were washed twice by centrifugation for 1 min at 13,000 rpm in PBS with 1 mM sodium orthovanadate and 20 mM sodium fluoride to inhibit de-phosphorylation. Proteins were extracted and Western hybridization performed, as described earlier.

#### 4.6.3 Sperm-egg binding assay (I)

The capabilities of WT and *Crisp4 iCre* KI spermatozoa to bind to ZP intact eggs were compared. Cauda epididymides from adult WT and KI mice were dissected and incubated in HTF medium (William A. Cook Australia Pty. Ltd., Brisbane, Australia) at 37 °C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub> for 15 min, to allow the spermatozoa to swim out. Eggs were collected as described earlier. Approximately 40,000 spermatozoa were incubated with 10–30 eggs in 30  $\mu$ l of HTF medium for 1 h at 37 °C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. After the gamete co-incubation, the eggs were washed by transferrence to three drops of fresh HTF to remove loosely attached spermatozoa, and briefly fixed in 4% PFA. The number of spermatozoa bound to the ZP of the egg was counted from a single focal plane under microscope. The number of spermatozoa from 6–12 eggs per sample were counted and compared between WT and KI with Mann-Whitney's rank sum test.

#### 4.6.4 In vitro fertilization (IVF) (I)

To study the fertilization capability of *Crisp4 iCre* KI spermatozoa, an IVF assay was performed. Fertilization of ZP free and ZP intact eggs incubated with spermatozoa from WT and KI mice were compared. Cauda epididymides from adult WT and KI mice were dissected and incubated in HTF medium (William A. Cook Australia Pty. Ltd.) at 37 °C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub> for 15 min to allow the spermatozoa to swim out. Eggs were collected as previously described. The ZP were dissolved by incubation of the eggs in acidic (pH 3.0) Tyrode's solution (Specialty Media). IVF was performed by incubation of 26–150 ZP free or ZP intact eggs with 50,000–

500,000 spermatozoa in HTF medium (William A. Cook Australia Pty. Ltd.) for overnight at 37 °C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Fertilization was deemed to have occurred when the egg had cleaved to 2-cell stage the following day. The percentages of fertilized ZP free and ZP intact eggs incubated with WT or KI spermatozoa were compared.

### 4.7 Assessment of Cre-mediated recombination

To study whether the Cre-recombinase activity in *Crisp4 iCre* KI mice was sufficient to induce recombination with its target loxP sequences, the KI mice were bred with mice carrying floxed alleles, and the recombination event analyzed both *in vitro* and *in vivo*.

### 4.7.1 Determination in vitro by PCR (I)

The *Crisp4 iCre* KI mice were bred with mice carrying a floxed *Runx1* allele (Putz *et al.*, 2006). Since *iCre* should only be expressed in a pattern identical with the endogenous *Crisp4* expression, tissue samples normally expressing and not expressing *Crisp4* were collected from  $Crisp4^{+/-} / Runx1^{+/fl}$  mice. The epididymides from 17, 20, 30 and 40 day-old mice, and IS, caput, corpus and cauda epididymidis and testis from adult mice, were collected. Genomic DNA from all samples was extracted, and PCR were performed with primers to recognize the WT, floxed, and Cre-recombined *Runx1* alleles.

### 4.7.2 Determination in vivo (I)

The Cre-mediated recombination was also analyzed *in vivo* by crossing the *Crisp4 iCre* KI mice with the Cre-recombinase excision reporter mouse line, named Z/RED (Vintersten *et al.*, 2004). Z/RED mice carry a transgenic construct comprised of a floxed *lacZ* gene followed by a *DsRed-T3* expression cassette coding for a red fluorescent protein. The cells carrying this construct express *lacZ* and not *DsRed-T3*, but when Cre is present, *lacZ* is excised and *DsRed-T3* is expressed. Thus, the recombination event can be assessed by detection of a red fluorescence signal from tissue samples. The epididymis, testis, vas deferens, lung, brain, spleen, skeletal muscle, seminal vesicles and thymus were collected from adult male *Crisp4<sup>+/-</sup>* / Z/RED<sup>+</sup> mice, and analyzed under fluorescent stereomicroscope or confocal microscope for red fluorescence emission.

## **5. RESULTS**

### 5.1 Characterization of the Pate gene family (II)

Novel epididymal genes coding for toxin-like, secreted, cysteine-rich proteins in the mouse were discovered by our group (Pujianto, 2007). However, simultaneously and independently two other research groups published these genes as members of a larger gene cluster, named as *Pate* (Levitin *et al.*, 2008) and *Anlp* ( $\underline{\alpha}$ -neurotoxin-like protein) (Kaplan *et al.*, 2007). These genes were reported to be predominantly expressed in the testis and the prostate, while epididymal expression was not studied (Levitin *et al.*, 2008), although the UniGene EST databank and our experimental data suggested high expression in the epididymis. Thus, we set out to characterize the members of the *Pate* family and their expression in the male mouse reproductive organs, with emphasis on the epididymis, in greater detail.

In silico analyses based on sequence comparisons of published family members and available annotations in Ensembl and NCBI genome databases led to minor revisions in the constitution of the family. First, although published, sequences that correspond to Pate-F (Levitin et al., 2008) and Anlp4 (Kaplan et al., 2007) were not found in the genome databases, and Pate-G expression was not detected by RT-PCR. Thereby, these genes were deemed not to be expressed members of the Pate family. Second, phylogenetic analyses based on protein sequences demonstrated that proteins coded by Acrv1 (acrosomal vesicle protein 1) (Wright et al., 1990) and Sslp1 (secreted seminal vesicle Ly-6 protein 1) (Li et al., 2006) share significant similarities with the PATE proteins, and should be considered as members of the family, as has also been suggested previously (Kaplan et al., 2007; Levitin et al., 2008). However, as the names Acrv1 and Sslp1 are already established, their possible re-naming should be considered carefully. Third, by analysis of the genomic cluster in which all known Pate genes reside, a previously uncharacterized gene 9230113P08Rik was detected, and recognized as a novel member of the Pate family based on gene structure and sequence. To maintain consistency with the previous members, we named it Pate-X. A phylogenetic tree based on amino acid sequences of the PATE proteins is presented in Figure 6.



**Figure 6.** A phylogenetic tree of the murine PATE proteins. PATE-F stands out as a non-member, whereas SSLP1, ACRV1 and PATE-X fit within the family.

#### 5.1.1 Expression of the Pate family genes (II)

Expression of several *Pate* family genes was studied by RT-PCR. In total, 24 male mouse tissues, as well as segment-specific expression in the epididymis (IS, caput, corpus and cauda) and the prostate (dorsal and ventral lobes), were studied. The results reveal all members to be predominantly expressed in male reproductive organs, with *Pate*, *Pate-A*, *Pate-C*, *Pate-DJ*, *Pate-N*, *Pate-X* and *Sslp1* showing no expression in non-reproductive organs. Expression in the testis was detected only for *Pate-B* (barely detectable), *Pate-E* (barely detectable), *Pate-M* and *Acrv1*, and in the prostate for *Pate-B*, *Pate-H*, *Pate-X* (barely detectable), *Sslp1* and *Acrv1*. However, all members studied were strongly expressed in the epididymis, and epididymal expression levels were highest, except for *Pate-B*, *Pate-H*, *Acrv1* and *Sslp1*. Expression in the seminal vesicles and the vas deferens was also common within the family. In addition, several members showed segment-specific

expression patterns in the epididymis, the most prominent of which was the expression of *Pate-H* strictly limited to cauda epididymidis. The results are summarized in Table 2.

We also detected alternately spliced mRNAs produced from *Pate-C* and *Pate-M*. *Pate-C*, a gene of four exons, expresses two mRNAs, of 1.3 kb and 0.3 kb in length, both containing the first two exons, and with alternate third exons. In addition, a 0.9 kb form of the 1.3 kb mRNA is produced by earlier polyadenylation. Of the three mRNAs the 0.9 kb one was predominant. *Pate-M* has 11 exons, of which at least four mRNAs were detected. The mRNAs consist of 11, 10, 4 and 3 exons, and are 1.7 kb, 1.7 kb, 2.2 kb and 2.2 kb in length, respectively. The predominant form was the 2.2 kb mRNA consisting of 4 exons.

	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $			l	K	K	ľ	K	ľ	ľ	ľ	Ĺ	Ĺ	ſ	ſ	$\left[\right]$	$\left[\right]$	ſ	ſ	$\left[\right]$	ľ		ľ	$\left  \right $	$\left[ \right]$	ſ		k
	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		/		$\backslash$	$\backslash$		Ż	$\backslash$	D						$\backslash$		Ľ	2						s S			
	$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	$\sum \mathcal{H}$	Ś	AN AN	STIL	$\mathbf{\mathbf{k}}$	J.		73 \ 1	20	Sel.		Jag Star	J.	$\mathbf{n}$	No.		Shi		Ś		s		U DI		ISO T	×50,	j
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -	$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	221	6	$\overset{\prime\prime}{\gg}$		シシシ	19 19		? ふ	33 25	; s s	诊入	$\langle \rangle$		E S	る	\$	(?) \ \	% \	No.	ردی روج	در جو		N. S.	0.1	5.0	0.1	
1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1   1	-   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$			ı	I	ı	ı	•	•								1					++	++	1	'	-		
+ · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		ī	ı	ı	ı	ı	'	'	,	-	,	-	,	-		-	-	-	-	,	•	+ +	+	'	<u> </u>		
·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·	-   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   +++   +++   +++   +++   -   -   -     -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   ++   +++   +++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   ++   +   + <td><math display="block"> \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc</math></td> <td><math display="block"> \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc</math></td> <td><math display="block"> \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc</math></td> <td>-</td> <td>ı</td> <td>+</td> <td>ı</td> <td>ı</td> <td>ı</td> <td>'</td> <td>,</td> <td>+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++</td> <td>+</td> <td>,</td> <td>+</td> <td>,</td> <td>-</td> <td>+</td> <td>-</td> <td>-</td> <td>-</td> <td>-</td> <td>+</td> <td>+ + +</td> <td>+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++</td> <td>++</td> <td>+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++</td> <td>+</td> <td>+</td> <td></td>	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	-	ı	+	ı	ı	ı	'	,	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+	,	+	,	-	+	-	-	-	-	+	+ + +	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	++	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+	+	
·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·	-   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı		,		,	,		,	1	,			,	ı	$^+_+$	+++	+	1			
·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·	-   +   -   -   -   -   -   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +   +	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		ı	I	I	ı	ı	ı	ı	1	1	ı	ı	ı	1	ı	1	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+	1	1		
+ - - - + + +   + - - - - + + +   + - - - - + + +   + - - - + + + +   + + - - + + + +   + + - - + + + + +   + + - - - + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + <	- - - - + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		ı	ı	+	ı	ı	ı		,		,	,		,	1	1	+		,	+	++	+++	+	1			
·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	+ + + ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ + ++ ++ ++	+ + + ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ + ++ ++ ++ + ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ++<		ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	·	,	,	•	,	+			+	+		+	+	ı	+ + +	++++	'	÷	++	+	
·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·   ·	- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	- $                                                                                                                                                                       -$		+	+	ı	ı	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+	++	+++++	+++				1	+	+	+	+++++	$^{+}_{+}$	++++	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	' +	-		
	- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	- $                                                                                                                        +$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$		ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	,	,		,	,		,		,		1	+	ı	ı	++++	'	'			
+   +   +     +   +   +     +   +   +     +   +   +     +   +   +     +   +   +     +   +   +     +   +   +     +   +   +     +   +   +     +   +   +     +   +   +     +   +   +     +   +   +     +   +   +     +   +   +     +   +   +     +   +   +     +   +   +     +   +   +     +   +   +     +   +   +     +   +   +     +   +   +     +   +   +     +   +   +     +   +   +	- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	- $                                                    +$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$	- $       +$ $ +$ $                                                     +$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$		ı	ı	I	ı	ı	1	'		-				-					-			1	ı	1	-		
+ +   + +   + +   + +   + +   + +   + +   + +   + +   + +   + +   + +   + +   + +   + +   + +   + +   + +   + +   + +   + +   + +   + +   + +   + +   + +   + +   + +   + +   + +   + +   + +   + +   + +   + +   + +   + +   + +   +	- - - - - - - + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	- $       +$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		ı	I	I	ı	·	1	'	-	-			-	-					-	++	•	+++	1	1	-		
++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ ++	- - - - - - - + +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ +++ <t< td=""><td><math display="block"> \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc</math></td><td><math display="block"> \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc</math></td><td><math display="block"> \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc</math></td><td></td><td>'</td><td>ı</td><td>I</td><td>ı</td><td>ı</td><td>•</td><td>'</td><td>•</td><td>•</td><td>ı</td><td>1</td><td>•</td><td>•</td><td>1</td><td>1</td><td>1</td><td>1</td><td></td><td></td><td>•</td><td>+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++</td><td>'</td><td>+</td><td>+</td><td></td><td></td></t<>	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		'	ı	I	ı	ı	•	'	•	•	ı	1	•	•	1	1	1	1			•	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	'	+	+		
		- $        -$	- $        -$	- $        -$		'	ı	I	ı	ı	'	'	•	•	ı	•	•	-	1	-	1	1	-		+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+ +	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+	
	ss of Pate family members based on RT-PCR results. Levels of expression were subjectively graded based on the intensity of the	s of <i>Pate</i> family members based on RT-PCR results. Levels of expression were subjectively graded based on the intensity of the table expression is graded from $+$ to $++++$ , where $+$ indicates barely detectable and $++++$ very strong expression. Dash (-)	so of <i>Pate</i> family members based on RT-PCR results. Levels of expression were subjectively graded based on the intensity of the table expression is graded from $+$ to $++++$ , where $+$ indicates barely detectable and $++++$ very strong expression. Dash (-) table expression. saliv.gland, saliv.gland, saliv.agland, s. intest., small intestine; I. intest., large intestine; sk. muscle, skeletal muscle; bulb.	s of <i>Pate</i> family members based on RT-PCR results. Levels of expression were subjectively graded based on the intensity of the rable expression is graded from $+$ to $++++$ , where $+$ indicates barely detectable and $++++$ very strong expression. Dash (-) able expression. saliv.gland, salivary gland; s. intest., small intestine; l. intest., large intestine; sk. muscle, skeletal muscle; bulb. gland; sem. ves., seminal vesicle; v.d., vas deferens; d. prost., dorsal prostate; v. prost., ventral prostate. (Modified from <i>II</i> :		ı	ı	I	ı	ı	ı	·	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	1	+	ı	ı	ı	+	++++	+ + +	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+	ŧ	++		



#### 5.1.2 Regulation of the Pate family genes by the testis (II)

Testicular regulation of the expression of *Pate* family genes was studied by comparison of gene expression levels with qRT-PCR in the proximal epididymis between intact mice, gonadectomized mice, and gonadectomized mice under testosterone replacement treatment. Samples from gonadectomized mice were collected 8 h and 1 d after gonadectomy, and 7 d after gonadectomy from those mice that received exogenous testosterone. All gene expression levels were compared to those of the intact mice. The results demonstrate that most genes reacted to the loss of testosterone and other testicular factors, with an increase in expression 8 h after gonadectomy. However, 1 d after gonadectomy, the expression levels returned to the levels of the intact mice, with only a few exceptions. In the IS Pate-C expression was significantly up- and Pate-N down-regulated 1 d after gonadectomy (P = 0.009 and P = 0.033, respectively). No statistically significant changes were detected in the caput epididymidis 1 d after gonadectomy. However, clear reductions in gene expression of Pate-A, Pate-N, Pate-X and Acrv1 in the proximal epididymis of gonadectomized mice under testosterone treatment were detected 7 d after gonadectomy (P < 0.001, P = 0.005, P = 0.012 and P = 0.045, respectively). Pate-A and Pate-N expressions were almost non-detectable, whereas *Pate-X* and *Acrv1* presented with an approximately 50% decrease in expression levels. The results also demonstrate the majority of the members studied to be more strongly expressed in the caput than in the IS, with the exceptions of Pate-A and Pate-N, predominantly expressed in the IS, and Acrv1, which was equally strong in the two segments. *Pate-H* and *Sslp1*, which were not expressed in the proximal epididymis, did not show any gain in expression after gonadectomy. The results are summarized in Table 3.

	IS 8h	cap 8h	IS 1d	cap 1d	7d + T
Pate-A	↑ N.S.	↑ N.S.	-	-	↓ ***
Pate-B	↑ N.S.	↑ **	↑ N.S.	-	-
Pate-C	↑ N.S.	↑ *	↑ **	-	-
Pate-DJ	↑ N.S.	-	-	-	-
Pate-E	↑ N.S.	↑ *	↑ N.S.	-	-
Pate-M	↓ N.S.	↑ *	-	↓ N.S.	-
Pate-N	↑ N.S.	↑ *	↓ *	↓ N.S.	↓ **
Pate-X	-	-	-	-	↓ *
Pate	↓ N.S.	-	-	↓ N.S.	-
Acrv1	↑ N.S.	-	-	-	↓ *

Table 3. Regulation of the *Pate* family genes by the testis.

The arrows indicate at least 2-fold up- or down-regulation of expression as compared to control levels. Pairwise comparisons were performed with t-test, and statistical significance is marked afterwards (P > 0.05, N.S.; P < 0.05, \*; P < 0.01, \*\*; P < 0.001, \*\*\*).

#### 5.2 Generation of the genetically modified mouse models

#### 5.2.1 Bmyc KO mouse model (III)

ES cells were targeted with the *Bmyc* KO targeting construct, and after screening with negative backbone PCR and Southern hybridization, one correctly targeted clone was found. Chimeric mice were produced to establish the *Bmyc* KO mouse line. Mice carrying the targeted *Bmyc* allele were identified by genomic PCR, and the PCR products were sequenced to validate the targeting. Heterozygous (HE) mice were bred with one another, and WT, HE and KO pups were born. However, out of 260 pups genotyped from HE x HE breedings, fewer homozygotes were born than expected by equal Mendelian distribution (Figure 7A,  $\gamma^2$ -test P < 0.01). The gender ratio was approximately 50:50 in all genotypes. The KO mice were fertile and produced litters in sizes and frequencies comparable to WT and HE mice (Figure 7B). Phenotypically, the KO mice appeared indistinguishable from their WT and HE littermates, although male homozygotes tended to weigh less than WT males. However, such weight differences were statistically significant only in 3 week-old mice (Figure 7C,  $11.2 \pm 1.1$  g and  $9.4 \pm 1.3$  g, n = 7 and n = 19; P = (0.003); in 4 week-old and older mice, the differences leveled off. The absence of *Bmyc* expression from KO mice was confirmed by RT-PCR from epididymal RNA.



**Figure 7.** (A) Expected and observed genotype ratios of pups born from HE x HE breedings.  $\chi^2$ -test P < 0.01 (\*\*), n = 260. (B) Mean litter sizes born from WT, HE and KO breedings. (C) Total body weights of 3 week- and 3 month-old male WT and KO mice. Pairwise comparisons were performed with t-test, and standard deviations are shown as error bars. P < 0.01 (\*\*), n = 7 and n = 19 for 3 week-old WT and KO, respectively, and n = 21 and n = 45 for 3 month-old WT and KO, respectively.

Mice were sacrificed at different ages, and tissue and blood serum samples collected. The epididymides and testes were smaller in KO and weighed less at all ages studied than in WT mice (Figure 8A–C). Testicular and epididymal weights

relative to whole body weights were also statistically significantly smaller at all time points, except for the epididymis of 3 week-old mice. No macroscopic differences in other organs were detected. Histology of testes and epididymides revealed no consistent gross abnormalities, although the average diameter of the epididymal lumen in segment 3 was significantly smaller in 3 month-old KO mice as compared with WT mice (96.2  $\pm$  7.1  $\mu$ m and 108.9  $\pm$  8.6  $\mu$ m, n = 5 and n = 5, respectively; P = 0.035). No changes in the number of proliferating or apoptotic cells were detected in the epididymides or the testes of 3 week-old or adult WT and KO mice.



**Figure 8.** (A) Testes and epididymides of 3 month-old KO and WT mice. (B) Testis and epididymis weights of 4 week-old WT and KO mice. Pairwise comparisons were performed with t-test, and standard deviations are shown as error bars. P < 0.001 (\*\*\*), n = 10 (WT) and 8 (KO). (C) Testis and epididymis weights relative to whole body weights of 4 week-old WT and KO mice. Pairwise comparisons were performed with t-test, and standard deviations are shown as error bars. P < 0.01 (\*\*) and P < 0.001 (\*\*\*), n = 10 (WT) and 8 (KO).

As testicular and epididymal weights are determined by the quantity of spermatogenic cells, the caudal sperm concentrations were compared between adult WT and KO mice. However, no statistically significant differences were detected  $(7.4 \pm 4.5 \text{ and } 6.1 \pm 2.1 \text{ x } 10^6 / \text{ml}, \text{n} = 9 \text{ and } \text{n} = 6 \text{ for WT}$  and KO, respectively). Further, the motility and morphology of the KO spermatozoa appeared normal, as already indicated by the normal fertility of the mice. Another factor which affects the size of reproductive organs is the quantity of circulating testosterone, yet no changes in serum testosterone levels were detected, although notably, serum LH levels were significantly higher in KO than in WT mice (LH concentrations  $63 \pm 46$  pg/ml and  $231 \pm 146$  pg/ml, n = 10 and n = 5 for WT and KO, respectively; P < 0.05).

To study whether the loss of *Bmyc* alters gene expression in the proximal epididymis, a microarray analysis from three adult WT and KO mice was performed. Based on criteria for significantly changed expression 32 up- and 20 down-regulated genes were identified. Functionally linked gene clusters were identified with the Bioconductor package "globaltest" (Goeman *et al.*, 2008) and

Gene Ontology (GO) (Harris *et al.*, 2004) and the Kyoto Encyclopaedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) (Kanehisa *et al.*, 2004) databases. Several biological pathways linked to defence responses against micro-organisms were identified, and within these, down-regulation of *Defb37*, *Defb39*, *Defb47* and *Defb50*. Further, known epididymal genes *Bfk* and *Lcn13* were significantly down- and up-regulated, respectively. However, upon validation of these observations with qRT-PCR, no significant changes in gene expression levels were detected.

As the loss of *Bmyc* did not cause any hyperplasic cell proliferation in the epididymis, the *Bmyc* KO mice were cross-bred with Gpx5-Tag2 transgenic mice (Sipila *et al.*, 2004). Although developed as a mouse model for epididymal tumorigenesis, the transgene expression of the Gpx5-Tag2 mice is insufficient to induce hyperplasia in the epididymis, as opposed to the higher expression in the Gpx5-Tag1 mouse line which is. Thus, it was hypothesized that the combined low expression of the *Tag* oncogene and the loss of *Bmyc* could be sufficient to induce epididymal hyperplasia or tumorigenesis. The epididymides of the Gpx5-Tag2<sup>+/WT</sup> / *Bmyc*<sup>-/-</sup> mice were analyzed at the ages of 3 m and 12 m, but no changes as compared to Gpx5-Tag2<sup>+/WT</sup> / *Bmyc*<sup>+/+</sup> control mice were detected.

#### 5.2.1.1 Loss of Bmyc in the testis (III)

The small size of the *Bmyc* KO testes indicates that the gene has a role in the function or development of the organ, although in previous studies *Bmyc* expression in the testes has not been detected (Gregory *et al.*, 2000; Cornwall *et al.*, 2001). Due to the expression of Myc family genes in proliferating tissues and during development (Domashenko et al., 1997), Bmyc expression in the testes of 2-6 week-old mice was studied by qRT-PCR, to, indeed, find the gene to be expressed at low levels (data not shown). Since BMYC has been demonstrated to inhibit MYC, it was hypothesized that the loss of BMYC would lead to an increase in MYC activity. Thus, MYC activity was assessed by the comparison of expression levels of known MYC regulated genes in the testes of juvenile and adult KO and WT mice. An increase in expression was detected in 4 week-old mice for Cdk4 (cyclin dependent kinase 4), Cdc2l1, Brca1 and Mina, although such increase was statistically significant only for Cdk4. The expression of Mvc itself was also statistically significantly up-regulated in 4 week-old KO mice. Interestingly, however, no changes in gene expression levels between WT and KO in the testes of adult mice were detected. Despite the small size of the KO testes, histology revealed no gross abnormalities in adult or in pre-pubescent mice. However, apoptotic cells in the juvenile KO testes were often observed, as was also confirmed by the TUNEL analysis (Figure 9 A-B), and in two mice (out of 37 studied) severely atrophied seminiferous tubules devoid of spermatogenic cells were also detected (Figure 9 C).



**Figure 9. (A)** TUNEL staining of 3 week-old WT testis. **(B)** TUNEL staining of 3 week-old *Bmyc* KO testis. **(C)** Hematoxylin and eosin staining of adult *Bmyc* KO testis. (From *III*: Figure 5.)

#### 5.2.2 Crisp4 iCre knock-in mouse model (I)

Mice that carried the targeted *Crisp4* allele were identified by genomic PCR, and the PCR products sequenced to validate correct targeting. Heterozygous mice were bred with one another, and produced male and female WT, HE and KI offspring in the expected Mendelian distributions. The KI mice were indistinguishable from their WT and HE littermates. Loss of Crisp4 expression was confirmed by RT-PCR from epididymides of adult KI mice. Both KI males and females proved to be fertile, and produced litters comparable in size and frequency to WT breeding pairs. The KI males were sacrificed at the age of 3 months, and tissue and blood serum samples collected. The testes of the KI mice weighed significantly less than those of WT mice  $(76 \pm 11 \text{ mg and } 103 \pm 22 \text{ mg}, n = 22 \text{ and } n = 7$ , respectively; P = 0.004), which remained significant even after normalization against total body weights (P = 0.013). The epididymides also weighed less in KI than in WT mice  $(30 \pm 3 \text{ mg and } 35 \pm 6 \text{ mg}, n = 21 \text{ and } n = 7)$ , but such difference was not statistically significant. However, no abnormalities were detected in testicular or epididymal histology. No differences in serum hormone levels were either observed. Further, the caudal sperm concentrations were similar between both WT and KI mice, and the KI sperm appeared to have normal motility and morphology.

#### 5.2.2.1 Fertility in vitro (I)

Fertility of the *Crisp4 iCre* KI males was further assessed through an IVF assay. Spermatozoa from KI mice were significantly less able to fertilize ZP intact eggs than WT spermatozoa (Figure 11A,  $11.2 \pm 4.6\%$  and  $58.2 \pm 26.1\%$ , respectively P < 0.001). However, when the eggs were treated to dissolve the ZP prior to the gamete co-incubation, no differences in fertilization rates between KI and WT spermatozoa were detected (Figure 10A,  $80.9 \pm 11.9\%$  and  $79.2 \pm 23.8\%$ , respectively).

#### 5.2.2.2 Functional sperm studies (I)

In addition to the IVF assay, different functional characteristics of the KI spermatozoa were also determined. Based on levels of protein tyrosine phosphorylation, the KI spermatozoa were capacitated normally upon induction. Further, staining of the spermatozoa revealed that the proportion of spontaneously acrosome reacted spermatozoa was similar between WT and KI, and that the spermatozoa underwent the acrosome reaction normally upon induction with calcium ionophore. However, when induced with progesterone, the KI spermatozoa (Figure 10B). Finally, the sperm–egg binding assay indicated that the KI spermatozoa were less able to bind with the egg ZP than the WT spermatozoa (Figure 10C).



**Figure 10. (A)** IVF results with WT and KI spermatozoa and intact and ZP free eggs. Each dot represents the percentage of fertilized eggs in a single experiment. n = 7 (WT untreated), n = 9 (KI untreated), n = 6 (WT ZP free) and n = 6 (KI ZP free). **(B)** Percentual increase in the amount of acrosome reacted spermatozoa after induction with progesterone versus uninduced controls. n = 4. **(C)** Percentages of eggs with five or less bound spermatozoa after gamete co-incubation. n = 109 and 88, respectively.

#### 5.2.2.3 Characterization of iCre expression and function (I)

To determine whether the *iCre* transgene was expressed in a pattern similar to that of the endogenous *Crisp4*, qRT-PCR analyses from several mouse tissues and from the epididymis at different ages were performed. Results demonstrated that *iCre* expression was highest in the IS and caput epididymidis. Expression in the corpus epididymidis was notably lower, with barely detectable expression levels in the cauda epididymidis, testis, skeletal muscle, lung, brain, and vas deferens (Figure 11A). No expression was detectable in any other organs studied. Epididymal expression was first detected in 20 day-old mice, which increased towards adulthood (data not shown). In vivo functionality of the Cre-recombinase was assessed by crossing the Crisp4 *iCre* KI mouse line with mice carrying floxed alleles and by study of the occurrence of the recombination event in the offspring. After recombination, mice carrying the Z/RED allele express DsRed-T3 gene producing red fluorescence in the cells in which the recombinase is expressed. Tissues with known expression of endogenous Crisp4 and tissues of Crisp4 iCre KI mice as presented with detectable *iCre* expression were analyzed under fluorescent stereomicroscope. A fluorescent signal was detected only in the proximal epididymis. Furthermore, fluorescence confocal microscopy revealed the epididymal epithelial cells to emit fluorescence, although such fluorescence was not ubiquitous (Figure 11B). The recombination event was also assessed from  $Crisp4^{+/-1}$  /  $Runx I^{+/fI}$  mice by genomic PCR with primers that recognize the WT, floxed and recombined *Runx1* allele. The results confirmed that the recombined allele could be detected only in the epididymis, which indicates that the recombinase is unable to induce detectable amounts of recombination in any tissues with low *iCre* or endogenous *Crisp4* expression levels (data not shown).



**Figure 11. (A)** Relative expression of *iCre* in 2 month-old heterozygous *Crisp4 iCre* KI mice. Standard deviations are shown as error bars. (Modified from *I*: Figure 2.) **(B)** Confocal microscope image of a cross section of the caput epididymis of  $Crisp4^{+/-}$  / Z/RED<sup>+</sup> mouse. Fluorescent columnar epithelial cells are clearly visible. Scale bar = 50 µm.

### 6. DISCUSSION

#### 6.1 The *Pate* gene family

Members of the *Pate* family were identified from epididymal EST databases, and the family has also been described by two other research groups independently (Kaplan et al., 2007; Levitin et al., 2008). The first PATE gene was discovered in the human by Bera *et al.* and named after high expression in the testis and the prostate (Bera et al., 2002). Later, expression of the other family members was characterized by Levitin *et al.*, who also reported predominant expression in the testis and the prostate, to thereby classify the genes into the *Pate* family (Levitin et al., 2008). All known Pate-genes reside in a single genomic cluster 1.13 Mb in length in chromosomal region 9A4 of the mouse. Non-expressed pseudogenes have also been observed in the area (Kaplan et al., 2007; Levitin et al., 2008). The availability of the mouse genome sequence, along with gene prediction algorithms and sequence comparison tools, have enabled the characterization of the Pate cluster *in silico*. Thus, by comparison of sequences of published *Pate* members to the annotated genes in genomic databases, a revised family tree of the members was constructed. Purely based on *in silico* analyses, the following observations were made: 1) the genes Pate-F and Anlp4 do not exist, 2) Acrv1 and Sslp1 should be considered as members of the Pate-family, and 3) a previously uncharacterized gene, 9230113P08Rik, also belongs to the Pate-family. These findings were subsequently confirmed by RT-PCR analyses, which also revealed no expression of Pate-G in any of the tissues studied, to suggest that it may also be a pseudogene. In addition, and more remarkably, with few exceptions all Pate genes studied were observed to be predominantly expressed in the epididymis, to correspond to the predicted expression patterns in EST databases. Although the epididymis had not been included in previous *Pate* expression profiling studies, previously published high expression levels in the testis or the prostate could neither be confirmed (Levitin et al., 2008), which thus makes the Pate acronym as somewhat misleading. Altogether, the study validated the use of available genomic databases and in silico methods, together with in vitro analyses in the search for and characterization of novel genes.

Gene expression studies revealed that most of the *Pate* genes react to loss of androgens or other testicular factors caused by gonadectomy. However, in most cases the expression returned to pre-gonadectomy levels 1 day after gonadectomy, which indicates that the *Pate* genes expressed in the epididymis are not solely regulated by the testis. The regulation of expression of certain *Pate* genes by androgens has also been previously reported in the seminal vesicle and the prostate (Levitin *et al.*, 2008; Li *et al.*, 2006). Furthermore, *Pate-A* and *Pate-N* were detected to be predominantly regulated by luminal testicular factors, since their

expression in the epididymides was not maintained after gonadectomy in gonadectomized mice under testosterone replacement treatment. Interestingly, both *Pate-A* and *Pate-N* are more strongly expressed in the IS than in the caput epididymidis. Thus, their expression patterns support current models of regulation of predominantly IS expressed genes by luminal factors rather than circulating androgens (Hinton *et al.*, 1998; Sipila *et al.*, 2006). Partial lumicrine regulation of *Pate-X* and *Acrv1* was also detected, but both were expressed in the caput more strongly than in the IS, which indicates that they may be differentially regulated in the two segments.

The Pate genes code for putatively secreted, cysteine-rich proteins. The genes are fairly uniform in structure, consisting of three exons, with the exceptions of *Pate-*C, Pate-M and Acrv1, which instead have four, eleven and four exons, respectively. The proteins are also similar in size, ranging from 98 to 136 amino acids, with the exception of Acrv1 of 261 amino acids. All proteins have a signal peptide sequence which suggests that they are secreted and contain a C-terminal TFP/Ly-6/uPAR (three-fingered protein/Ly-6/urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor) domain with 8-10 highly conserved cysteine-residues. The domain is identified in several snake toxin proteins, in certain membrane receptors, and in murine Ly-6 glycolipid-anchored membrane proteins (Low et al., 1976; Blasi et al., 1987; Ploug, 2003; Ploug et al., 1994). No enzymatic activities of the TFP/Ly-6/uPAR domain have been identified, but it binds to a variety of cell surface receptors, ion channels and enzymes (Menez, 1998; Galat et al., 2008). Certain recombinant PATE proteins have also been demonstrated to modulate nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (nAChRs), although the involvement of the TFP/Ly-6/uPAR domain was not assessed (Levitin et al., 2008).

The structure of the PATE proteins and their probable localization into the epididymal luminal fluid may give rise to certain clues to their functionality. In addition to PATEs, several members of other protein families with a conserved distribution of cysteine-residues, such as CRISPs,  $\beta$ -defensins and ADAMs, have also been detected in the luminal fluid. It has been hypothesized that the rigid structure of the proteins, conferred by intramolecular disulfide bridges formed between the cysteine-residues, may be required for the prevention of unwanted protein aggregation and misfolding in the dehydrated luminal fluid (Cornwall *et al.*, 2007). Notably, similar cysteine-rich proteins, especially of the CRISP family, are common in venoms of various reptiles, in which toxicity is mediated through the inhibition of the normal functionality of ion channels (Gibbs *et al.*, 2007). However, of mammalian toxin-like proteins, only CRISP2 has been demonstrated to regulate ion-channel activities (Gibbs *et al.*, 2006). By the modulation of nAChRs, however, PATE proteins may participate in the acrosome reaction, as the inhibition of sperm nAChRs prevents acetylcholine mediated acrosome reaction

(Bray *et al.*, 2002). The potential ability of PATEs to be adsorbed into the sperm membrane through the TFP/Ly-6/uPAR domain, as indicated by the Ly-6 proteins (Ploug *et al.*, 1994), also indicates that PATEs may be involved in events during the acrosome reaction.

However, it is also possible that PATEs do not function by direct interaction with the spermatozoa. It has been demonstrated that toxin-like proteins in mammals often have antimicrobial properties (reviewed in (Kaplan et al., 2007)). The organization of the genomic locus which contains the *Pate* genes provides further support for this theory. In venomous animals, genes coding for toxin proteins are under constant selective pressure, so that the venom can maintain its effectiveness against target prey. Thereby, a similar evolutionary arms race could be expected between pathogenic microbes and mammalian genes coding for antimicrobial peptides, particularly in systems that are inaccessible to the immune cells, such as the epididymal lumen. The genomic areas in which the *Pate* genes reside, contain several expressed genes, as well as pseudogenes, and the overall consistency varies between species (Levitin *et al.*, 2008), which indicates an evolutionally active gene family, in which new members arise through duplications and mutations, while diversity guarantees the maintenance of essential functions. Although no experimental evidence with respect to the anti-microbial properties of PATEs is available, the family presents as an interesting candidate as a protector of the spermatozoa against microbes.

## 6.2 Generation of genetically modified mouse models

To study the function of a gene *in vivo*, loss of function, or knock-out, animal models have proven to be an effective approach. *In vitro* models with cell lines may provide important data on the molecular mechanisms of a protein, but lack most of the sophisticated genetic and systemic interactions inherent in whole organisms. However, the generation of even simple genetically modified mouse models is laborious, time consuming and thereby also expensive. Although advances have been made in large-scale generation of knock-outs, such as the Knock-out Mouse Project (KOMP) and the International Gene Trap Consortium (IGTC) (reviewed in (Guan *et al.*, 2010)), there is still a need for custom-made constructs and their individual targeting. For this thesis, two mouse models with targeted genetic mutations were made, and they provide certain insight into the process as a whole.

The traditional methods in the cloning of transgenic constructs have relied on taking advantage of endogenous restriction endonuclease recognition sequences in the genomic area to be modified, thus, limiting freedom in experimental design. The cloning method to generate the targeting constructs used in these studies was based on homologous recombination (Muyrers *et al.*, 1999; Zhang *et al.*, 2000), to allow sequence independent manipulation of the targeted loci. Targeting constructs or targeted ES cell lines suitable for this study's purposes provided by KOMP or IGTC were not available: *Bmyc* only has one exon, and is thereby one of the rare genes excluded from large-scale targeting projects that utilize intronic gene targeting, and although targeted *Crisp4* cell lines do exist, none include the *iCre* coding gene knocked in. Hence, both custom made targeting vector construction, along with independent targeting, were required for these projects.

Although construction of the targeting vectors with recombineering cloning is relatively simple and quick, correct targeting in the ES cells remains a rare phenomenon, and screening for the correct recombinants can be laborious. As correct targeting is based on sequence homology, the length of the targeting construct homology arms is a factor in the targeting efficiency. Although longer homology arms should provide more efficient targeting in theory, in practice a combined homology arm length of 6–10 kb is commonly used (Hasty *et al.*, 2000). Longer homology arms also create additional challenges in screening for correct recombinants, which still relies heavily on PCR over one or both homology arms. For this study two targeting constructs for *Bmyc* were made; one with 2.2 kb and 5.0 kb 5' and 3' long homology arms, respectively, and another with 15.3 kb and 10.4 kb arms. Targeting with the first construct yielded no correct recombinants (0/288), whereas a single correctly targeted clone was obtained with the second construct (1/288). However, no definite conclusions can be made with respect to the effect of homology arm lengths on targeting efficiency from such small numbers of colonies picked and correct recombinants. Further, to overcome the challenges in screening with positive PCR over the homology arms, an alternate method was utilized, the negative backbone screening (McDermott et al., 2004), with which method vector plasmid sequences were amplified from targeted ES cell clones by PCR, to identify clones that carried randomly integrated targeting construct. From 288 clones picked 268 were excluded, to leave only 20 clones to validate for correct targeting. Since identification of correctly targeted clones with Southern hybridization is laborious and requires extensive optimization, the elimination of the vast majority of clones from the analysis is a definite improvement. Further, the Expand Long Template PCR System used for positive screening of the targeted Crisp4 clones over the 8.3 kb homology arm proved efficient, to obviate the Southern hybridization altogether. As such, targeting constructs with longer homology arms can be used if and when desired, and the negative backbone PCR can be combined with the positive long range PCR to overcome any likely difficulties in screening for correctly targeted clones caused by longer homology arms.

### 6.3 Bmyc in reproductive organs

Although members of the *Myc* family of transcriptional regulators are not known for their functions in reproductive organs, the predominantly epididymal *Bmyc* presents an interesting exception. The protein BMYC has been demonstrated to inhibit MYC and thereby suggested to be a potential tumor suppressor. The practically complete absence of primary epididymal tumors and the loss of *Bmyc* expression from the epididymides of mouse model for epididymal tumorigenesis, the GPX5-Tag1 mice, further support this hypothesis. The possible role of BMYC as an epididymis-specific transcription factor is further of interest. However, no definite evidence for the functions of BMYC *in vivo* has been available.

To address these questions, a *Bmyc* KO mouse model was generated by homologous recombination. Although *Myc* genes are strongly expressed during embryonic development, *Bmyc* deficient mice were born and appeared indistinguishable from their WT and HE littermates. However, the observed lower than expected percentage of KO pups born from HE x HE breedings along with their lower body weight, indicated a developmental defect. Irrespectively, litter sizes and frequencies from KO x KO breedings were comparable with WT x WT breedings, and no defective embryos were detected. In addition to these observations, the high *Bmyc* expression during pre-implantation development (Domashenko *et al.*, 1997) suggests that loss of *Bmyc* may cause a delay in development, to give the WT and HE embryos a competitive advantage, resulting in the detected skewered ratio of genotypes. The normal litter sizes from KO x KO breedings would support this hypothesis, as embryos of the same genotype would have no advantage over one another. However, further experimental evidence is required to clarify the role of *Bmyc* during embryonic development.

Otherwise the *Bmyc* deficient mice proved to be healthy and fertile. However, their epididymides and, interestingly, testes were smaller and weighed less than those of WT mice. As the quantity of spermatozoa affects the total weights of both tissues, caudal sperm concentrations were assessed. However, these proved comparable between WT and KO, and the spermatozoa appeared morphologically normal and also presented normal motility. A common cause for smaller male reproductive organs is lower concentration of serum testosterone, and as *Bmyc* is also expressed in the hypothalamus and the pituitary (Gregory *et al.*, 2000), the correct operation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-testicular axis was assessed by measurement of serum hormone concentrations. Although testosterone levels were normal, in the KO mice the concentration of LH was significantly increased. Increased LH levels often indicate a testicular defect, suggesting that the observed small size of the testes was a primary effect that results from the loss of *Bmyc*. However, expression of *Bmyc* in the adult testis has not been detected, although since *Myc* genes are

often more highly expressed in proliferating tissues, the expression of *Bmyc* in the testes of juvenile mice was studied. As predicted, low levels of expression were detected. To further study the link between loss of *Bmyc* and the small size of the KO testes, gene expression levels in the testes of WT and KO mice were compared. As BMYC has been reported to inhibit MYC function at the protein level, expression levels of known MYC regulated genes were measured in addition to *Myc* itself. Notably, expression levels of *Myc* and its target genes were higher in the KO mice than in the WT mice at the age of 4 weeks, whereas no differences were detected in adult mice. However, these increases were relatively minor, and statistically significant only for *Myc* and *Cdk4*. Nevertheless, these data provide evidence that BMYC inhibits MYC activity and expression *in vivo*.

Irrespectively of the smaller size of the KO testes, morphology and histology did not reveal any gross abnormalities. However, in pre-pubescent KO mice, apoptotic cells were often detected in the testes, and this increased quantity of apoptosis was confirmed by TUNEL stainings. Transgenic mice (Suzuki et al., 1996) and rats (Kodaira et al., 1996) overexpressing Myc in the testis have been generated, and, interestingly, display excessive apoptosis of spermatogenic cells and atrophy of the seminiferous tubules, which results in male infertility. Although the Bmyc KO mice also have increased Myc expression in the testis, they are fertile. However, individual cases of testicular atrophy were detected in *Bmyc* KO mice. Although rare and milder than in *Myc* transgenic animals, the resemblance was clear. The mild phenotype of the Bmyc KO mice may also be explained by the moderate  $(\sim 1.5$ -fold) and transient increase in Myc expression. Unfortunately, Myc levels in the testes of the transgenic animals were not quantified (Suzuki et al., 1996; Kodaira et al., 1996). Interestingly, a similar phenotype was also detected in the KO mice of *p19<sup>lnk4d</sup>*, an inhibitor of CDK4 (Buchold *et al.*, 2007). However, testicular atrophy was detected only in 2 out of 7 mice studied, and only few seminiferous tubules were affected. Thereby, the severity of the phenotype in p19<sup>Ink4d</sup> KO mice resembles that as detected in *Bmvc* KO mice. The loss of a CDK4 inhibitor should lead to an increase in CDK4 activity, and, interestingly, increased Cdk4 expression was also detected in the testes of the Bmyc KO mice. Unfortunately, the Cdk4 expression level in the testes of the  $p19^{Ink4\tilde{d}}$  KO mice was not measured (Buchold et al., 2007). However, increased CDK4 activity in the spermatogenic cells may be one of the factors which ultimately leads to apoptosis and atrophy of the seminiferous tubules. Since Cdk4 is a direct downstream target gene of Myc, increase of its expression in Bmyc KO mice results from increased MYC activity caused by the loss of its inhibitor, BMYC. Thereby, the role of *Bmyc* in the developing testis can be conjectured to guarantee normal progression of the cell cycle of spermatogenic cells, by prevention of excess activity of MYC. However, only minor problems caused by the loss of *Bmyc* indicate a more comprehensive regulatory network. Further, whether BMYC inhibits transcription of *Myc* or the activity of the protein, or possibly both, remains unknown.

Although BMYC lacks a DNA binding domain, it contains a transcriptional activation domain and has been demonstrated to act as a transcription factor in vitro with a partner to allow interactions with DNA (Resar et al., 1993). However, the ability of BMYC to regulate transcription *in vivo* has not been shown, and its binding partners are also unknown, although a sequence similarity with MYC would indicate that the two proteins may interact with the same partners (Resar et al., 1993). To study the effect of BMYC in regulation of transcription in vivo, gene expression profiles in the epididymides of adult WT and Bmyc KO mice by microarray were compared. Although changes in expression levels of several genes were detected, none of them were able to be confirmed with qRT-PCR. This may further indicate that the role of BMYC is to inhibit excessive MYC activity, and the loss of this inhibition from slowly proliferating epididymal epithelial cells with low levels of Myc expression is not sufficient to lead to an abnormal proliferation of cells caused by MYC. An attempt to increase proliferation in the epididymis by crossing *Bmyc* KO mice with GPX5-Tag2 mice was also made. The GPX5-Tag2 mice express the oncogenic simian virus 40 T antigen at low levels in the epididymis. Higher SV40-Tag expression in GPX5-Tag1 transgenic mice results in severe epididymal hyperplasia with almost complete loss of Bmyc expression. Thus, it was conjectured that the combined loss of *Bmyc* and a lower expression of SV40-Tag in GPX5-Tag2 mice could cause an increase in cell proliferation in the epididymis. However, no such increase was detected, to indicate that *Bmvc* may not be the limitation factor in SV40-Tag mediated proliferation. Since SV40-Tag commonly affects through the retinoblastoma pathway (reviewed in (Saenz Robles et al., 2009)), the lack of effect caused by the disruption of the MYC pathway was not unexpected. Overall, even though previously published in vitro data and results from changes in gene expression levels in the testis of juvenile *Bmyc* KO mice strongly support the role of BMYC as an inhibitor of MYC in vivo, the significance of its high expression in the epididymis remains indeterminate.

## 6.4 Crisp4 in reproduction

*Crisp4* is the least known member of the gene family coding for secreted, cysteinerich proteins (Jalkanen *et al.*, 2005a; Nolan *et al.*, 2006). The family is renowned for its expression in the male reproductive organs, especially in the epididymis, wherein CRISP1 is one of the most abundant protein components of the luminal fluid (Cameo *et al.*, 1976). CRISPs have been demonstrated to be present in practically all stages of sperm development and maturation, commencing from CRISP2 in testis to CRISP1 and CRISP4 in the epididymis and CRISP3 in seminal plasma, and involved in the regulation of sperm capacitation, the acrosome reaction and sperm-egg interactions (reviewed in (Koppers *et al.*, 2011)). The molecular mechanisms through which CRISPs function are poorly understood, but regulation of ion channels is likely involved. Further, protein motifs responsible for egg interactions have been identified (Ellerman *et al.*, 2006). However, despite the amounts of data which implicate the importance of CRISPs in sperm development and fertility, their roles *in vivo* have been proven minor as based on the results obtained from knock-out models of *Crisp1* (Da Ros *et al.*, 2008) and *Crisp4* (Gibbs *et al.*, 2011).

Although Crisp4 has only been found from the mouse and the rat, the naming of the family members is unambiguous, and murine Crisp4 is likely to be the true orthologue of human *CRISP1*, particularly as based on the S2 egg binding motifs of the two proteins, which differ by only one amino acid. It has also been conjectured that both mouse CRISP1 and CRISP4 may be functional homologues of human CRISP1. Notably, the blocking of CRISP1 function of human spermatozoa with anti-human-CRISP1 antibody prevented sperm-egg fusion in a hamster oocyte penetration assay (Cohen et al., 2001). Thereby, to simulate the loss of human CRISP1 in a mouse, the function of both CRISP1 and CRISP4 may need to be prevented, as also indicated by the mild decreases in the fertilization capabilities of  $Crisp1^{-/-}$  and  $Crisp4^{-/-}$  spermatozoa, an approach which was taken by Da Ros *et al.* (2008) by the performance of IVF with Crisp1<sup>-/-</sup> spermatozoa incubated with the anti-human-CRISP1 antibody. However, since the antibody had no negative effect on the fertilization rate, it was concluded that CRISP4 is not the protein which compensates for the loss of CRISP1. However, as the ability of the polyclonal human antibody to inhibit, or even bind to, mouse CRISP4 was not demonstrated (Da Ros et al., 2008; Hayashi et al., 1996), to assume this conclusion is premature. Thereby, the interplay and functional redundancies between CRISP1, CRISP2, CRISP4 and even possibly other proteins during sperm-egg interactions still remains to be evaluated.

To study the role of *Crisp4* in reproduction, a *Crisp4* deficient mouse model was generated. During the course of this study a *Crisp4* KO mouse model was also published by Gibbs *et al.* (Gibbs *et al.*, 2011). Although the *Crisp4* KO mice were fertile and did not display any severe phenotypic abnormalities, *Crisp4<sup>-/-</sup>* spermatozoa were detected to perform poorly in an IVF assay with ZP intact eggs. However, when the eggs were treated to dissolve the ZP, the *Crisp4<sup>-/-</sup>* spermatozoa were as efficient at fertilization as WT spermatozoa. The inability of the spermatozoa to penetrate the ZP indicates a defect in the acrosome reaction, and, correspondingly, a significant decrease in the percentage of acrosome reacted spermatozoa after induction with progesterone, the natural inducer of the acrosome reaction, was detected. However, induction of the acrosome reaction with calcium ionophore, an ion transporter, revealed no differences between WT and KO
spermatozoa. Thereby, this would indicate that CRISP4 acts during the endogenous progesterone mediated signaling pathway which leads to the acrosome reaction. Indeed, Gibbs *et al.* (2011) have been able to demonstrate that CRISP4 inhibits the activity of the sperm membrane transient receptor potential ion channel TRPM8 which regulates the Ca<sup>2+</sup> flow within the spermatozoa. However, the normal fertility of the *Crisp4* KO mice *in vivo* suggests compensatory mechanisms, and although CRISP4 would appear to act primarily in regulation of the acrosome reaction and CRISP1 during sperm–egg membrane fusion, possible redundancies between the two proteins should still not be excluded.

### 6.5 iCre expression and recombinase activity in Crisp4 iCre KI mice

Many genes which code for proteins potentially involved in epididymal sperm maturation, or in other epididymal functions, are expressed in a wide variety of tissues. Thus, to study these roles strictly in the epididymis *in vivo* with knock-out models, requires the use of conditional knock-outs. However, to date no epididymis-specific Cre-recombinase expressing mouse models have been available. Several novel epididymis-specific genes have been discovered in our previous studies (Jalkanen *et al.*, 2005a; Penttinen *et al.*, 2003; Jalkanen *et al.*, 2005b; Jalkanen *et al.*, 2006b; Jalkanen *et al.*, 2006a), some of which have proven good candidates for the generation of *iCre* knock-in models. The knock-in approach results in useful dual-purpose mouse models: the homozygotes can be used as loss-of-function models, whereas the heterozygotes function as epididymis-specific Cre-recombinase expressing mice. *Crisp4* was one of the genes selected for generation of an *iCre* knock-in model due to its specific expression in the proximal epididymis and its potential relevance in sperm maturation and during fertilization.

The expression of *iCre* in the *Crisp4 iCre* knock-in mice was assessed with qRT-PCR. The minor differences to *Crisp4* expression detected in tissues with very low levels of gene expression likely result from sensitivity of the detection method, and of different genetic backgrounds used in gene expression studies. However, *iCre* was predominantly expressed in the IS and caput epididymidis, and its expression was first detected in 20 day-old mice to closely resemble, as predicted, the endogenous *Crisp4* expression pattern. The functionality of the recombinase *in vivo* was assessed by crossing the *Crisp4 iCre* KI mice with Cre-excision reporter mice which carry floxed alleles whose recombination is detectable. Detection of fluorescence from Z/RED<sup>+/WT</sup> / *Crisp4<sup>+/iCre</sup>* mice indicated recombinase activity only in the epithelial cells of the proximal epididymis. Genomic PCR of the recombined *Runx1* allele from *Runx1<sup>+/fl</sup>* / *Crisp4<sup>+/iCre</sup>* mice similarly demonstrated recombination only in the epididymis. Neither method provided evidence of any recombinase activity in tissues with reported low levels of *Crisp4* or *iCre*  expression. Although this does not necessarily disprove Crisp4 to be expressed outside the epididymis, the results indicate that the Crisp4 iCre KI mice can be used to knock out genes specifically in the epididymis. However, the data also suggest that the recombinase is not active in all epididymal epithelial cells; the fluorescence in the epididymal epithelium of  $Z/\text{RED}^{+/\text{WT}} / Crisp4^{+/iCre}$  mice is mosaic, and the PCR signal from the unrecombined floxed Runx1 allele in the  $Runx I^{+/fl} / Crisp 4^{+/iCre}$  mice can still be detected. Although these observations could be interpreted as proof of selective Crisp4 expression in the epididymis, Reddy et al. (2008) have demonstrated presence of CRISP4 throughout the epididymal epithelium. It can also be argued that the DsRed-T3 transgene expression of the  $Z/RED^{+/WT} / Crisp4^{+/iCre}$  mice is not ubiquitous, and that the PCR signal from the unrecombined floxed Runx1 allele in the Runx1<sup>+/fl</sup> / Crisp4<sup>+/iCre</sup> mice originates from cells in the epididymis that do not express Crisp4, such as the spermatozoa or endothelial cells of the blood vessels. However, altogether the data indicates that Cre-recombinase activity of Crisp4 iCre KI mice is insufficient to ensure complete knock-out of floxed alleles in the epididymis, which should be taken into consideration in the interpretation of results obtained when this mouse model is concerned.

### 6.6 Future prospects

With the technological advances which allow increased efficiency in genome sequencing and gene expression profiling, the quantity of freely available data in online databanks have skyrocketed in recent years, a trend likely to continue in the future, too. However, to transform such raw data into information with biological significance still requires work. In this thesis the effectiveness of combined *in silico, in vitro* and *in vivo* methods in identifying novel epididymal genes and characterizing their significance in reproductive physiology have been demonstrated. As a result of the long timescale involved from identification of a novel gene to a mouse model revealing its significance *in vivo*, these approaches are evaluated in projects concerning different genes.

The *Pate* genes represent the largest known gene family with predominantly epididymal expression. Although not restricted to the epididymis, the genes code for putatively secreted proteins which eventually end up in the seminal plasma from different organs to contribute to its constitution. The structure of the proteins indicates ion channel regulatory functions, and their localization within the male reproductive tract further indicates direct and/or indirect effects on maturation and/or storage of the spermatozoa. Since this family has also been identified in the human, it would also indicate the members to be potentially clinically relevant, too. However, the relatively large number of PATE proteins and their structural similarities indicate redundancy within the family. Thereby, as based on the current

knowledge of the family, the members prove to be poor candidates for *in vivo* studies with knock-out mouse models, and further *in vitro* studies to clarify their significance are required.

Despite high epididymal expression of *Bmyc*, its loss seemed to have no effect on the gene expression profile in the epididymis. Surprisingly, however, the ability of BMYC to inhibit the activity of MYC *in vivo* was demonstrated in the juvenile testis. Further, up-regulation of *Myc* led to increased apoptosis in the seminiferous tubules. Thus, although *Bmyc* has not been found in human, factors which facilitate the suppression of the activity of MYC may prove to be of clinical interest, particularly in consideration of increased MYC activity in several cancers.

*Crisp4* was one of the novel epididymal genes discovered by our research group. It was selected for *in vivo* studies as a result of its specific expression in the epididymis and also previous studies which have indicated roles for other *Crisp* family members in reproduction. Based on analyses of *Crisp4<sup>-/-</sup>* spermatozoa, CRISP4 is a regulator of the sperm acrosome reaction, and may present as a good candidate target molecule for a male contraceptive drug together with other CRISP proteins.

Overall, our approach to characterize factors involved in epididymal sperm maturation has proven effective, and thanks to the increasing commercial availability of ES cells carrying targeted alleles, the advancement to *in vivo* studies with knock-out mice has been made even easier. However, the need for custom made targeting constructs and individual targeting remains, and insight gained during this study has rendered the process less laborious. Further, with the generation of an epididymis-specific Cre-recombinase expressing mouse model, it is now possible to knock out any floxed allele only in the epididymis, which will assuredly prove a valuable tool for all reproductive biologists concerned with the epididymis.

# 7. CONCLUSIONS

The details which concern the molecular mechanisms of mammalian fertilization still remain obscure. It is evident that several factors that provide spermatozoa the abilities required for fertilization to occur *in vivo* are produced by the epididymal epithelial cells. The luminal microenvironment of the epididymis is also responsible for protection of the maturing spermatozoa until ejaculation. Since malfunctions during epididymal sperm maturation and storage often lead to reduced fertility, the identification of the proteins involved in these processes may reveal target candidates for the development of male contraceptives. Through pharmacological prevention of the proper function of an epididymal protein, or proteins, an efficient yet reversible non-hormonal contraceptive for men may become available. *In silico, in vitro* and *in vivo* approaches have been utilized to identify and characterize novel epididymal genes and proteins. As such, the main findings of this study are:

- 1. The *Pate* genes constitute the largest known gene family predominantly expressed in the epididymis, and code for secreted proteins putatively involved in the protection of the male reproductive tract from microbes.
- 2. BMYC would appear not to be a major regulator of gene expression in the epididymis, despite its high expression in the organ. Nevertheless, its loss does lead to up-regulation of the *Myc* proto-oncogene in the developing testis, to result in increased apoptosis of spermatogenic cells.
- 3. CRISP4, produced in the epididymis, is involved in the regulation of the sperm acrosome reaction. Together with other CRISP proteins this may prove to be an essential regulator of sperm–egg interactions, and thereby a good target for contraceptive studies.
- 4. The *Crisp4 iCre* knock-in mouse model can be used to knock out floxed alleles specifically in the epididymis.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was carried out at the Department of Physiology, Institute of Biomedicine, University of Turku, during the years 2005–2011.

I wish to thank my supervisors Professor Matti Poutanen and Professor Ilpo Huhtaniemi for giving me the opportunity to work in the fields of male reproduction and mutant mice. With your guidance I've been able to learn the basics in scientific method, and to make good research. Most importantly, you made possible for me to actually *finish* my thesis, even when things didn't always proceed as planned.

My biggest thanks I owe to Petra Sipilä. I wouldn't have managed without your supervision in design and execution of the various experiments in this thesis. Also, your faith and support helped me to remain motivated and focused to complete the projects.

Past and present members of the epididymis research group are acknowledged for their contribution prior to and related to my thesis. Thanks to Tassos Damdimopoulos, Veera Hämäläinen, Jenni Jalkanen, Mika Kotimäki, Anton Krutskikh, Ramin Lindqvist, Harri Mankonen, Dwi Ari Pujianto and Jussi Toivanen for all the help and advice. Ida Björkgren is especially thanked for her friendship and for discussions, scientific and not, and for teaching me that any work can be enjoyable with the right kind of people.

Docent Maria Halmekytö and Docent Raija Soininen are acknowledged for reviewing my thesis, and Paul Whybrow is acknowledged for revision of the language. Also, thanks to my thesis committee, Jorma Paranko and Kirsi Sainio, and to Turku Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences; to director Professor Olli Lassila, to coordinators Heli Salminen-Mankonen and Susanna Rosenberg, and to secretary Nina Widberg.

The animal models to which the majority of this thesis is based on would not be without the efforts of Erja Mäntysalo, Heli Niittymäki, Leena Strauss, Katja Suomi and Nina Messner, who is especially thanked for all the support and for the right attitude towards work, people and life in general. I am also grateful of all technical assistance to the skillful people at the Department of Physiology: Antonella Florio, Katri Hovirinta, Taija Leinonen, Taina Kirjavainen, Erica Nyman, Juha Pyyhtiä and Hannele Rekola are thanked for their hard work. Tuula Hämäläinen, Johanna Järvi, Minna Kangasperko, Leena Karlsson, Marko Tirri and Anneli Vesa are acknowledged for maintenance of the laboratory and/or the people in it with such great care. Everyone else frequently occupying the labs of the department are also thanked; Heidi Gerke, Heikki Hölttä, Heidi Liljenbäck, Jenny Kallio, Mona Laaksonen, Merja Leppiaho-Vallinhovi, Jonna Palmu, Suvi Parkkali, Inga Pukonen, Pia Roering, Anu Salminen, Maire Tohv and Eila Virransuo.

Thanks to all my fellow students in the Department of Physiology for technical assistance, peer support and for a nice working environment. Annika Adamsson, Petteri Ahtiainen, Matteo Da Ros, Nimisha Desai, Antti Ellonen, Elina Haavisto, Janne Hakkarainen, Kaisa Huhtinen, Päivi Järvensivu, Matias Knuuttila, Hanna Korhonen, Mari Lehti, Juho-Antti Mäkelä, Katja Mäkelä, Mirja Nurmio, Tomi Pakarainen, Jenni Paviala, Emmi Rotgers, Aino Rönnblad, Taija Saloniemi, Anu Sironen, Mia Ståhle, Ashutosh Trehan, Helena Virtanen, Susanna Vuorenoja and Ram Prakash Yadav, and especially my lovely roommates Heli Jokela and Heidi Lagerbohm, are sincerely thanked. Also thanks to all students from TuBS and from other graduate schools whom I've had the pleasure to know during these years.

The scientific advice I've received from the senior scientists in our department and beyond is highly appreciated. Thanks to Sonia Bourguiba, Marcin Chrusciel, Kame El-Darwish, Noora Kotaja, Tarja Lamminen, Veronika Mamaeva, Pirjo Pakarinen, Professor Lauri Pelliniemi, Antti Perheentupa, Nafis Rahman, Saija Savolainen, Professor Jorma Toppari, Matti Vierula and Fuping Zhang.

The support and advice given to me by my scientific mentors and friends, Pia Rantakari and Adolfo Rivero-Müller, will never be forgotten. You are the true scientists, and have always encouraged me to become one, too!

I couldn't have made it this far without my wonderful friends. Big thanks to the posse in Suur-Viheri area; Markus, Pohjis, Kalle, Risto and Väkä, and to Pojat in Turku; Sasu, Teemu, Matti and Albert. I'd like to express my deepest gratitude to Milla, Oliver, Panu and Ville, for all the good times, and for always being there when needed the most.

I am extremely grateful for the support of my family and relatives throughout my life. Warm thanks to my parents, Esa and Tiia, and to my sisters Leena and Liisa.

This work has been financially supported by the Academy of Finland, Sigrid Jusélius Foundation, Emil Aaltonen Foundation, the Finnish Cultural Foundation, Centre for Reproductive and Developmental Medicine, Turku University Foundation, and Turku Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences.

Turku, November 2011

0.G.A

Heikki Turunen

### REFERENCES

- Abe, K., H. Takano and T. Ito. 1984. Interruption of the luminal flow in the epididymal duct of the corpus epididymidis in the mouse, with special reference to differentiation of the epididymal epithelium. *Arch.Histol.Jpn*. 2:137-147.
- Abou-Haila, A. and M. A. Fain-Maurel. 1984. Regional differences of the proximal part of mouse epididymis: morphological and histochemical characterization. *Anat.Rec.* 2:197-208.
- Adamali, H. I., I. H. Somani, J. Q. Huang, R. A. Gravel, J. M. Trasler and L. Hermo. 1999. Characterization II. and development of the regionaland cellular-specific abnormalities in the epididymis of mice with betahexosaminidase A deficiency. J.Androl. 6:803-824.
- Adamali, H. I. and L. Hermo. 1996. Apical and narrow cells are distinct cell types differing in their structure, distribution, and functions in the adult rat epididymis. *J.Androl.* 3:208-222.
- Adams, D. J. and L. van der Weyden. 2008. Contemporary approaches for modifying the mouse genome. *Physiol.Genomics*. 3:225-238.
- Aitken, R. J. and S. D. Roman. 2008. Antioxidant systems and oxidative stress in the testes. *Oxid Med.Cell.Longev.* 1:15-24.
- Aitken, R. J. 2002. Active oxygen in spermatozoa during epididymal transit. In *The Epididymis: From Molecules to Clinical Practice*. Robaire, B. and B. T. Hinton (eds). New York: Kluwer Academic / Plenum Publishers, pp. 435-447.
- Albihn, A., J. I. Johnsen and M. A. Henriksson. 2010. MYC in oncogenesis and as a target for cancer therapies. *Adv.Cancer Res.* 163-224.
- Alexander, N. J. 1972. Prenatal development of the ductus epididymidis in the rhesus monkey. The effects of fetal castration. *Am.J.Anat.* 1:119-134.

- Altschul, S. F., W. Gish, W. Miller, E. W. Myers and D. J. Lipman. 1990. Basic local alignment search tool. *J.Mol.Biol.* 3:403-410.
- Amory, J. K., C. H. Muller, J. A. Shimshoni, N. Isoherranen, J. Paik, J. S. Moreb, S. Amory DW, R. Evanoff, A. S. Goldstein and M. D. Griswold. 2011. Suppression of spermatogenesis by bisdichloroacetyldiamines is mediated by inhibition of testicular retinoic acid biosynthesis. J.Androl. 1:111-119.
- Anastassiadis, K., J. Fu, C. Patsch, S. Hu, S. Weidlich, K. Duerschke, F. Buchholz, F. Edenhofer and A. F. Stewart. 2009. Dre recombinase, like Cre, is a highly efficient site-specific recombinase in E. coli, mammalian cells and mice. *Dis.Model.Mech.* 9-10:508-515.
- Andersen, O. M., C. H. Yeung, H. Vorum, M. Wellner, T. K. Andreassen, B. Erdmann, E. C. Mueller, J. Herz, A. Otto, T. G. Cooper and T. E. Willnow. 2003. Essential role of the apolipoprotein E receptor-2 in sperm development. *J.Biol.Chem.* 26:23989-23995.
- Araki, K., M. Araki and K. Yamamura. 2006. Negative selection with the Diphtheria toxin A fragment gene improves frequency of Cre-mediated cassette exchange in ES cells. J.Biochem. 6:793-798.
- Asker, C. E., K. P. Magnusson, S. P. Piccoli, K. Andersson, G. Klein, M. D. Cole and K. G. Wiman. 1995. Mouse and rat Bmyc share amino acid sequence homology with the c-myc transcriptional activator domain and contain a B-myc specific carboxy terminal region. *Oncogene*. 10:1963-1969.
- Au, C. L. and P. Y. Wong. 1980. Luminal acidification by the perfused rat cauda epididymidis. *J.Physiol.* 419-427.
- Baba, D., S. Kashiwabara, A. Honda, K. Yamagata, Q. Wu, M. Ikawa, M. Okabe and T. Baba. 2002. Mouse sperm lacking cell surface hyaluronidase PH-20 can pass through the layer of cumulus cells

and fertilize the egg. *J.Biol.Chem.* 33:30310-30314.

- Bagnis, C., M. Marsolais, D. Biemesderfer, R. Laprade and S. Breton. 2001. Na+/H+-exchange activity and immunolocalization of NHE3 in rat epididymis. *Am.J.Physiol.Renal Physiol.* 3:F426-36.
- Bailey, J. L. 2010. Factors regulating sperm capacitation. *Syst.Biol.Reprod.Med.* 5:334-348.
- Bastolla, U. and L. Demetrius. 2005. Stability constraints and protein evolution: the role of chain length, composition and disulfide bonds. *Protein Eng.Des.Sel.* 9:405-415.
- Belleannee, C., M. Belghazi, V. Labas, A. P. Teixeira-Gomes, J. L. Gatti, J. L. Dacheux and F. Dacheux. 2011a. Purification and identification of sperm surface proteins and changes during epididymal maturation. *Proteomics*. 10:1952-1964.
- Belleannee, C., V. Labas, A. P. Teixeira-Gomes, J. L. Gatti, J. L. Dacheux and F. Dacheux. 2011b. Identification of luminal and secreted proteins in bull epididymis. *J.Proteomics*. 1:59-78.
- Belteki, G., M. Gertsenstein, D. W. Ow and A. Nagy. 2003. Site-specific cassette exchange and germline transmission with mouse ES cells expressing phiC31 integrase. *Nat.Biotechnol.* 3:321-324.
- Bendtsen, J. D., H. Nielsen, G. von Heijne and S. Brunak. 2004. Improved prediction of signal peptides: SignalP 3.0. J.Mol.Biol. 4:783-795.
- Benoit, J. 1926. Recherches anatomiquès, cytologiques et histologiques sur les voies excrètes du testicule, chez les mammifères. *Arch Anat Histol Embryol.* 5:173-412.
- Bera, T. K., R. Maitra, C. Iavarone, G. Salvatore, V. Kumar, J. J. Vincent, B. K. Sathyanarayana, P. Duray, B. K. Lee and I. Pastan. 2002. PATE, a gene expressed in prostate cancer, normal prostate, and testis, identified by a functional genomic approach. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* 5:3058-3063.

- Blasi, F., J. D. Vassalli and K. Dano. 1987. Urokinase-type plasminogen activator: proenzyme, receptor, and inhibitors. *J.Cell Biol.* 4:801-804.
- Blomqvist, S. R., H. Vidarsson, O. Soder and S. Enerback. 2006. Epididymal expression of the forkhead transcription factor Foxi1 is required for male fertility. *EMBO J.* 17:4131-4141.
- Bray, C., J. H. Son and S. Meizel. 2002. A nicotinic acetylcholine receptor is involved in the arosome reaction of human sperm initiated by recombinant human ZP3. *Biol.Reprod.* 3:782-788.
- Brooks, D. E., A. R. Means, E. J. Wright, S. P. Singh and K. K. Tiver. 1986. Molecular cloning of the cDNA for androgen-dependent sperm-coating glycoproteins secreted by the rat epididymis. *Eur.J.Biochem.* 1:13-18.
- Brooks, D. E. 1979. Influence of androgens on the weights of the male accessory reproductive organs and on the activities of mitochondrial enzymes in the epididymis of the rat. *J.Endocrinol.* 2:293-303.
- Brooks, D. E. 1977. The androgenic control of the composition of the rat epididymis determined by efferent duct ligation or castration. *J.Reprod.Fertil.* 2:383-385.
- Buchold, G. M., P. L. Magyar and D. A. O'Brien. 2007. Mice lacking cyclindependent kinase inhibitor p19Ink4d show strain-specific effects on male reproduction. *Mol.Reprod.Dev.* 8:1008-1020.
- Burgoyne, P. S., M. Buehr and A. McLaren. 1988. XY follicle cells in ovaries of XX----XY female mouse chimaeras. *Development.* 4:683-688.
- Busso, D., N. M. Goldweic, M. Hayashi, M. Kasahara and P. S. Cuasnicu. 2007. Evidence for the involvement of testicular protein CRISP2 in mouse sperm-egg fusion. *Biol.Reprod.* 4:701-708.
- Busso, D., D. J. Cohen, M. Hayashi, M. Kasahara and P. S. Cuasnicu. 2005. Human testicular protein TPX1/CRISP-2: localization in spermatozoa, fate after capacitation and relevance for gamete

interaction. *Mol.Hum.Reprod.* 4:299-305.

- Butenandt, A. 1931. Über die chemische Untersuchung der Sexualhormone. Zeitschrift für Angewandte Chemie. 46:905-908.
- Byers, S. W., D. Djakiew and M. Dym. 1985. Structural features of rat epididymal epithelial cells in vitro. *J.Reprod.Fertil.* 2:401-411.
- Cameo, M. S. and J. A. Blaquier. 1976. Androgen-controlled specific proteins in rat epididymis. *J.Endocrinol.* 1:47-55.
- Cardullo, R. A. and C. D. Thaler. 2002. Function of the Egg's Extracellular Matrix. In *Fertilization*. Hardy, D.M. (ed). California: Academic Press, pp. 119-152.
- Carlson, A. E., L. A. Burnett, D. del Camino, T. A. Quill, B. Hille, J. A. Chong, M. M. Moran and D. F. Babcock. 2009. Pharmacological targeting of native CatSper channels reveals a required role in maintenance of sperm hyperactivation. *PLoS One.* 8:e6844.
- Carrell, D. T., R. G. Middleton, C. M. Peterson, K. P. Jones and R. L. Urry. 1993. Role of the cumulus in the selection of morphologically normal sperm and induction of the acrosome reaction during human in vitro fertilization. *Arch.Androl.* 2:133-137.
- Carroll, M., T. Luu and B. Robaire. 2011. Null mutation of the transcription factor inhibitor of DNA binding 3 (id3) affects spermatozoal motility parameters and epididymal gene expression in mice. *Biol.Reprod.* 4:765-774.
- Casola, S. 2010. Mouse models for miRNA expression: the ROSA26 locus. *Methods Mol.Biol.* 145-163.
- Chabory, E., C. Damon, A. Lenoir, G. Kauselmann, H. Kern, B. Zevnik, C. Garrel, F. Saez, R. Cadet, J. Henry-Berger, M. Schoor, U. Gottwald, et al. 2009. Epididymis seleno-independent glutathione peroxidase 5 maintains sperm DNA integrity in mice. J. Clin. Invest. 7:2074-2085.
- Chan, P. T. K. and P. N. Schlegel. 2002. Epididymitis and other inflammatory

conditions of the male excurrent ductal system. In *The Epididymis: From Molecules to Clinical Practice*. Robaire, B. and B. T. Hinton (eds). New York: Kluwer Academic / Plenum Publishers, pp. 533-553.

- Chau, K. M. and G. A. Cornwall. 2011. Reduced fertility in vitro in mice lacking the cystatin CRES (cystatin-related epididymal spermatogenic): rescue by exposure of spermatozoa to dibutyryl cAMP and isobutylmethylxanthine. *Biol.Reprod.* 1:140-152.
- Cheng, C. Y. and D. D. Mruk. 2010. New frontiers in nonhormonal male contraception. *Contraception*. 5:476-482.
- Chenna, R., H. Sugawara, T. Koike, R. Lopez, T. J. Gibson, D. G. Higgins and J. D. Thompson. 2003. Multiple sequence alignment with the Clustal series of programs. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 13:3497-3500.
- Chew, S. B., G. P. Leung, P. Y. Leung, C. M. Tse and P. Y. Wong. 2000. Polarized distribution of NHE1 and NHE2 in the rat epididymis. *Biol.Reprod.* 3:755-758.
- Chung, S. S., X. Wang, S. S. Roberts, S. M. Griffey, P. R. Reczek and D. J. Wolgemuth. 2011. Oral administration of a retinoic Acid receptor antagonist reversibly inhibits spermatogenesis in mice. *Endocrinology*. 6:2492-2502.
- Clulow, J., R. C. Jones and L. A. Hansen. 1994. Micropuncture and cannulation studies of fluid composition and transport in the ductuli efferentes testis of the rat: comparisons with the homologous metanephric proximal tubule. *Exp. Physiol.* 6:915-928.
- Cohen, D. J., J. A. Maldera, G. Vasen, J. I. Ernesto, M. Weigel Munoz, M. A. Battistone and P. S. Cuasnicu. 2011. Epididymal Protein CRISP1 Plays Different Roles During the Fertilization Process. J.Androl.
- Cohen, D. J., D. A. Ellerman, D. Busso, M. M. Morgenfeld, A. D. Piazza, M. Hayashi, E. T. Young, M. Kasahara and P. S. Cuasnicu. 2001. Evidence that human epididymal protein ARP plays a

role in gamete fusion through complementary sites on the surface of the human egg. *Biol.Reprod.* 4:1000-1005.

- Cohen, D. J., L. Rochwerger, D. A. Ellerman, M. M. Morgenfeld, D. Busso and P. S. Cuasnicu. 2000. Relationship between the association of rat epididymal protein "DE" with spermatozoa and the behavior and function of the protein. *Mol.Reprod.Dev.* 2:180-188.
- Cohen-Dayag, A., D. Ralt, I. Tur-Kaspa, M. Manor, A. Makler, J. Dor, S. Mashiach and M. Eisenbach. 1994. Sequential acquisition of chemotactic responsiveness by human spermatozoa. *Biol.Reprod.* 4:786-790.
- Cooper, T. G., A. Wagenfeld, G. A. Cornwall, N. Hsia, S. T. Chu, M. C. Orgebin-Crist, J. Drevet, P. Vernet, C. Avram, E. Nieschlag and C. H. Yeung. 2003a. Gene and protein expression in the epididymis of infertile c-ros receptor tyrosine kinase-deficient mice. *Biol.Reprod.* 5:1750-1762.
- Cooper, T. G. and C. H. Yeung. 2003b. Acquisition of volume regulatory response of sperm upon maturation in the epididymis and the role of the cytoplasmic droplet. *Microsc.Res.Tech.* 1:28-38.
- Cooper, T. G. 2002. The Epididymis as a Target for Male Contraception. In *The Epididymis: From Molecules to Clinical Practice*. Robaire, B. and B. T. Hinton (eds). New York: Kluwer Academic / Plenum Publishers, pp. 483-502.
- Cooper, T. G. 1986. *The Epididymis, Sperm Maturation and Fertilization*. Berlin, Springer-Verlag.
- Cornwall, G. A. 2009. New insights into epididymal biology and function. *Hum.Reprod.Update.* 2:213-227.
- Cornwall, G. A., H. H. von Horsten, D. Swartz, S. Johnson, K. Chau and S. Whelly. 2007. Extracellular quality control in the epididymis. *Asian* J.Androl. 4:500-507.
- Cornwall, G. A., J. J. Lareyre, R. J. Matusik, B. T. Hinton and M. -. Orgebin-Crist. 2002. Gene Expression

and Epididymal Function. In *The Epididymis: From Molecules to Clinical Practice*. Robaire, B. and B. T. Hinton (eds). New York: Kluwer Academic / Plenum Publishers, pp. 169-199.

- Cornwall, G. A., R. Collis, Q. Xiao, N. Hsia and S. R. Hann. 2001. B-Myc, a proximal caput epididymal protein, is dependent on androgens and testicular factors for expression. *Biol.Reprod.* 6:1600-1607.
- Costa, S. L., K. Boekelheide, B. C. Vanderhyden, R. Seth and M. W. McBurney. 1997. Male infertility caused by epididymal dysfunction in transgenic mice expressing a dominant negative mutation of retinoic acid receptor alpha 1. *Biol.Reprod.* 4:985-990.
- Cross, N. L. 1998. Role of cholesterol in sperm capacitation. *Biol.Reprod.* 1:7-11.
- Cummins, J. M. and R. Yanagimachi. 1986. Development of ability to penetrate the cumulus oophorus by hamster spermatozoa capacitated in vitro, in relation to the timing of the acrosome reaction. *Gamete Res.* 3:187-212.
- Cyr, D. G., K. Finnson, J. Dufresne and M. Gregory. 2002. Cellular interactions and the blood-epididymal barrier. In *The Epididymis: From Molecules to Clinical Practice*. Robaire, B. and B. T. Hinton (eds). New York: Kluwer Academic / Plenum Publishers, pp. 103-118.
- Da Ros, V. G., J. A. Maldera, W. D. Willis, D. J. Cohen, E. H. Goulding, D. M. Gelman, M. Rubinstein, E. M. Eddy and P. S. Cuasnicu. 2008. Impaired sperm fertilizing ability in mice lacking Cysteine-RIch Secretory Protein 1 (CRISP1). Dev.Biol. 1:12-18.
- Dacheux, J. L., C. Belleannee, R. Jones, V. Labas, M. Belghazi, B. Guyonnet, X. Druart, J. L. Gatti and F. Dacheux. 2009. Mammalian epididymal proteome. *Mol.Cell.Endocrinol.* 1-2:45-50.
- Dacheux, J. -. and F. Dacheux. 2002. Protein secretion in the epididymis. In *The Epididymis: From Molecules to Clinical Practice*. Robaire, B. and B. T. Hinton (eds). New York: Kluwer Academic / Plenum Publishers, pp. 151-168.

- Dang, C. V., K. A. O'Donnell, K. I. Zeller, T. Nguyen, R. C. Osthus and F. Li. 2006. The c-Myc target gene network. *Semin.Cancer Biol.* 4:253-264.
- Davies, B., C. Baumann, C. Kirchhoff, R. Ivell, R. Nubbemeyer, U. F. Habenicht, F. Theuring and U. Gottwald. 2004. Targeted deletion of the epididymal receptor HE6 results in fluid dysregulation and male infertility. *Mol.Cell.Biol.* 19:8642-8648.
- Davis, A. C., M. Wims, G. D. Spotts, S. R. Hann and A. Bradley. 1993. A null cmyc mutation causes lethality before 10.5 days of gestation in homozygotes and reduced fertility in heterozygous female mice. *Genes Dev.* 4:671-682.
- de Larminat, M. A., A. Monsalve, E. H. Charreau, R. S. Calandra and J. A. Blaquier. 1978. Hormonal regulation of 5alpha-reductase activity in rat epididymis. *J.Endocrinol.* 2:157-165.
- Dennis, G.,Jr, B. T. Sherman, D. A. Hosack, J. Yang, W. Gao, H. C. Lane and R. A. Lempicki. 2003. DAVID: Database for Annotation, Visualization, and Integrated Discovery. *Genome Biol.* 5:P3.
- Diao, H., H. G. Yu, F. Sun, Y. L. Zhang and N. Tanphaichitr. 2011. Rat recombinant beta-defensin 22 is a heparin-binding protein with antimicrobial activity. *Asian J.Androl.* 2:305-311.
- Domashenko, A. D., K. E. Latham and K. S. Hatton. 1997. Expression of myc-family, myc-interacting, and myc-target genes during preimplantation mouse development. *Mol.Reprod.Dev.* 1:57-65.
- Downs, K. M., G. R. Martin and J. M. Bishop. 1989. Contrasting patterns of myc and N-myc expression during gastrulation of the mouse embryo. *Genes Dev.* 6:860-869.
- Drevet, J. R. 2006. The antioxidant glutathione peroxidase family and spermatozoa: a complex story. *Mol.Cell.Endocrinol.* 1-2:70-79.
- Drouineaud, V., L. Lagrost, A. Klein, C. Desrumaux, N. Le Guern, A. Athias, F. Menetrier, P. Moiroux, P. Sagot, C. Jimenez, D. Masson and V. Deckert.

2006. Phospholipid transfer protein deficiency reduces sperm motility and impairs fertility of mouse males. *FASEB J.* 6:794-796.

- Dymecki, S. M. 1996. A modular set of Flp, FRT and lacZ fusion vectors for manipulating genes by site-specific recombination. *Gene.* 2:197-201.
- Dyson, A. L. and M. C. Orgebin-Crist. 1973. Effect of hypophysectomy, castration and androgen replacement upon the fertilizing ability of rat epididymal spermatozoa. *Endocrinology*. 2:391-402.
- Edwards, D. R., M. M. Handsley and C. J. Pennington. 2008. The ADAM metalloproteinases. *Mol.Aspects Med.* 5:258-289.
- Eilers, M. and R. N. Eisenman. 2008. Myc's broad reach. *Genes Dev.* 20:2755-2766.
- Ellerman, D. A., D. J. Cohen, V. G. Da Ros, M. M. Morgenfeld, D. Busso and P. S. Cuasnicu. 2006. Sperm protein "DE" mediates gamete fusion through an evolutionarily conserved site of the CRISP family. *Dev.Biol.* 1:228-237.
- Ensslin, M. A. and B. D. Shur. 2003. Identification of mouse sperm SED1, a bimotif EGF repeat and discoidindomain protein involved in sperm-egg binding. *Cell.* 4:405-417.
- Evans, M. J. and M. H. Kaufman. 1981. Establishment in culture of pluripotential cells from mouse embryos. *Nature*. 5819:154-156.
- Fan, X. and B. Robaire. 1998. Orchidectomy induces a wave of apoptotic cell death in the epididymis. *Endocrinology*. 4:2128-2136.
- Fawcett, D. W. and A. P. Hoffer. 1979. Failure of exogenous androgen to prevent regression of the initial segments of the rat epididymis after efferent duct ligation or orchidectomy. *Biol.Reprod.* 2:162-181.
- Flickinger, C. J., L. A. Bush, S. S. Howards and J. C. Herr. 1997. Distribution of leukocytes in the epithelium and interstitium of four regions of the Lewis rat epididymis. *Anat.Rec.* 3:380-390.
- Flickinger, C. J., J. C. Herr and K. L. Klotz. 1988. Immunocytochemical localization

of the major glycoprotein of epididymal fluid from the cauda in the epithelium of the mouse epididymis. *Cell Tissue Res.* 3:603-610.

- Florman, H. M. and B. Ducibella. 2006. Fertilization in Mammals. In *Knobil and Neill's Physiology of Reproduction*. Neill, J. D., T. M. Plant, D. W. Pfaff, J. R. G. Challis, D. M. de Kretser, J. S. Richards and P. M. Wassarman (eds). San Diego: Academic Press, pp. 55-112.
- Friedel, R. H., A. Plump, X. Lu, K. Spilker, C. Jolicoeur, K. Wong, T. R. Venkatesh, A. Yaron, M. Hynes, B. Chen, A. Okada, S. K. McConnell, et al. 2005. Gene targeting using a promoterless gene trap vector ("targeted trapping") is an efficient method to mutate a large fraction of genes. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* 37:13188-13193.
- Galat, A., G. Gross, P. Drevet, A. Sato and A. Menez. 2008. Conserved structural determinants in three-fingered protein domains. *FEBS J.* 12:3207-3225.
- Ganem, J. P., F. M. Jhaveri and M. C. Marroum. 1998. Primary adenocarcinoma of the epididymis: case report and review of the literature. *Urology*. 5:904-908.
- Geurts, A. M., G. J. Cost, Y. Freyvert, B. Zeitler, J. C. Miller, V. M. Choi, S. S. Jenkins, A. Wood, X. Cui, X. Meng, A. Vincent, S. Lam, et al. 2009. Knockout rats via embryo microinjection of zincfinger nucleases. *Science*. 5939:433.
- Gibbs, G. M., G. Orta, T. Reddy, A. J. Koppers, P. Martinez-Lopez, J. Luis de la Vega-Beltran, J. C. Lo, N. Veldhuis, D. Jamsai, P. McIntyre, A. Darszon and M. K. O'Bryan. 2011. Cysteine-rich secretory protein 4 is an inhibitor of transient receptor potential M8 with a role in establishing sperm function. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* 17:7034-7039.
- Gibbs, G. M., K. Roelants and M. K. O'Bryan. 2008. The CAP superfamily: cysteine-rich secretory proteins, antigen 5, and pathogenesis-related 1 proteins-roles in reproduction, cancer, and

immune defense. *Endocr.Rev.* 7:865-897.

- Gibbs, G. M. and M. K. O'Bryan. 2007. Cysteine rich secretory proteins in reproduction and venom. Soc.Reprod.Fertil.Suppl. 261-267.
- Gibbs, G. M., M. J. Scanlon, J. Swarbrick, S. Curtis, E. Gallant, A. F. Dulhunty and M. K. O'Bryan. 2006. The cysteine-rich secretory protein domain of Tpx-1 is related to ion channel toxins and regulates ryanodine receptor Ca2+ signaling. J.Biol.Chem. 7:4156-4163.
- Glover, T. D. and L. Nicander. 1971. Some aspects of structure and function in the mammalian epididymis. *J.Reprod.Fertil.Suppl.* Suppl 13:39-50.
- Goeman, J. J. and J. Oosting. 2008. Globaltest: testing association of a group of genes with a clinical variable. *R* package, version 4.10.0.
- Gregory, M. A., Q. Xiao, G. A. Cornwall, B. Lutterbach and S. R. Hann. 2000. B-Myc is preferentially expressed in hormonally-controlled tissues and inhibits cellular proliferation. *Oncogene*. 42:4886-4895.
- Griswold, S. L. and R. R. Behringer. 2009. Fetal Leydig cell origin and development. *Sex.Dev.* 1:1-15.
- Guan, C., C. Ye, X. Yang and J. Gao. 2010. A review of current large-scale mouse knockout efforts. *Genesis*. 2:73-85.
- Gubbay, J., J. Collignon, P. Koopman, B. Capel, A. Economou, A. Munsterberg, N. Vivian, P. Goodfellow and R. Lovell-Badge. 1990. A gene mapping to the sex-determining region of the mouse Y chromosome is a member of a novel family of embryonically expressed genes. *Nature*. 6281:245-250.
- Guo, M., M. Teng, L. Niu, Q. Liu, Q. Huang and Q. Hao. 2005. Crystal structure of the cysteine-rich secretory protein stecrisp reveals that the cysteine-rich domain has a K+ channel inhibitor-like fold. *J.Biol.Chem.* 13:12405-12412.
- Guyonnet, B., G. Marot, J. L. Dacheux, M. J. Mercat, S. Schwob, F. Jaffrezic and J. L. Gatti. 2009. The adult boar testicular and

epididymal transcriptomes. *BMC Genomics*. 369.

- Haavisto, A. M., K. Pettersson, M. Bergendahl, A. Perheentupa, J. F. Roser and I. Huhtaniemi. 1993. A supersensitive immunofluorometric assay for rat luteinizing hormone. *Endocrinology*. 4:1687-1691.
- Hacking, D. F. 2008. 'Knock, and it shall be opened': knocking out and knocking in to reveal mechanisms of disease and novel therapies. *Early Hum.Dev.* 12:821-827.
- Haendler, B., I. Toda, D. A. Sullivan and W. D. Schleuning. 1999. Expression of transcripts for cysteine-rich secretory proteins (CRISPs) in the murine lacrimal gland. *J.Cell.Physiol.* 3:371-378.
- Haendler, B., J. Kratzschmar, F. Theuring and W. D. Schleuning. 1993. Transcripts for cysteine-rich secretory protein-1 (CRISP-1; DE/AEG) and the novel related CRISP-3 are expressed under androgen control in the mouse salivary gland. *Endocrinology*. 1:192-198.
- Haidl, G., J. P. Allam and H. C. Schuppe. 2008. Chronic epididymitis: impact on semen parameters and therapeutic options. *Andrologia*. 2:92-96.
- Hall, S. H., S. Yenugu, Y. Radhakrishnan, M. C. Avellar, P. Petrusz and F. S. French. 2007. Characterization and functions of beta defensins in the epididymis. *Asian J.Androl.* 4:453-462.
- Hall, S. H., K. G. Hamil and F. S. French. 2002. Host defense proteins of the male reproductive tract. *J.Androl.* 5:585-597.
- Hamilton, D. W. 1975. Structure and function of the epithelium lining the ductuli efferentes, ductus epididymidis and ductus deferens in the rat. In *Handbook of Physiology*. Greep, R. O. and E. B. Astwood (eds). Washington: American Physiological Society, pp. 259-301.
- Harris, M. A., J. Clark, A. Ireland, J. Lomax, M. Ashburner, R. Foulger, K. Eilbeck, S. Lewis, B. Marshall, C. Mungall, J. Richter, G. M. Rubin, et al. 2004. The Gene Ontology (GO) database and

informatics resource. *Nucleic Acids Res.* Database issue:D258-61.

- Hasty, P., A. Abuin and A. Bradley. 2000. Gene targeting, principles, and practice in mammalian cells. In *Gene Targeting*. *A Practical Approach*. Joyner, A. L. (ed). Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp. 1-36.
- Hatton, K. S., K. Mahon, L. Chin, F. C. Chiu, H. W. Lee, D. Peng, S. D. Morgenbesser, J. Horner and R. A. DePinho. 1996. Expression and activity of L-Myc in normal mouse development. *Mol.Cell.Biol.* 4:1794-1804.
- Hayashi, M., S. Fujimoto, H. Takano, T. Ushiki, K. Abe, H. Ishikura, M. C. Yoshida, C. Kirchhoff, T. Ishibashi and M. Kasahara. 1996. Characterization of a human glycoprotein with a potential role in sperm-egg fusion: cDNA cloning, immunohistochemical localization, and chromosomal assignment of the gene (AEGL1). *Genomics.* 3:367-374.
- Hellsten, E., J. P. Evans, D. J. Bernard, P. A. Janne and R. L. Nussbaum. 2001. Disrupted sperm function and fertilin beta processing in mice deficient in the inositol polyphosphate 5-phosphatase Inpp5b. *Dev.Biol.* 2:641-653.
- Hemeida, N. A., W. O. Sack and K. McEntee. 1978. Ductuli efferentes in the epididymis of boar, goat, ram, bull, and stallion. *Am.J. Vet.Res.* 12:1892-1900.
- Hermo, L. and B. Robaire. 2002. Epididymal cell types and their functions. In *The Epididymis: From Molecules to Clinical Practice*. Robaire, B. and B. T. Hinton (eds). New York: Kluwer Academic / Plenum Publishers, pp. 81-102.
- Hermo, L., H. I. Adamali and S. Andonian. 2000. Immunolocalization of CA II and H+ V-ATPase in epithelial cells of the mouse and rat epididymis. *J.Androl.* 3:376-391.
- Hermo, L., R. Oko and C. R. Morales. 1994. Secretion and endocytosis in the male reproductive tract: a role in sperm maturation. *Int.Rev.Cytol.* 106-189.
- Hermo, L., K. Barin and B. Robaire. 1992a. Structural differentiation of the epithelial cells of the testicular excurrent duct

system of rats during postnatal development. *Anat.Rec.* 2:205-228.

- Hermo, L., R. Oko and B. Robaire. 1992b. Epithelial cells of the epididymis show regional variations with respect to the secretion of endocytosis of immobilin as revealed by light and electron microscope immunocytochemistry. *Anat.Rec.* 2:202-220.
- Hermo, L., J. Dworkin and R. Oko. 1988. Role of epithelial clear cells of the rat epididymis in the disposal of the contents of cytoplasmic droplets detached from spermatozoa. *Am.J.Anat.* 2:107-124.
- Hinton, B. T., Z. J. Lan, R. J. Lye and J. C. Labus. 2000. Testicular regulation of epididymal function: the lumicrine hypothesis. In *The Testis: From Stem Cell to Sperm Function*. Goldberg, E. (ed). New York: Springer-Verlag, pp. 163-173.
- Hinton, B. T., Z. J. Lan, D. B. Rudolph, J. C. Labus and R. J. Lye. 1998. Testicular regulation of epididymal gene expression. J.Reprod.Fertil.Suppl. 47-57.
- Hinton, B. T., M. A. Palladino, D. Rudolph, Z. J. Lan and J. C. Labus. 1996. The role of the epididymis in the protection of spermatozoa. *Curr.Top.Dev.Biol.* 61-102.
- Hirata, F. and O. Hayaishi. 1975. Studies on indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase. I.
  Superoxide anion as substrate. *J.Biol.Chem.* 15:5960-5966.
- Hoffman, B. and D. A. Liebermann. 2008. Apoptotic signaling by c-MYC. Oncogene. 50:6462-6472.
- Holland, M. K., J. T. Vreeburg and M. C. Orgebin-Crist. 1992. Testicular regulation of epididymal protein secretion. J.Androl. 3:266-273.
- Holschbach, C. and T. G. Cooper. 2002. A possible extratubular origin of epididymal basal cells in mice. *Reproduction.* 4:517-525.
- Horne, A. W., W. C. Duncan, A. E. King, S. Burgess, P. C. Lourenco, P. Cornes, P. Ghazal, A. R. Williams, L. Udby and H. O. Critchley. 2009. Endometrial cysteine-rich secretory protein 3 is

inhibited by human chorionic gonadotrophin, and is increased in the decidua of tubal ectopic pregnancy. *Mol.Hum.Reprod.* 5:287-294.

- Houdebine, L. M. 2007. Transgenic animal models in biomedical research. *Methods Mol.Biol.* 163-202.
- Huang da, W., B. T. Sherman and R. A. Lempicki. 2009. Systematic and integrative analysis of large gene lists using DAVID bioinformatics resources. *Nat.Protoc.* 1:44-57.
- Hubbard, T. J., B. L. Aken, S. Ayling, B. Ballester, K. Beal, E. Bragin, S. Brent, Y. Chen, P. Clapham, L. Clarke, G. Coates, S. Fairley, et al. 2009. Ensembl 2009. Nucleic Acids Res. Database issue:D690-7.
- Huertas, P. 2010. DNA resection in eukaryotes: deciding how to fix the break. *Nat.Struct.Mol.Biol.* 1:11-16.
- Huhtaniemi, I., H. Nikula and S. Rannikko. 1985. Treatment of prostatic cancer with a gonadotropin-releasing hormone agonist analog: acute and long term effects on endocrine functions of testis tissue. J.Clin.Endocrinol.Metab. 4:698-704.
- Hurlin, P. J. 2005. N-Myc functions in transcription and development. *Birth Defects Res.C.Embryo.Today.* 4:340-352.
- Ilani, N., R. S. Swerdloff and C. Wang. 2011. Male hormonal contraception: potential risks and benefits. *Rev.Endocr Metab.Disord*. 2:107-117.
- Ingvarsson, S., C. Asker, H. Axelson, G. Klein and J. Sumegi. 1988. Structure and expression of B-myc, a new member of the myc gene family. *Mol.Cell.Biol.* 8:3168-3174.
- Inoue, N., M. Ikawa and M. Okabe. 2011. The mechanism of sperm-egg interaction and the involvement of IZUMO1 in fusion. *Asian J.Androl.* 1:81-87.
- Inoue, N., M. Ikawa, A. Isotani and M. Okabe. 2005. The immunoglobulin superfamily protein Izumo is required for sperm to fuse with eggs. *Nature*. 7030:234-238.

- Isnard-Bagnis, C., N. Da Silva, V. Beaulieu, A. S. Yu, D. Brown and S. Breton. 2003. Detection of ClC-3 and ClC-5 in epididymal epithelium: immunofluorescence and RT-PCR after LCM. *Am.J.Physiol.Cell.Physiol.* 1:C220-32.
- Jaenisch, R. and B. Mintz. 1974. Simian virus 40 DNA sequences in DNA of healthy adult mice derived from preimplantation blastocysts injected with viral DNA. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* 4:1250-1254.
- Jaiswal, B. S. and M. Eisenbach. 2002. Capacitation. In *Fertilization*. Hardy, D. M. (ed). California: Academic Press, pp. 57-117.
- Jalkanen, J., M. Kotimaki, I. Huhtaniemi and M. Poutanen. 2006a. Novel epididymal protease inhibitors with Kazal or WAP family domain. *Biochem.Biophys.Res.Commun.* 1:245-254.
- Jalkanen, J., R. Shariatmadari, D. A. Pujianto, P. Sipila, I. Huhtaniemi and M. Poutanen. 2006b. Identification of novel epididymal genes by expression profiling and in silico gene discovery. *Mol.Cell.Endocrinol.* 1-2:163-168.
- Jalkanen, J., I. Huhtaniemi and M. Poutanen. 2005a. Mouse cysteine-rich secretory protein 4 (CRISP4): a member of the Crisp family exclusively expressed in the epididymis in an androgen-dependent manner. *Biol.Reprod.* 5:1268-1274.
- Jalkanen, J., I. Huhtaniemi and M. Poutanen. 2005b. Discovery and characterization of new epididymis-specific beta-defensins in mice. *Biochim.Biophys.Acta*. 1:22-30.
- Jelinsky, S. A., T. T. Turner, H. J. Bang, J. N. Finger, M. K. Solarz, E. Wilson, E. L. Brown, G. S. Kopf and D. S. Johnston. 2007. The rat epididymal transcriptome: comparison of segmental gene expression in the rat and mouse epididymides. *Biol.Reprod.* 4:561-570.
- Jensen, L. J., A. K. Stuart-Tilley, L. L. Peters, S. E. Lux, S. L. Alper and S. Breton. 1999. Immunolocalization of AE2 anion exchanger in rat and mouse epididymis. *Biol.Reprod.* 4:973-980.

- Jensen, N. M., T. Dalsgaard, M. Jakobsen, R. R. Nielsen, C. B. Sorensen, L. Bolund and T. G. Jensen. 2011. An update on targeted gene repair in mammalian cells: methods and mechanisms. *J.Biomed.Sci.* 10.
- Jiang, F. X., P. Temple-Smith and N. G. Wreford. 1994. Postnatal differentiation and development of the rat epididymis: a stereological study. *Anat.Rec.* 2:191-198.
- Johnston, D. S., S. A. Jelinsky, H. J. Bang, P. DiCandeloro, E. Wilson, G. S. Kopf and T. T. Turner. 2005. The mouse epididymal transcriptome: transcriptional profiling of segmental gene expression in the epididymis. *Biol.Reprod.* 3:404-413.
- Jones, R. C. 1999. To store or mature spermatozoa? The primary role of the epididymis. *Int.J.Androl.* 2:57-67.
- Jones, R. C. 1998. Evolution of the vertebrate epididymis. J.Reprod.Fertil.Suppl. 163-181.
- Joseph, A., B. D. Shur and R. A. Hess. 2011. Estrogen, efferent ductules, and the epididymis. *Biol.Reprod.* 2:207-217.
- Joseph, A., R. A. Hess, D. J. Schaeffer, C. Ko, S. Hudgin-Spivey, P. Chambon and B. D. Shur. 2010a. Absence of estrogen receptor alpha leads to physiological alterations in the mouse epididymis and consequent defects in sperm function. *Biol.Reprod.* 5:948-957.
- Joseph, A., B. D. Shur, C. Ko, P. Chambon and R. A. Hess. 2010b. Epididymal hypo-osmolality induces abnormal sperm morphology and function in the estrogen receptor alpha knockout mouse. *Biol.Reprod.* 5:958-967.
- Kaji, K., S. Oda, T. Shikano, T. Ohnuki, Y. Uematsu, J. Sakagami, N. Tada, S. Miyazaki and A. Kudo. 2000. The gamete fusion process is defective in eggs of Cd9-deficient mice. *Nat.Genet.* 3:279-282.
- Kanehisa, M., S. Goto, S. Kawashima, Y. Okuno and M. Hattori. 2004. The KEGG resource for deciphering the genome. *Nucleic Acids Res.* Database issue:D277-80.

- Kaplan, N., N. Morpurgo and M. Linial. 2007. Novel families of toxin-like peptides in insects and mammals: a computational approach. J.Mol.Biol. 2:553-566.
- Kasahara, M., J. Gutknecht, K. Brew, N. Spurr and P. N. Goodfellow. 1989a. Cloning and mapping of a testis-specific gene with sequence similarity to a sperm-coating glycoprotein gene. *Genomics*. 3:527-534.
- Kasahara, M., H. C. Passmore and J. Klein. 1989b. A testis-specific gene Tpx-1 maps between Pgk-2 and Mep-1 on mouse chromosome 17. *Immunogenetics*. 1:61-63.
- Kawano, N. and M. Yoshida. 2007. Semencoagulating protein, SVS2, in mouse seminal plasma controls sperm fertility. *Biol.Reprod.* 3:353-361.
- Kim, E., M. Yamashita, M. Kimura, A. Honda, S. Kashiwabara and T. Baba. 2008. Sperm penetration through cumulus mass and zona pellucida. *Int.J.Dev.Biol.* 5-6:677-682.
- Kim, T., J. Oh, J. M. Woo, E. Choi, S. H. Im, Y. J. Yoo, D. H. Kim, H. Nishimura and C. Cho. 2006. Expression and relationship of male reproductive ADAMs in mouse. *Biol.Reprod.* 4:744-750.
- Kirby, J. L., L. Yang, J. C. Labus and B. T. Hinton. 2003. Characterization of fibroblast factor receptors growth expressed in principal cells in the initial segment of the rat epididymis. Biol.Reprod. 6:2314-2321.
- Kodaira, K., R. Takahashi, M. Hirabayashi, T. Suzuki, M. Obinata and M. Ueda. 1996. Overexpression of c-myc induces apoptosis at the prophase of meiosis of rat primary spermatocytes. *Mol.Reprod.Dev.* 4:403-410.
- Kohane, A. C., M. S. Cameo, L. Pineiro, J. C. Garberi and J. A. Blaquier. 1980a. Distribution and site of production of specific proteins in the rat epididymis. *Biol.Reprod.* 1:181-187.
- Kohane, A. C., F. M. Gonzalez Echeverria, L. Pineiro and J. A. Blaquier. 1980b. Interaction of proteins of epididymal

origin with spermatozoa. *Biol.Reprod.* 4:737-742.

- Koji, T., S. Izumi, M. Tanno, T. Moriuchi and P. K. Nakane. 1988. Localization in situ of c-myc mRNA and c-myc protein in adult mouse testis. *Histochem.J.* 10:551-557.
- Koller, B. H., L. J. Hagemann, Τ. Doetschman, J. R. Hagaman, S. Huang, P. J. Williams, N. L. First, N. Maeda and О. Smithies. 1989. Germ-line transmission of a planned alteration made in а hypoxanthine phosphoribosyltransferase gene by homologous recombination in embryonic stem cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 22:8927-8931.
- Koopman, P., J. Gubbay, N. Vivian, P. Goodfellow and R. Lovell-Badge. 1991. Male development of chromosomally female mice transgenic for Sry. *Nature*. 6322:117-121.
- Koppers, A. J., T. Reddy and M. K. O'Bryan. 2011. The role of cysteine-rich secretory proteins in male fertility. *Asian J.Androl.* 1:111-117.
- Kratzschmar, J., B. Haendler, U. Eberspaecher, D. Roosterman, P. Donner and W. D. Schleuning. 1996. The human cysteine-rich secretory protein (CRISP) family. Primary structure and tissue distribution of CRISP-1, CRISP-2 and CRISP-3. *Eur.J.Biochem.* 3:827-836.
- Krogh, B. O. and L. S. Symington. 2004. Recombination proteins in yeast. *Annu.Rev.Genet.* 233-271.
- Krutskikh, A., K. De Gendt, V. Sharp, G. Verhoeven, M. Poutanen and I. Huhtaniemi. 2011. Targeted inactivation of the androgen receptor gene in murine proximal epididymis causes epithelial hypotrophy and obstructive azoospermia. *Endocrinology*. 2:689-696.
- Kuhn, R., F. Schwenk, M. Aguet and K. Rajewsky. 1995. Inducible gene targeting in mice. *Science*. 5229:1427-1429.
- Kumar, S., M. Nei, J. Dudley and K. Tamura. 2008. MEGA: a biologist-centric software for evolutionary analysis of

DNA and protein sequences. *Brief Bioinform*. 4:299-306.

- Lacham, O. and A. Trounson. 1991. Fertilizing capacity of epididymal and testicular spermatozoa microinjected under the zona pellucida of the mouse oocyte. *Mol.Reprod.Dev.* 1:85-93.
- Laemmli, U. K. 1970. Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. *Nature*. 5259:680-685.
- Lan, Z. J., J. C. Labus and B. T. Hinton. 1998. Regulation of gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase catalytic activity and protein level in the initial segment of the rat epididymis by testicular factors: role of basic fibroblast growth factor. *Biol.Reprod.* 1:197-206.
- Lea, O. A., P. Petrusz and F. S. French. 1978. Purification and localization of acidic epididymal glycoprotein (AEG): A sperm coating protein secreted by the rat epididymis. *Int.J.Androl.* Suppl. 2:592-607.
- LeBarr, D. K. and S. R. Blecher. 1986. Epididymides of sex-reversed XX mice lack the initial segment. *Dev.Genet.* 2:109-116.
- Leung, G. P., K. H. Cheung, C. T. Leung, M. W. Tsang and P. Y. Wong. 2004. Regulation of epididymal principal cell functions by basal cells: role of transient receptor potential (Trp) proteins and cyclooxygenase-1 (COX-1). *Mol.Cell.Endocrinol.* 1-2:5-13.
- Levitin, F., M. Weiss, Y. Hahn, O. Stern, R. L. Papke, R. Matusik, S. R. Nandana, R. Ziv, E. Pichinuk, S. Salame, T. Bera, J. Vincent, et al. 2008. PATE gene clusters code for multiple, secreted TFP/Ly-6/uPAR proteins that are expressed in reproductive and neuron-rich tissues and possess neuromodulatory activity. J.Biol.Chem. 24:16928-16939.
- Li, J., F. Liu, X. Liu, J. Liu, P. Zhu, F. Wan, S. Jin, W. Wang, N. Li, J. Liu and H. Wang. 2011. Mapping of the human testicular proteome and its relationship with that of the epididymis and spermatozoa. *Mol.Cell.Proteomics*. 3:M110.004630.

- Li, P., H. C. Chan, B. He, S. C. So, Y. W. Chung, Q. Shang, Y. D. Zhang and Y. L. Zhang. 2001. An antimicrobial peptide gene found in the male reproductive system of rats. *Science*. 5509:1783-1785.
- Li, S. H., R. K. Lee, M. H. Lin, Y. M. Hwu, C. H. Lu, Y. J. Chen, H. C. Chen, W. H. Chang and W. C. Chang. 2006. SSLP-1, a secreted Ly-6 protein purified from mouse seminal vesicle fluid. *Reproduction.* 3:493-500.
- Lin, M. H., R. K. Lee, Y. M. Hwu, C. H. Lu, S. L. Chu, Y. J. Chen, W. C. Chang and S. H. Li. 2008. SPINKL, a Kazal-type serine protease inhibitor-like protein purified from mouse seminal vesicle fluid, is able to inhibit sperm capacitation. *Reproduction*. 5:559-571.
- Lishko, P. V., I. L. Botchkina and Y. Kirichok. 2011. Progesterone activates the principal Ca2+ channel of human sperm. *Nature*. 7338:387-391.
- Liu, H., H. Han, J. Li and L. Wong. 2003. An in-silico method for prediction of polyadenylation signals in human sequences. *Genome Inform.* 84-93.
- Low, B. W., H. S. Preston, A. Sato, L. S. Rosen, J. E. Searl, A. D. Rudko and J. S. Richardson. 1976. Three dimensional structure of erabutoxin b neurotoxic protein: inhibitor of acetylcholine receptor. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* 9:2991-2994.
- Lu, C. H., R. K. Lee, Y. M. Hwu, S. L. Chu, Y. J. Chen, W. C. Chang, S. P. Lin and S. H. Li. 2011. SERPINE2, a serine protease inhibitor extensively expressed in adult male mouse reproductive tissues, may serve as a murine sperm decapacitation factor. *Biol.Reprod.* 3:514-525.
- Lu, Q. and B. D. Shur. 1997. Sperm from beta 1,4-galactosyltransferase-null mice are refractory to ZP3-induced acrosome reactions and penetrate the zona pellucida poorly. *Development*. 20:4121-4131.
- Lye, R. J. and B. T. Hinton. 2004. Technologies for the study of epididymal-specific genes. *Mol.Cell.Endocrinol.* 1-2:23-30.

- Maeda, T., M. Sakashita, Y. Ohba and Y. Nakanishi. 1998. Molecular cloning of the rat Tpx-1 responsible for the interaction between spermatogenic and Sertoli cells. *Biochem.Biophys.Res.Commun.* 1:140-146.
- Mann, T. and C. Lutwak-Mann. 1981. Male Reproductive Function and Semen: themes and trends in physiology, biochemistry and investigative andrology. Berlin: Springer-Verlag.
- Marcu, K. B., S. A. Bossone and A. J. Patel. 1992. Myc Function and Regulation. *Annu.Rev.Biochem.* 809-860.
- Martin, G. R. 1981. Isolation of a pluripotent cell line from early mouse embryos cultured in medium conditioned by teratocarcinoma stem cells. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* 12:7634-7638.
- McCarrick, J. W., 3rd, J. R. Parnes, R. H. Seong, D. Solter and B. B. Knowles. 1993. Positive-negative selection gene targeting with the diphtheria toxin Achain gene in mouse embryonic stem cells. *Transgenic Res.* 4:183-190.
- McDermott, J., Y. Zhao and B. Sauer. 2004. A simple polymerase chain reaction screen for homologous targeting in embryonic stem cells. *Anal.Biochem.* 2:401-403.
- Menez, A. 1998. Functional architectures of animal toxins: a clue to drug design? *Toxicon*. 11:1557-1572.
- Miller, K. A., M. Shao and P. A. Martin-DeLeon. 2007. Hyalp1 in murine sperm function: evidence for unique and overlapping functions with other reproductive hyaluronidases. *J.Androl.* 1:67-76.
- Minton, A. P. 2005. Influence of macromolecular crowding upon the stability and state of association of proteins: predictions and observations. *J.Pharm.Sci.* 8:1668-1675.
- Mizuki, N., D. E. Sarapata, J. A. Garcia-Sanz and M. Kasahara. 1992. The mouse male germ cell-specific gene Tpx-1: molecular structure, mode of expression in spermatogenesis, and sequence similarity

to two non-mammalian genes. *Mamm.Genome*. 5:274-280.

- Moffit, J. S., K. Boekelheide, J. M. Sedivy and J. Klysik. 2007. Mice lacking Raf kinase inhibitor protein-1 (RKIP-1) have altered sperm capacitation and reduced reproduction rates with a normal response to testicular injury. *J.Androl.* 6:883-890.
- Moniem, K. A., T. D. Glover and C. W. Lubicz-Nawrocki. 1978. Effects of duct ligation and orchidectomy on histochemical reactions in the hamster epididymis. *J.Reprod.Fertil.* 1:173-176.
- Moore, H. D. and J. M. Bedford. 1979. Short-term effects of androgen withdrawal on the structure of different epithelial cells in the rat epididymis. *Anat.Rec.* 2:293-311.
- Muro, Y. and M. Okabe. 2011. Mechanisms of fertilization--a view from the study of gene-manipulated mice. *J.Androl.* 3:218-225.
- Muyrers, J. P., Y. Zhang, G. Testa and A. F. Stewart. 1999. Rapid modification of bacterial artificial chromosomes by ETrecombination. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 6:1555-1557.
- Nesbit, C. E., J. M. Tersak and E. V. Prochownik. 1999. MYC oncogenes and human neoplastic disease. *Oncogene*. 19:3004-3016.
- Ni, Y., Y. Zhou, W. Y. Chen, M. Zheng, J. Yu, C. Li, Y. Zhang and Q. X. Shi. 2009. HongrES1, a cauda epididymis-specific protein, is involved in capacitation of guinea pig sperm. *Mol.Reprod.Dev.* 10:984-993.
- Nieminen, A. I., J. I. Partanen and J. Klefstrom. 2007. c-Myc blazing a trail of death: coupling of the mitochondrial and death receptor apoptosis pathways by c-Myc. *Cell.Cycle*. 20:2464-2472.
- Nistal, M. and R. Paniagua. 1984. Development of the male genital tract. In *Testicular and epididymal pathology*. Nistal, M. and R. Paniagua (eds). New York: Thieme-Stratton, pp. 1-13.
- Nixon, B., D. A. MacIntyre, L. A. Mitchell, G. M. Gibbs, M. O'Bryan and R. J. Aitken. 2006. The identification of

mouse sperm-surface-associated proteins and characterization of their ability to act as decapacitation factors. *Biol.Reprod.* 2:275-287.

- Nolan, M. A., L. Wu, H. J. Bang, S. A. Jelinsky, K. P. Roberts, T. T. Turner, G. S. Kopf and D. S. Johnston. 2006. Identification of rat cysteine-rich secretory protein 4 (Crisp4) as the ortholog to human CRISP1 and mouse Crisp4. *Biol.Reprod.* 5:984-991.
- O'Bryan, M. K., K. Sebire, A. Meinhardt, K. Edgar, H. H. Keah, M. T. Hearn and D. M. De Kretser. 2001. Tpx-1 is a component of the outer dense fibers and acrosome of rat spermatozoa. *Mol.Reprod.Dev.* 1:116-125.
- O'Donnell, L., S. J. Meachem, P. G. Stanton and R. I. McLachlan. 2006. Endocrine Regulation of Spermatogenesis. In *Knobil and Neill's Physiology of Reproduction*. Neill, J. D., T. M. Plant, D. W. Pfaff, J. R. G. Challis, D. M. de Kretser, J. S. Richards and P. M. Wassarman (eds). San Diego: Academic Press, pp. 1017-1069.
- O'Rand, M. G., E. E. Widgren, K. G. Hamil, E. J. Silva and R. T. Richardson. 2011. Epididymal Protein Targets: A Brief History of the Development of EPPIN as a Contraceptive Target. J.Androl. 32(6):698-704.
- R., Oren-Benarova, R. Orvieto. A. Gakamsky, M. Pinchasov and M. Eisenbach. 2008. The sperm chemoattractant secreted from human cumulus cells progesterone. İS Hum.Reprod. 10:2339-2345.
- Orgebin-Crist, M. C. and J. Davies. 1974. Functional and morphological effects of hypophysectomy and androgen replacement in the rabbit epididymis. *Cell Tissue Res.* 2:183-201.
- Orgebin-Crist, M. C. 1996. Androgens and epididymal function. In *Pharmacology, Biology, and Clinical Applications of Androgens*. Bhasin, D., H. L. Gabelnick, J. M. Spieler, R. S. Swerdloff and C. Wang (eds). New York: Wiley-Liss, pp. 27-38.

- Pakarainen, T., F. P. Zhang, S. Makela, M. Poutanen and I. Huhtaniemi. 2005. Testosterone replacement therapy induces spermatogenesis and partially restores fertility in luteinizing hormone receptor knockout mice. *Endocrinology*. 2:596-606.
- Palladino, M. A. and B. T. Hinton. 1994. Expression of multiple gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase messenger ribonucleic acid transcripts in the adult rat epididymis is differentially regulated by androgens and testicular factors in a region-specific manner. *Endocrinology*. 3:1146-1156.
- Palmer, S. J. and P. S. Burgoyne. 1991. XY follicle cells in the ovaries of XO/XY and XO/XY/XYY mosaic mice. *Development.* 4:1017-1019.
- Pastor-Soler, N., V. Beaulieu, T. N. Litvin, N. Da Silva, Y. Chen, D. Brown, J. Buck, L. R. Levin and S. Breton. 2003.
  Bicarbonate-regulated adenylyl cyclase (sAC) is a sensor that regulates pHdependent V-ATPase recycling. J.Biol.Chem. 49:49523-49529.
- Patek, C. E., J. B. Kerr, R. G. Gosden, K. W. Jones, K. Hardy, A. L. Muggleton-Harris, A. H. Handyside, D. G. Whittingham and M. L. Hooper. 1991. Sex chimaerism, fertility and sex determination in the mouse. Development. 1:311-325.
- Pellati, D., I. Mylonakis, G. Bertoloni, C. Fiore, A. Andrisani, G. Ambrosini and D. Armanini. 2008. Genital tract infections and infertility. *Eur.J.Obstet.Gynecol.Reprod.Biol.* 1:3-11.
- Penttinen, J., D. A. Pujianto, P. Sipila, I. Huhtaniemi and M. Poutanen. 2003. Discovery in silico and characterization in vitro of novel genes exclusively expressed in the mouse epididymis. *Mol.Endocrinol.* 11:2138-2151.
- Perry, A. C., R. Jones and L. Hall. 1993. Isolation and characterization of a rat cDNA clone encoding a secreted superoxide dismutase reveals the epididymis to be a major site of its expression. *Biochem.J.* Pt 1:21-25.

- Piprek, R. P. 2009. Genetic mechanisms underlying male sex determination in mammals. J.Appl.Genet. 4:347-360.
- Ploug, M. 2003. Structure-function relationships in the interaction between the urokinase-type plasminogen activator and its receptor. *Curr.Pharm.Des.* 19:1499-1528.
- Ploug, M. and V. Ellis. 1994. Structurefunction relationships in the receptor for urokinase-type plasminogen activator. Comparison to other members of the Ly-6 family and snake venom alphaneurotoxins. *FEBS Lett.* 2:163-168.
- Pontius, J. U., L. Wagner and G. D. Schuler. 2003. UniGene: A Unified View of the Transcriptome. In *The NCBI Handbook* [Internet]. McEntyre, J. and J. Ostell (eds). Bethesda: National Center for Biotechnology Information, Chapter 21.
- Primakoff, P. and D. G. Myles. 2007. Cellcell membrane fusion during mammalian fertilization. *FEBS Lett.* 11:2174-2180.
- Primakoff, P. and D. G. Myles. 2002. Gamete Fusion in Mammals. In *Fertilization*. Hardy, D. M. (ed). California: Academic Press, pp. 303-318.
- Pujianto, D. A. 2007. Identification and Characterization of Novel Genes Regulated by Androgens and Lumicrine Factors and Predominantly Expressed in the Mouse Epididymis. *Annales Universitatis Turkuensis*. 779:122.
- Pujol, A. and F. Bayard. 1979. Androgen receptors in the rat epididymis and their hormonal control. *J.Reprod.Fertil.* 1:217-222.
- Putz, G., A. Rosner, I. Nuesslein, N. Schmitz and F. Buchholz. 2006. AML1 deletion in adult mice causes splenomegaly and lymphomas. *Oncogene*. 6:929-939.
- Rato, L., S. Socorro, J. E. Cavaco and P. F. Oliveira. 2010. Tubular fluid secretion in the seminiferous epithelium: ion transporters and aquaporins in Sertoli cells. *J.Membr.Biol.* 2:215-224.
- Raymond, A. S., B. Elder, M. Ensslin and B. D. Shur. 2010. Loss of SED1/MFG-E8 results in altered luminal physiology in

the epididymis. *Mol.Reprod.Dev.* 6:550-563.

- Raymond, A. S. and B. D. Shur. 2009. A novel role for SED1 (MFG-E8) in maintaining the integrity of the epididymal epithelium. *J.Cell.Sci.* Pt 6:849-858.
- Reddy, T., G. M. Gibbs, D. J. Merriner, J. B. Kerr and M. K. O'Bryan. 2008. Cysteine-rich secretory proteins are not exclusively expressed in the male reproductive tract. *Dev.Dyn.* 11:3313-3323.
- Resar, L. M., C. Dolde, J. F. Barrett and C. V. Dang. 1993. B-myc inhibits neoplastic transformation and transcriptional activation by c-myc. *Mol.Cell.Biol.* 2:1130-1136.
- Rey, R., C. Lukas-Croisier, C. Lasala and P. Bedecarras. 2003. AMH/MIS: what we know already about the gene, the protein and its regulation. *Mol.Cell.Endocrinol.* 1-2:21-31.
- Rialdi, G. and E. Battistel. 2007. Thermodynamics of proteins in unusual environments. *Biophys. Chem.* 1-3:65-79.
- Robaire, B., H. Scheer and C. Hachey. 1981. Regulation of epididymal steroid metabolizing enzymes. In *Bioregulators* of *Reproduction*. Jagiello, G. and H. J. Vogel (eds). New York: Academic Press, pp. 487-498.
- Robaire, B., L. L. Ewing, B. R. Zirkin and D. C. Irby. 1977. Steroid delta4-5alphareductase and 3alpha-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase in the rat epididymis. *Endocrinology*. 5:1379-1390.
- Robaire, B., B. T. Hinton and M. Orgebin-Crist. 2006. The Epididymis. In *Knobil and Neill's Physiology of Reproduction*.
  Neill, J. D., T. M. Plant, D. W. Pfaff, J. R. G. Challis, D. M. de Kretser, J. S. Richards and P. M. Wassarman (eds). San Diego: Academic Press, pp. 1071-1148.
- Roberts, K. P., J. A. Wamstad, K. M. Ensrud and D. W. Hamilton. 2003. Inhibition of capacitation-associated tyrosine phosphorylation signaling in rat sperm by epididymal protein Crisp-1. *Biol.Reprod.* 2:572-581.

- Rochwerger, L., D. J. Cohen and P. S. Cuasnicu. 1992a. Mammalian sperm-egg fusion: the rat egg has complementary sites for a sperm protein that mediates gamete fusion. *Dev.Biol.* 1:83-90.
- Rochwerger, L. and P. S. Cuasnicu. 1992b. Redistribution of a rat sperm epididymal glycoprotein after in vitro and in vivo capacitation. *Mol.Reprod.Dev.* 1:34-41.
- Rodriguez, C. M., J. L. Kirby and B. T. Hinton. 2002. The development of the epididymis. In *The Epididymis: From Molecules to Clinical Practice*. Robaire, B. and B. T. Hinton (eds). New York: Kluwer Academic / Plenum Publishers, pp. 251-267.
- Roth, M. Y. and J. K. Amory. 2011. Pharmacologic development of male hormonal contraceptive agents. *Clin.Pharmacol.Ther.* 1:133-136.
- Ruiz-Bravo, N. 1988. Tissue and cell specificity of immobilin biosynthesis. *Biol.Reprod.* 4:901-911.
- Russell, D. W. and J. D. Wilson. 1994. Steroid 5 alpha-reductase: two genes/two enzymes. *Annu.Rev.Biochem*. 25-61.
- Saenz Robles, M. T. and J. M. Pipas. 2009. T antigen transgenic mouse models. *Semin.Cancer Biol.* 4:229-235.
- Sakurai, K., M. Shimoji, C. G. Tahimic, K. Aiba, E. Kawase, K. Hasegawa, Y. Amagai, H. Suemori and N. Nakatsuji. 2010. Efficient integration of transgenes into a defined locus in human embryonic stem cells. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 7:e96.
- Sato, H., Y. Taketomi, Y. Isogai, Y. Miki, K. Yamamoto, S. Masuda, T. Hosono, S. Arata, Y. Ishikawa, T. Ishii, T. Kobayashi, H. Nakanishi, et al. 2010. Group III secreted phospholipase A2 regulates epididymal sperm maturation and fertility in mice. J.Clin.Invest. 5:1400-1414.
- Saunders, T. L. 2011. Inducible transgenic mouse models. *Methods Mol.Biol.* 103-115.
- Scheer, H. and B. Robaire. 1980. Steroid delta 4-5 alpha-reductase and 3 alphahydroxysteroid dehydrogenase in the rat epididymis during development. *Endocrinology*. 4:948-953.

- Schwaab, V., J. J. Lareyre, P. Vernet, E. Pons, J. Faure, J. P. Dufaure and J. R. Drevet. 1998. Characterization, regulation of the expression and putative roles of two glutathione peroxidase proteins found in the mouse epididymis. *J.Reprod.Fertil.Suppl.* 157-162.
- Seiler, P., T. G. Cooper and E. Nieschlag. 2000. Sperm number and condition affect the number of basal cells and their expression of macrophage antigen in the murine epididymis. *Int.J.Androl.* 2:65-76.
- Serre, V. and B. Robaire. 1999. Distribution of immune cells in the epididymis of the aging Brown Norway rat is segmentspecific and related to the luminal content. *Biol.Reprod.* 3:705-714.
- Serre, V. and B. Robaire. 1998. Segmentspecific morphological changes in aging Brown Norway rat epididymis. *Biol.Reprod.* 2:497-513.
- Sharma, R. S., A. Rajanna, B. K. Singh, A. K. Mathur and A. K. Mukherjee. 2007. Current status of development of RISUG: an intravasal injectable male contraceptive. In *Proceedings of the Conference on Recent Advances and Challenges in Reproductive Health Research*. Sharma, R. S., A. Rajanna and M. Rajalakshmi (eds). New Delhi: Indian Society for the Study of Reproduction and Fertility, pp. 127-140.
- Shultz, L. D., F. Ishikawa and D. L. Greiner. 2007. Humanized mice in translational biomedical research. *Nat.Rev.Immunol.* 2:118-130.
- Shum, W. W., N. Da Silva, D. Brown and S. Breton. 2009. Regulation of luminal acidification in the male reproductive tract via cell-cell crosstalk. *J.Exp.Biol.* Pt 11:1753-1761.
- Sinclair, A. H., P. Berta, M. S. Palmer, J. R. Hawkins, B. L. Griffiths, M. J. Smith, J. W. Foster, A. M. Frischauf, R. Lovell-Badge and P. N. Goodfellow. 1990. A gene from the human sex-determining region encodes a protein with homology to a conserved DNA-binding motif. *Nature*. 6281:240-244.

- Sipila, P., J. Jalkanen, I. T. Huhtaniemi and M. Poutanen. 2009. Novel epididymal proteins as targets for the development of post-testicular male contraception. *Reproduction.* 3:379-389.
- Sipila, P., D. A. Pujianto, R. Shariatmadari, J. Nikkila, M. Lehtoranta, I. T. Huhtaniemi and M. Poutanen. 2006. Differential endocrine regulation of genes enriched in initial segment and distal caput of the mouse epididymis as revealed by genome-wide expression profiling. *Biol.Reprod.* 2:240-251.
- Sipila, P., R. Shariatmadari, I. T. Huhtaniemi and M. Poutanen. 2004. Immortalization of epididymal epithelium in transgenic mice expressing simian virus 40 T antigen: characterization of cell lines and regulation of the polyoma enhancer activator 3. *Endocrinology*. 1:437-446.
- Sonnenberg-Riethmacher, E., B. Walter, D. Riethmacher, S. Godecke and C. Birchmeier. 1996. The c-ros tyrosine kinase receptor controls regionalization and differentiation of epithelial cells in the epididymis. *Genes Dev.* 10:1184-1193.
- Strunker, T., N. Goodwin, C. Brenker, N. D. Kashikar, I. Weyand, R. Seifert and U. B. Kaupp. 2011. The CatSper channel mediates progesterone-induced Ca2+ influx in human sperm. *Nature*. 7338:382-386.
- Sullivan, R., G. Frenette and J. Girouard. 2007. Epididymosomes are involved in the acquisition of new sperm proteins during epididymal transit. *Asian J.Androl.* 4:483-491.
- Sun, E. L. and C. J. Flickinger. 1980. Morphological characteristics of cells with apical nuclei in the initial segment of the adult rat epididymis. *Anat.Rec.* 3:285-293.
- Sun, E. L. and C. J. Flickinger. 1979. Development of cell types and of regional differences in the postnatal rat epididymis. *Am.J.Anat.* 1:27-55.
- Sun, T. T., C. M. Chung and H. C. Chan. 2011. Acrosome reaction in the cumulus oophorus revisited: involvement of a

novel sperm-released factor NYD-SP8. *Protein Cell*. 2:92-98.

- Sutovsky, P. 2009. Sperm-egg adhesion and fusion in mammals. *Expert Rev.Mol.Med.* e11.
- Suzuki, E. and M. Nakayama. 2011. VCre/VloxP and SCre/SloxP: new sitespecific recombination systems for genome engineering. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 8:e49.
- Suzuki, M., K. Abe, K. Yoshinaga, M. Obinata, M. Furusawa and K. Abe. 1996. Specific arrest of spermatogenesis caused by apoptotic cell death in transgenic mice. *Genes Cells*. 12:1077-1086.
- Syntin, P., F. Dacheux, X. Druart, J. L. Gatti, N. Okamura and J. L. Dacheux. 1996. Characterization and identification of proteins secreted in the various regions of the adult boar epididymis. *Biol.Reprod.* 5:956-974.
- Tam, P. P. and J. Rossant. 2003. Mouse embryonic chimeras: tools for studying mammalian development. *Development*. 25:6155-6163.
- Trasler, J. M., L. Hermo and B. Robaire. 1988. Morphological changes in the testis and epididymis of rats treated with cyclophosphamide: a quantitative approach. *Biol.Reprod.* 2:463-479.
- Tremellen, K. 2008. Oxidative stress and male infertility--a clinical perspective. *Hum.Reprod.Update*. 3:243-258.
- Trojian, T. H., T. S. Lishnak and D. Heiman. 2009. Epididymitis and orchitis: an overview. Am.Fam.Physician. 7:583-587.
- Tsai, M. Y., S. D. Yeh, R. S. Wang, S. Yeh, C. Zhang, H. Y. Lin, C. R. Tzeng and C. Chang. 2006. Differential effects of spermatogenesis and fertility in mice lacking androgen receptor in individual testis cells. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* 50:18975-18980.
- Tsuji, M., H. Shima and G. R. Cunha. 1991. In vitro androgen-induced growth and morphogenesis of the Wolffian duct within urogenital ridge. *Endocrinology*. 4:1805-1811.

- Turner, T. T. 2002. Necessity's potion: inorganic ions and small organic molecules in the epididymal lumen. In *The Epididymis: From Molecules to Clinical Practice*. Robaire, B. and B. T. Hinton (eds). New York: Kluwer Academic / Plenum Publishers, pp. 131-150.
- Turner, T. T. and T. A. Riley. 1999. P53 Independent, Region-Specific Epithelial Apoptosis is Induced in the Rat Epididymis by Deprivation of Luminal Factors. *Mol.Reprod.Dev.* 2:188-197.
- Turner, T. T., D. W. Miller and E. A. Avery. 1995. Protein synthesis and secretion by the rat caput epididymidis in vivo: influence of the luminal microenvironment. *Biol.Reprod.* 5:1012-1019.
- Udby, L., A. Bjartell, J. Malm, A. Egesten, A. Lundwall, J. B. Cowland, N. Borregaard and L. Kjeldsen. 2005. Characterization and localization of protein secretory 3 cysteine-rich (CRISP-3) in the human male reproductive tract. J.Androl. 3:333-342.
- Uetani, N., K. Yamaura and K. Sato. 1994. Expression in situ of c-myc mRNA and c-myc protein during spermatogenesis in the adult mouse. *Cell Biol.Int.* 2:85-87.
- Urner, F. and D. Sakkas. 2003. Protein phosphorylation in mammalian spermatozoa. *Reproduction*. 1:17-26.
- Urnov, F. D., E. J. Rebar, M. C. Holmes, H. S. Zhang and P. D. Gregory. 2010. Genome editing with engineered zinc finger nucleases. *Nat.Rev.Genet.* 9:636-646.
- van Casteren, J. I., W. G. Schoonen and H. J. Kloosterboer. 2000. Development of time-resolved immunofluorometric assays for rat follicle-stimulating hormone and luteinizing hormone and application on sera of cycling rats. *Biol.Reprod.* 4:886-894.
- Vasquez, K. M., K. Marburger, Z. Intody and J. H. Wilson. 2001. Manipulating the mammalian genome by homologous recombination.

*Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* 15:8403-8410.

- Veri, J. P., L. Hermo and B. Robaire. 1993. Immunocytochemical localization of the Yf subunit of glutathione S-transferase P shows regional variation in the staining of epithelial cells of the testis, efferent ducts, and epididymis of the male rat. J.Androl. 1:23-44.
- Vierula, M. E., T. L. Rankin and M. C. Orgebin-Crist. 1995. Electron microscopic immunolocalization of the 18 and 29 kilodalton secretory proteins in the mouse epididymis: evidence for differential uptake by clear cells. *Microsc.Res.Tech.* 1:24-36.
- Vintersten, K., C. Monetti, M. Gertsenstein, P. Zhang, L. Laszlo, S. Biechele and A. Nagy. 2004. Mouse in red: red fluorescent protein expression in mouse ES cells, embryos, and adult animals. *Genesis.* 4:241-246.
- Wang, R. S., S. Yeh, C. R. Tzeng and C. Chang. 2009. Androgen receptor roles in spermatogenesis and fertility: lessons from testicular cell-specific androgen receptor knockout mice. *Endocr.Rev.* 2:119-132.
- Wheeler, D. L., D. M. Church, S. Federhen, A. E. Lash, T. L. Madden, J. U. Pontius, G. D. Schuler, L. M. Schriml, E. Sequeira, T. A. Tatusova and L. Wagner. 2003. Database resources of the National Center for Biotechnology. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 1:28-33.
- White, W. E. 1932. The effect of hypophysectomy on the survival of spermatozoa in the male rat. *Anat.Rec.* 2:253-273.
- Wolgemuth, D. J. and S. S. Chung. 2007. Retinoid signaling during spermatogenesis as revealed by genetic and metabolic manipulations of retinoic acid receptor alpha. Soc.Reprod.Fertil.Suppl. 11-23.
- Wong, P. Y. 1988. Mechanism of adrenergic stimulation of anion secretion in cultured rat epididymal epithelium. *Am.J.Physiol.* 1 Pt 2:F121-33.
- Wong, P. Y. and C. H. Yeung. 1978. Absorptive and secretory functions of the perfused rat cauda epididymidis. *J.Physiol.* 13-26.

- Wright, R. M., E. John, K. Klotz, C. J. Flickinger and J. C. Herr. 1990. Cloning and sequencing of cDNAs coding for the human intra-acrosomal antigen SP-10. *Biol.Reprod.* 4:693-701.
- Xu, B., L. Yang, R. J. Lye and B. T. Hinton. 2010. p-MAPK1/3 and DUSP6 regulate epididymal cell proliferation and survival in a region-specific manner in mice. *Biol.Reprod.* 5:807-817.
- Yamaguchi, R., K. Yamagata, H. Hasuwa, E. Inano, M. Ikawa and M. Okabe. 2008. Cd52, known as a major maturationassociated sperm membrane antigen secreted from the epididymis, is not required for fertilization in the mouse. *Genes Cells*. 8:851-861.
- Yanagimachi, R. 1994. Mammalian fertilization. In *The Physiology of Reproduction*. Knobil, E. and J. D. Neill (eds). New York: Raven Press, pp. 189-317.
- Yenugu, S., K. G. Hamil, Y. Radhakrishnan, F. S. French and S. H. Hall. 2004. The androgen-regulated epididymal spermbinding protein, human beta-defensin 118 (DEFB118) (formerly ESC42), is an antimicrobial beta-defensin. *Endocrinology*. 7:3165-3173.
- Yeung, C. H., E. Sonnenberg-Riethmacher and T. G. Cooper. 1999. Infertile spermatozoa of c-ros tyrosine kinase receptor knockout mice show flagellar angulation and maturational defects in cell volume regulatory mechanisms. *Biol.Reprod.* 4:1062-1069.
- Yoshida, R., T. Nukiwa, Y. Watanabe, M. Fujiwara, F. Hirata and O. Hayaishi. 1980. Regulation of indoleamine 2,3dioxygenase activity in the small intestine and the epididymis of mice. *Arch.Biochem.Biophys.* 1:343-351.

- Yudin, A. I., T. L. Tollner, C. A. Treece, R. Kays, G. N. Cherr, J. W. Overstreet and C. L. Bevins. 2008. Beta-defensin 22 is a major component of the mouse sperm glycocalyx. *Reproduction*. 6:753-765.
- Zhang, F. P., M. Poutanen, J. Wilbertz and I. Huhtaniemi. 2001. Normal prenatal but arrested postnatal sexual development of luteinizing hormone receptor knockout (LuRKO) mice. *Mol.Endocrinol.* 1:172-183.
- Zhang, Y., J. P. Muyrers, G. Testa and A. F. Stewart. 2000. DNA cloning by homologous recombination in Escherichia coli. *Nat.Biotechnol.* 12:1314-1317.
- Zhang, Y., F. Buchholz, J. P. Muyrers and A. F. Stewart. 1998. A new logic for DNA engineering using recombination in Escherichia coli. *Nat.Genet.* 2:123-128.
- Zhao, Y., H. Diao, Z. Ni, S. Hu, H. Yu and Y. Zhang. 2011. The epididymis-specific antimicrobial peptide beta-defensin 15 is required for sperm motility and male fertility in the rat (Rattus norvegicus). *Cell Mol.Life Sci.* 4:697-708.
- Zhou, C. X., Y. L. Zhang, L. Xiao, M. Zheng, K. M. Leung, M. Y. Chan, P. S. Lo, L. L. Tsang, H. Y. Wong, L. S. Ho, Y. W. Chung and H. C. Chan. 2004. An epididymis-specific beta-defensin is important for the initiation of sperm maturation. *Nat.Cell Biol.* 5:458-464.
- Zhu, L. J., M. P. Hardy, I. V. Inigo, I. Huhtaniemi, C. W. Bardin and A. J. Moo-Young. 2000. Effects of androgen on androgen receptor expression in rat testicular and epididymal cells: a quantitative immunohistochemical study. *Biol.Reprod.* 2:368-376.